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PRE-TRIAL CHAMBER II (the "Chamber") of trre Intemational Crirninal court (the

"Court"), by majoriry, hereby renders this decision on the confirmation of charges

pursuant to articte 61(7) of the Rome statute (the ,,statute,,).

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. on 26 November 2009, the Prosecutor f ed a request for authorization to

cornmence an investigation into the situation in the Republic of Kenya.r on 3l March

2010, ttre chamber authorized, by maiority, the commencement of an investigation

into the situation in the Republic of Kenya in relation to crimes against humanily

within the jurisdiction of the court committed between 1 June 2005 and 26

November 2009 (the "31 March 2010 Decision").2

2. on 15 December 2010, the Prosecutor submitted an application requesting the

Chamber to issue summonses to appear for William Samoei Ruto (,,Mr. Ruto,,),

Henry Kiprono Kosgey ("Mr. Kosgey") and Joshua Arap Sang (,,Mr. Sang,,)

(collectively "the Suspects").r

3. On 8 March 201.1., the Chamber, by majority, decided that there were reasonable

grounds to believe that the suspects are criminally responsible for the crimes against

humanity of murder, forcibte t.arsfer of population and persecufion and summoned

the Suspects to appear before it (the "Decision on Summons to Appear,,)..

4. Pursuant to this decisiory the suspects voluntarily appeared before the court at

the initial appearance hearing held on 7 April 2011. During the initial appearance, in

accordance with articles 60 and 6l of the Statute and rule 121, of the Rules of

Procedure and Evidence (the "Rules"), the Chamber, inter alia, satisfied itself that the

Suspects had been informed of the charges against them and of their rights under the

No. ICC{U09-01/ll 41139 23 January 2012

t ICC-0U09-3 and iLs annexes.
2 Pre-'I'rial Chamber Il, "Decision Pursuant to Article i5 of the Rome Statute on the Authorization of
an Investi8ation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya", tCC-01/09-19-Corr.
3 ICC-01/09-30-Red.

' Pre'Trial chamber ll, "Decision on the Prosecutor's Application for summons to Appear for william
Samoei Rrrto, Henry Kjprono Kosgey and Joshtra A rap Sang", ICC-OI/09-0ln l -1.
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statute and set the date of the commencement of the confirmation of charges hearing

for 1 September 2011.s

5. Since the initial appearance of the suspects, the chamber has been seized of a

variety of procedural and legal issues, of which only the most imPortant are outlined

in the following sections. In total, the chamber has received over 270 filings and has

issued 85 decisions, including the present decision.

The Gooernmmt of the Reptblic of Ketyt's challenge to the oilmissibility of
the case

6. On 31 March 2011, the Govemment of the Republic of Kenya filed the

"Application on behalf of the Govemment of The Republic of Kenya pursuant to

Article 19 of the ICC Statute", wherein it requested the Chamber to find that the case

against the suspects is inadmissible.5 on 21 April 2011, the Govemment of the

Republic of Kenya filed 22 annexes of additional material, amounting to over 900

pages, with which it sought to buttress its initial challenge.T

7. On 30 May 2011, the Chamber issued the "Decision on the Application by the

Govemment of Kenya Challenging the Admissibility of the Case Pursuant to Article

19(2)(b) of the Statute", wherein it determined that the case against the SusPects is

admissible.E On 30 August 2011, this decision was upheld by the Appeals Chamber'e

B. Disclosrre of eoiilmce

8. With the aim of proactivety managing the disclosure of evidence and its

communication to the Chamber prior to the confirmation of charges hearing the

Chamber, on 5 April 2011, issued the "Decision Setting the Regime for Evidence

' ICC-01/09-01/11-T-1-ENc ET PP. 9, 1l'15, 17.

6 ICC-01/@-01/1 1-19, para. 80.
, tcc-01/09-01/11-64.
B ICC-01/09-01/11-101, p. 28.
e Appeals Chamber, "Judgment on the aPPeal of the Republic of Kenya against the decision of Pre-

Trial Chamber II of 30 May 2011 entitled 'Decision on the APPlication by the Govemment of Kenya

challenging the Admissibility of the Case Pursuant to Article 19(2Xb) of the statute"" Icc-01/09-

01/1',r-307.

51139 23 January 2Ol2

A,
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Disclosure and other Related Matters".ro It established a principled approach to
disclosure, wherein the parties were encouraged to discrose items of evidence in
advance of the minimum requirements stipulated h rule I2r(3) to (6), and (9) of the

Rules. subsequently, on 20 April 2011, the chamber issued a decision establishing a

calendar for disclosure,rl It set a series of timelimits, which accommodated the

estimated volume of evidence to be disclosed by the partieq as well as the Defence

right to have adequate time and facilities to prepare, in accordance with article

67(1)(b) of the Stahrte.

9. As part of the disclosure process, the Chamber issued a number of decisions on

the Prosecutor's requests for redactions under rule g1(2) and (4) of the Rules. on 24

June 2011, the Chamber issued the "First Decision on the prosecutor's Requests for

Redactions and Related Requests",r: wherein it, inter alia, outlined the principled

approach of the Chamber with respect to the prosecutor's proposals for redactions as

well as proprio motu redactions pursuant to rule 81(4) of the Rules. The disclosure

process, as organized by the Chamber, developed in three tiers and the Chamber

received 50 filings from the partiesr3 and issued 17 decisions on issues of evidence

disclosure and redactions. The Defence teams sought no redactions to their evidence.

Following the first decision on redactions, the Chamber issued five further decisions

conceming redactions between 28 June 2011 and 2Z J:uly 2017 .14

r0 PreTrial chamber II, "Decision setting the Regime for Evidence Disclosure and other Related
Matters", ICC-01/09-01/i 144, p. 10.
rr Pre-Trial Chamber Il, "Decision on the 'Prosecution's application lequesting disclosure after a final
resolution of the covernment of Kenya's admissibility challenge' and Establishing a calendar for
Disclosure Between the Parties", ICC-|U@-O1,ll1-62, pp. l0-13.
1r Pre-Trial Chamber tl, "First Decision on the prosecuto/s Requests for Redactions and Related
Requests", ICC-01/09-01/l 1 -145-Conf-Red.
tr A total of 5900 pages were submitted for redaction along with 794 documents with over l50oo pages
of disclosed evidence overail.
t'Pre-Trial Chamber II, "Redacted second Decision on the prosecutols Requests for Redactions,,, ICC-
01/@41/11-152-Conf-Red; Pre.Trial Chamber II, ,,Redacted Third De<ision on the prosecuror,s
Requests for Redactioru", ICC-01/09{1/11-195-ConlRed; pre-Trial Chamber II, ,,Redacted Fourth
Decision on the Prosecuto!'s Requests for Redactions", lcc-01/09-01i 11-21&Conf-Red; pre-Trial
Chamber , "Redacted Fifth Decision on the Prosecutor's Request for Redactions,,, ICC-01/09-01/11_
229-ConFRed.

No. ICC{1/09-0Ull 61139 23 Jznuary 2012
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10. on 1 August 2011, the Prosecutor filed the Document containing the Charges and

its List of Evidence,r5 and on 15 August 2011 an amended version thereof (the

"Amended DCC";.re 6rt 16 August 2011, the Defence teams of the Suspects filed their

Lists of Evidence.rT Together the parties have placed before the Chamber several

thousand pages of evidence for the purpose of ma]<ing a determination under article

61(4 of the Statute.

C. Porticipatiott of oictims ia the ptoceeilings

11. on 30 March 2011, the Chamber issued the ,,First Decision on Victims,

Participation in the Case",ra with a view to regulating the submission to the Chamber

of applications to participate in the proceedings.

72. The Chamber received and assessed 394 victims, applications for participation

in the present proceedings.re On 5 August 2011, the Chamber issued its decision on

these app[cations,r wherein il, inter alia, admitted 327 victims as ParticiPants at the

confirmation of charges hearing and in the related proceedings, appointed the Legal

Representative of victims, and specified the scope of participatory rights of victim

participants to be exercised, through the Legal Representative of victims' during the

confirmation of charges hearing.

13. Beside the assessment of victims' aPPlications for participation in the

proceedings, the Chamber decided on a number of other victim-related issues,

including the representation of victims' interests at the initial aPPearance hearing,zl

1s ICC-01/09-01/11-242 and confidential annexes.
t6 ICC41/09-01/11-261 and confidential annexes.
17 lcc-01/09-0u11-266-Conf-AnxA arld its corrigendun; lcc-01/09-01/11-268-AnxA; tcc-01/09-01/11-

26&AnxB.
rs pre.Trial Chamber ll, lcc-luog 41 111-77.
p tCC-01/09-01/11-91; ICC-01/09{1/11-141; ICC-01/09{1/11-170'
20 Pre.Trial Chamber Il, "Decision on victims' ParticiPation at the confirmation of chalges HearinS

and in the Related Proceedings", ICC4710947111"249'
zr pre-Trial Chamber II, "second Decision on the Motion o( Le8at RePresentative of Victim ApPlicants

to Participate in [nitial Appearance Proceedings and Article 19 Admissibility Proceedings", Icc{1/09-

o1/1140;Pre'TrialChamberll,,,DecisionontheMotionbyLeEalRePresentativeofvictimAPPIicants
to Participate in lnitial Appearance Proceedings", ICC-o1/09-01n1-14'

No. ICC-0U09-0UIl 23 January 201271139
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the access to conlidential information by the Legal Representative of victim5,z ihs
access by the Prosecutor to unredacted victims' apprications and the scope of the
Chamber's assessment of the apprications,a the reconsideration of appointrnent of
the Legal Representative of victims2r and the possibility for the Legar Representative

of victims to make written submissions on specific issues of law and/or fact.zs

D. Preparation for the cotfirmation of charyes heanrlg

14' In preparation for the confirmation of charges hearing, the Chamber issued a
number of case management decisions. Though the prosecutor elected not to caI rive
witnesses, the Defence teams initiary proposed to ca a maximum of 43 witrresses.26

The Chamber, in light of the rimited scope and purpose of the confirmation of
charges hearing, instructed the Defence teams to call a maximum of 2 witnesses per

suspect.2T on 25 August 2011, the Chamber established the schedule for the

conJirmation of charges hearing taking into account the observations of the parties,

with a view to regulating the presentation of evidence, submissions, and witnesses.ts

15. Pursuant to the decision on the schedule, on 30 August 2011, the Defence teams of
Mr. Ruto and Mr. sang f ed the joint "Defence Chalrenge to Jurisdiction,, (,,Mr.

Ruto's and Mr. Sang's Joint lurisdictional Challenge,,).re On the same date, the

, ICC-01/0941/11-337. For the participant,s submission se€ tCC41/09_0Ul1_335.

'1r 
ICc-01/09-0u11'169. For the parties' submissions see tcC-01/09-01/11-102 and its annex and tcc-

0l/@-01/11-107-Conf.
x ICC-O1/09-01/11-330. For the motion see ICC-01/09{1/11_314.

'?5 
tcc-01/09-01/11-274 and lcc-o7lo9-01/11-338. For the parties, submissions see ICC-01/@-01/11_263

and ICC{1/09-01/1t-333.
76. tcc-}'t/w-01/11-202-ConlExp; ICC-ot/09-ol/i 1_203-conf_ExpA_nx; ICc-oUrr,{/1/11-204_conf_Exp-
Anx,
27 Pre'Trial chamber II, "order to the Defence to Reduce the Number of witnesses to Be calred to
Testify at the confirmation of charges Hearing and to submit an Amended List of virn voce
Witnesses", ICC-0U09-0In 1-221.
a Pre-Trial Chamber II, "Decision on the Schedure for the confirmation of charges Hearing,,, ICC-
01/@-01n1-294.
. ICC-0t /09-0'l/l'l-305 and its annexes.

No. ICC-01/09.0UI1 8n39 23 January 2012
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Chamber received the challenge (iled by Mr. Kosgey ("Mr. Kosgey',s Jurisdictional

Challenge").:o

16. In compliance with the Chamber's orai directions,3r on 16 september 2011, the

Prosecutor32 and the Legal Representative of victims! submitted their written

observations on the Defence jurisdictional challenges'

17. In addition to the maior topics as presented above, the Chamber considered other

issues and rendered decisions in preparation for the confirmation hearing, in

particular the parties' requests for the postponement of the confirmation hearing;r

the request by Mr. Ruto to waive his right to be present at the conJirmation hearing;$

and witness familiarization issues.a

]o"APPLICATIoNoNBEHALFoFHENRYKIPRoNoKoSGEYPURSUANTToARTICLE19oF
THE rCC STATUTE", ICC{1/09-01/11-306.
n ICC-01/09-01/11-T-S-ENG ET. pp. 1s-16.

r? tcc-01/09-01/11-334.
!! ICC-01/09-01/11-332.
,r ICC-01/09-01/11-260; tCC{1/09-01/71-286; ICC-011cf.01/11-301' For the Parties and ParticiPants'

submissions see ICC41/09-01/11-255 and its annexes, lcc-ouo9-o1n 1-256; ICC-o1/09-01/11-258; ICC-

07lcD.o"|171.280; ICC.01/09{u11.283; ICC{1/09{1/11.284; |CC-01109-0U1|.287 and its annexes; ICC-

01/0941/11-288 and its annex; ICC-01/09-01/1 1-295.

]r ICC-01/09-0u11-302. For the respective Party's submission see ICC-O1/09-0u11-299 and its annex.

I See ICC41/09-01 171-259 and its annex on the Unified Protocol on the Practices used to prepare and

familiarize witnesses for giving testimony, accePted by the Chamber, and the corresponding three

reports of the Victims and Witnesses Unit; ICC-01/09-01/11 -304'

No. ICC-0U09-01/11 91139 23 January 2012

E. The confirmotiort of chorges heaing

18. The confirmation of charges hearing corunenced on 1 SePtember 2011 and

concluded on 8 september 2011. The parties first Presented their submissions

regarding Procedural matters and then presented their respective cases' with two

Defence tearns ca-lling two uioa uoce wibresses each. on the first day of the hearing,

during the oPening statement of their resePctive Defence teams, Mr' Ruto and Mr'

sang exercised their right under article 57(1)(h) of the statute to make an unswom

oral statement. Further, consistent with the Chamber's ruling in its first decision on

victims, the Chamber entertained and granted oral requests from the Legal

Representative of victims to question wikresses.
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19' Furthermore, at the close of the confirmation of charges hearing the Chamber set
time limits for the parties'final written submissions, In particurar, the Chamber
granted the Prosecutor and the Legar Representative of victims until 30 september
201137 and the Defence teams of the suspects unt 24 october 2011$ to submit their
final written observations.

20' on 30 september 2011, the prosecutorne and the Legal Representative of victims{
filed their final written observations (the "prosecuto r'slLegar Representative,s Final
Written Observations"). On 24 October 2011, the Defence teams of Mr. Ruto,.r Mr.
Kosge/, and Mr. Sanga3 filed their final written observations (,,Mr. Ruto/lzlr.

KosgeyMr. Sang Final Written Observations,,).

F. Issuance ofthe decision on the charges

21" on 26 october 2011, the chamber issued the "Decision on the Issuance of the

Decision Pursuant to article 61(7) of the Rome statute", wherein it decided to vary
exceptionally the time rimit prescribed by regulation 53 of the Regulations of the

Court ("the Regulations"), to the effect that the present decision wourd be issued at

the same time as the decision in the case of rhe prosecutor o. Francis Kirimi Muthaura,

Uhuru Muigai Kenyatta and Mohammed Hussein Ali. a

II. THE CHARGES

22. In the Amended DCC, the prosecutor charges the Suspects for the alleged crimes

against humanity committed in different locations of the Republic of Kenya as

follows:

, ICC-01/@-01/11-T-12-ENG, p. 76, line 25; p. 7/, iines 1-4.
r3 ICC-o1/09-01/11 -T-12-ENC, p. 76, tine 25; p. 72, lines 14., rcc-o1/09-01/11-345.
.o lcc-0u09-01/11-344.
.' ICC-01/09-01/11-355.
'l2 ICC-01/09-0t/11-353.
.] ICC-o1/09-01/1r.354.
a Pre-Trial Chamber Il, "Decision on the Issuance of the Decision pursuant to Articre 6r(7) of the
Rome Stature", lcc-01 lo9 -01 /11 _357 .

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll r0/139 23 January 2012
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Count 1 (RUTO and KOSGEY)

Murder constituting a crime against humanity
(Article 7(1Xa) and Article 25(3Xa) of the Rome Statute)

From on or about 30 December 2007 to the end of January 200& WILIAM SAMOEI RL-rTO

and HENRY KIPRONO KOSGEY committed or contributed to the commission of crimes

against humanity in the form of murder h locatiors including Turbo town, the greater

Eldoret area (Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas, and Yamumbi), Kapsabet town, and

Nandi Hills town in the uasin Gishu and Nandi Diskicts, Republic of Kenya, in violation of

Articles 7(1)(a) and 25(3)(a) of the Rome Statute.

Count 2 (SANG)

Murder constituting a crime against humanity
(Article 7(1)(a) and Article 25(3)(d) of the Rome Statute)

From on or about 30 December 2007 to the end of fanuary 2008, IOSHUA ARAP SANG' as

part of a group of persons, including MLLIAM RUTO and HENRY KOSGEY, acting with a

"o-Ino., 
purpose, comrnifted or contributed to the commission of crimes against humanity

h the form of murder in locations including Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area (Huruma,

Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas, and Yamumbi), KaPsabet town, and Nandi Hills town in the

Uasin Gishu and Nandi Diskicts, Republic of Kenya, in violation of Articles 7(1)(a) and 25(3)

(d) of the Rome Statute.

Count 3 (RUTO and KOSGEY)

Deportation or forcible transfer of population
constituting a crime against humanity

(Article 7(1)(d) and Article 25(3Xa) of the Rome Statute)

From on or about 30 December 2007 to the end of January 200& WILIAM SAMOEI RUTO

and HENRY KIPRONO KOSGEY as co-perpetrators, committed or contributed to the

com-rnission of crimes against humanity in the form of deportation or forcible transfer of

population in locations including Turbo town, tlte greater Eldoret area (Huruma, Kiambaa'

ki-r-u, Langas, and yamumbi), Kapsabet town and Nandi Hills town in the Uasin Gishu

and Nandi Diitricts, Republic of Kmya in violation of Articles 7(1Xd) and 25(3)(a) of the

Rome Statute.

Count 4 (SANG)

Deportation or forcible transfer of PoPulation
constituting a crime against humanity

(Article 7(1)(d) and Article 25(3Xd) of the Rome Statute)

From on or about 30 December 2007 to the end of January 2008, JOSHUA ARAP SANG as

part of a group of persons, including WILLIAM RUTO and HENRY KOSGEY, acting with a

common purpose, committed or contributed to the commission of crimes against humanity

No. ICC-01/09-01/l I 11/139 23 January 2012
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Count5 (RLrfO AND KOSGEY)
Persecution as a crime against humanity

(Article 7(1)(h) and Article 25(3)(a) of the Rome Statute)

From 30 Decemb er 2007 to the end of lanuary 2008, WILLIAM sAMoEI RUTO, a,'d HENRy
KIPRONO KOSGEY as co-p€rpetrators, committed or contributed to the comm.ission of
crimes against humanity in the form of persecution, when co-perpetrators and/or persons
belonging to their troup htentionaly and in a discriminatory manner tarteted civilians
based on their political affiliatioo comm.itting murder, tortur:e, and deportation or forcibre
transfer of populatior! in locations incruding Turbo towrL the greater Eldoret area (Huruma,
Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas, and Yamumbi), Kapsabet town and Nandi Hills town in the
Uasin Gishu and Nandi Diskicts, Republic of Kenya, in violation of Articles 7(1)(h) and
25(3)(a) of the Rome Statute.

Count 6 (SANG)
Persecution as a crime against humanity

(Article 7(1Xh) and Article 25(3Xd) of the Rome Statute)

From on or about 30 December 2007 to the end of January 200s, JosHUA ARAp sANG, as
part of a group of persons, incruding wILLIAM RUTo and HENRy KosGEy, acting with a
corunon purpose, committed or conkibuted to the commission oI crimes against humanity
in the form of persecution, when co-pcrpetrators and/or persons belonginl to tt 

"i, 
grori

intentionally and in a discriminatory manner targeted civirians bo"eJ o, $reir po'iiticat
affiliatioru committing murder, torhrre, and deportation or forcible transf€r or popul;6on, in
locations including Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area (Huruma, fiamb-aa, Kimumu,
Langas, and Yamumbi), Kapsabet town and Nandi Hilrs town in the Uasin Gishu and Nandi
Districts, Republic of Kenya, in violation of Articres 7(1)(h) and 25(3)(d) of thc Rome Statute.

No. ICC{l/09-0r/lr 12/t39 23 lantary 2Ol2

in the form of deportation or forcibre transfer of popuration in ,ocations including Turbotown, the greater Eldoret area (Huruma, Ki"mbaa, Kimumu, Langas, and yaiumbi),
Kapsabet town and Nandi Hilrs town in the Uasin Gishu and Nandi 

-Dirt 
i.e, R"pub[;;;

Kenya in violation of Articles 7(l)(d) and 25(3)(d) of the Rome Statute.

III. JI,JRISDICTIONANDADMISSIBILITY

23. Article i9(1) of the statute provides that "[T]he Court shall satisfy itself that it has

jurisdiction in any case brought before it. The Court may, on its own motion,

determine the admissibility of a case in accordance with article 17,,.
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24. This Chamber has stated on different occasions that, regardless of the mandatory

language of article 19(1) of the Statute, which requires an ass€ssment of whether the

court has the competence to adiudicate the case sub iudice, any iudicial body has the

power to determine its own iurisdiction, even in the absence of an explicit reference

to that effect..s This is an essential component in the exercise of any iudicial body of

itsfunctionsandisderivedfromthewell.recognizedprincipleoflacompitencedela

compitence .&

25. The chamber considers that the phrase "satisfy itself that it has iurisdiction" also

entails that the Court must 'attain the degree of certainty' that the iurisdictional

parameters under the Statute have been met'a7 Therefore' the Chambels

determination as to whether it has iurisdiction over the case against the suspects is a

prerequisiteforrulingontheAmendedDCC.andintum,theconJirmationornotof

one or more of the charges against the Suspects Pursuant to article 61(7) of the

Statute

26. In this regard, the Chamber recalls its previous finding in the Decision on

Summons to Appear, in which it stated that:

ln the 31 March 2010 Decision, the Chamber has examined the different facets of

iurisdiction in terms of place (rotione locr', ie. in the RePublic of Kenya)' lime (ratione
'tenpois, 

\.e. crimes allegedly committed after 1 fune 2005), and subiect-matter (r4lione

maieriae, i.e. crimes agairst humanity) lt has also defined the scope of the Prosecutor's

investigation with resPect to the situation under consideration in view of the above'

mentio-ned tfuee jurisdictional Prerequisites, namely the territorial, temPoral and material

parameters of the situation. It found that all the tequirements have been met which ted it to

authoris€ the Proseotot to commence an investiEation into the situation in the Republic of

Kenya in lelation to "crimes against humanity within the jurisdiction of the Court

committed between 1 June 2005 and 26 November 2009"' [The Chamberl is of the view

that, since the Prosecutor has adhered to the Court's telritolial, temPoral and material

parameters defining the situation as confirmed in its 31 March 2010 Decision' it finds no

.5 Pre-Trial Chamber It, Decision on Summoru to APPear, ICC-01/09{1/11-1' para' 8; PreTrial

Chamberll,,,DecisionPursuanttoAlticle5l(4(a)and(b)oftheRomestatuleontheChal8esofthe
Prosecutor Against Jean-Pierre Bemba Gombo" (the "Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision")'

ICC{l/05-01/08424, paru. 23.
s pre-Trial chamber II, Decision on summons to APPear, ICC-01/09-01/11-1, para.8; Pre''Trial

Chamber lI, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, para' 23'

{7 pre-Trial Chamber [I, "Decision on the Prosecuto/s Application for Summons to Appear for William

Samoei Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap Sang", ICC-01/09-01177-1' para 9; Pre-Trial

Chamber U, Bemba Confirmation of CharSes Decision, ICC-O1/05-01 /08-42 4, ?aft' 24
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need.to reiterate is finding and provide a further detailed ass€ssment of lhe question ofjurisdiction of the case arising flom that situation at this stage.4s

27'T\u' in the context of the present decision and based on a review of the
Amended DCC, the Chamber considers that the court's territorial and temporar

Parameters are still satisfied, and accordingly, there is no reason to repeat its
previous finding on these two aspects of jurisdiction.

28. With respect to the Court,s material jurisdiction (ratione materiae), the Chamber
recalls that the Defence teams of the suspects charenge this particurar facet of
jurisdiction in their f ings of 30 August 2011..e Accordingry, the Chamber must first
rule on said challenges before proceeding with an examination on the merits of the
case.

29. In Mr. Ruto's and Mr_ Sang,s Joint Jurisdictional Challenge, as well as in
Mr. Kosgey's Jurisdictional Challenge, the Defence teams argue, in principle, two
main points: the first relates to the regal definition of an organisation for the purpose

of article 7(2)(a) of the stahrte,$ wh e the second concems the facts presented by the
Prosecutor in support of said definition.5r

.8 Pre-'frial Chamber II, Decision on Summons to Appear, ICC_o1/09{l/11_1, paras 1O-11.

" ICC-01/09-01/11-305 and its annexes; ICC-O1/@{1/11-305.
50 ICC-0V09-01/11-305, parasZ, g-6t; ICC{1/09_O1n t-306, paras }5 and 15{9.
'' ICC-01/09-01/11-305, paras 62- 81; tCC{l/09-01/11-305 , jarasZl_97.

' ICC-o1/09-01/11-305, paras 2,25,36,41,43,5s,56,60, 61; ICC-01/09-01/11_306, paras 3, S,23_25,50
5r ICC-01/09-01/11-305, paras 41, 48; ICC-01/09-01/11-305, paras 42-43.! ICC-01/09-01/t I -305, paras 14-16, 34,35, 38; ICC-01/09_O1r j -30 6, paras23_25,27.
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30' with respect to the first point, the Defence teams of the suspects argue that the
Chamber adopted a new liberal interpretation of ,organisational policy,, which is
inconsistent with the intention of the drafters and customary intemational [aw.52

In developing their argumentg the Defence teams of the suspects quote severar

paragraphs from the 31 March 2010 Decision, wfuch set out the maiority,s
understanding of said term and the legar requirements satisfying it.$ The Defence

teams of the suspects also refer to the truuaux preparatoires,v the furisprudence of the

ad /roc tribunals and some scholarry work on the subject to argue in favour of a
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narrow construction of the term 'organisational poliry'.s Having disputed at length

the definition of ,organisational poliry" the Defence teams of the suspects conclude

that the Chamber erred in its legal finding.

31. As to the second point, the Defence teams of Mr. Ruto and Mr. sang aver that

regardless of following a liberal or shict interPretation of the term 'organisation', the

facts relied upon by the Prosecutor "do not amount to substantial grounds to believe

that the defendants acted within an organisation in the context of Article 7(21(a) of

the stahrte,,.s In substantiating their arguments, the Defence teams of Mr. Ruto and

Mr. Sang claim, inter alia, lhat the Prosecutor failed to provide sufficient "evidence

supporting [...] thisl assertion that there was an organizatiory sufficient to meet the

structural criteria necessary",' since there is a lack of detailed information "about the

operation, purPose, structure and membership of the 'The Network""$ According to

the Defence, the Prosecutor's wftnesses provided conrradictory statements

conceming ,,the existence of the organization [and its] hierarchy".s' After delving

into an examination of the facts presented by the Prosecutor,s the Defence requests

the chamber to "re-evaluate the evidence on the issue of whether there was an

,organizational policy' with the higher standard of'substantial grounds to believe' in

mind".61

32. Similarly, the Defence team of Mr. Kosgey argues that even under the correct

legal test which favours a strict interpretatiory the Proseortor/s case cannot meet the

requirements of an 'organisation' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the statute.6?

Quoting a number of paragraphs from the Amended DCC conceming the creation of

an organisation or the alleged "Network", the Defence of Mr. Kosgey challenges its

t, ICC-OUO9-01/11-305, paras 19-20, 30, 37, 39, 4447 and' 5G57; ICC'01i09{1/11-306, Paras 27-29 a^d

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 15/139 23 January 2012

3747.
56 ICC-01 /09-0U11 -305, Parc. 62.

, ICC-01/09-01/11-305, para. 64.
58 ICC-01/09-01/11-305, Para. 64.
5, ICC-01/09-0U11-305, Para. 56.
60 ICC-01/09-01/l 1-305, paras 62-80.
5' ICC-01/09-01/1 1-305, para. 81.
6, f CC-01 /09-0'l /1't -306, para. 70.
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various components namery, the politicaf Media, Financiar, Tribal and M,itary.s For
the Defence, these five components ,,do not establish an ,organization, or
'organizational policy'faliing within Article 7(2)(a) otthe ICC statute,,.n rhe Defence

of Mr' Kosgey also challenges a number of meetings presented by the proseortor in
his Amended DCC, which attempt to prove the existence of a common pran to attack

the Party of National unity ("pNU") supporters as wel as the establishment of a

Network of perpetrators.6

33. Tuming to the first part of the challenges concerning the legar definition of the

term 'organisation', the Chamber endorses the interpretation of the term
'organisational poliry'as developed extensively in the 31 March 2010 Decision. This

interpretation was recently followed by pre-Trial Chamber [I in its decision

authorizing the commencement o[ an investigation in the situation of C6te d'Ivoire.6

34. Thus, the majority does not find a persuasive reason to revisit its previous finding
on the question or to reverse its original approach, given that the majority remains in
favour of providing an effective interpretation to article z(z)(a) of the Statute.

Moreover, the Chamber observes that the Defences' submissions disputing the legal

findings of the 31 March 2010 Decision are actually an attempt to obtain a right to
appeal on this point of law and at this stage of the proceedings. In this respec!

although not determinative of the issue under examination, the Chamber finds it
rather notable that the suspects failed to avail themselves of the right to appeal the

Decision on summons to Appear, which reiterated the same regal findings oI the 31

March 2010 Decisiory pursuant to article g2(1)(a) of the Statute and rule 154(1) of the

53 ICC-01/09-01/11-3O6, paras 21, 73-92.
e ICC{1/09-01/11-306, patasTg, 97 a^d 1O3.

"5 ICC-0U09-01/1 1 -306, paras 93-94.
6a PreTrial Chamber tll, "Corrigendum to,Decision pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute on the
Authorisation of an Investigation into the situation in the Republic of c6te d,Ivoire,,,, tcc-02/11-14-
corr. ln paragraphs 45 and 46 of the decision, pre-Triar Chamber III stated; with regard to the
definition of the terms "state or organisational", the Chamber agrees with the criteria 

"roblirh"d 
by

Pre-Trial Chamber ll [...]. with regard to the term "organisational", the chamber agrees with the
approach of Pre-Trial Chamber [l in the sense that the determination of whether a group qualifies as
an "organisation" under the statute must be made on a case-by-case basis. pre- Trial Chamber II has
identified a number of factors that could, inter alia, be taken into account and which may assist this
Chamber in its determination in the prescnt case, nanrely [...].

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 161139 23 lantary 2012
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Rules. Accordingly, the Chamber rejects this part of the Defences' jurisdictional

challenges.

35. With regard to the second point presented by the Defence teams of the Suspects

and after examining the Prosecutor's as well as the Legal Representative of victims'

observations on the Defences' iurisdictional challenges,6T the Chamber is of the view

that the Defences' second point cannot be qualified as a jurisdictional challenge

under article 19(2)(a) of the Statute, despite the Defences' arguments expressed in

their Final written observations.s It is clear from the Defences' submissions that the

essence of this part of their filings is to challenge the merits of the Prosecutor's case

on the facts. In the Chamber's opiniory this part of the Defences' submissions is in

effect an evidentiary challenge under article 51(5) and (6) of the Statute which, in

principle, should be resolved pursuant to the standard provided for in article 61(7) of

the Statute in the relevant part of the decision, namely, under the section conceming

the contextual elements of the crimes against humanity. Moreover, although the

Chamber initially invited the Prosecutor and the Legal Representative of victims to

submit written observations Pursuant to rule 58(3) of the Rules, this does not

necessarily mean that, at the time, it had decided to treat the Defences' applications

as challenges under article 19 of the statute. Rather, the rationale behind zuch an

invitation was to receive all the necessary information in order for the Chamber to be

in a position to arrive at an informed decision by way of determining the actual

nature of the challenge.

35. Having said the above, the Chamber therefore considers that this second part of

the Defences, challenges to jurisdiction of the Court, based on the merits of the case,

should be dismissed in limine

37. In light of the above, the Chamber does not find an impediment conceming its

iurisdiction and remains comPetent to adiudicate the case sub judice.

No. ICC-0U09-0U11 171139 23 January 2012

67 ICC-01/09-01/11-334; ICC{1/@-01/U -332.

6s ICC-01/09-01 /1 1 -355, paras 'l8s-188; ICC-O1/09-01/11-353, paras 8-13.
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38. Regarding admissibility, the second sentence of articre 19(1) of the stahrte implies
that, in the absence of a challenge by any of the parties referred to in articre 19(2) ot
the statute, an admissibility determination of the case by the Chamber is not
mandatory but is, in principle, discretionary. In the context of the present case, the

Chamber notes that none of the parties has challenged the admissibility of the case.

Moreovel since its previous finding of admissibility was rendered on 30 May 201I6e

and upheld by the Appeals Chamber on 30 August 2011,70 no information has

become available to the chamber of any change in circumstarces with respect to

domestic investigations, which would prompt it to change its previous

determination. Accordingly, the Chamber determines that the case against the

Suspects is admissible.

IV. PROCEDURALMATTERS

A, Purpose and scope of the present decision

(i) Evid tiarv threshol d under arti e 61(7) of the Statute

39. In the present decision, the Chamber shall determine, pursuant to article 6l(7) of

the stahrte, whether there is sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to

be[eve that the suspects committed each of the crimes alleged in the Amended DCC.

40. The Chamber notes that the drafters of the statute established progressively

higher evidentiary thresholds in articles 15, 58(1), 61(7) and 66(3) of the Statute.Tr The

evidentiary threshold applicable at the present stage of the proceedings (i.e.

substantial grounds to believe) is higher than the one required for the issuance of a

warrant of arrest or summons to appear, but lower than that required for a final

determ.ination as to the guilt or innocence of an accused. The Chamber concurs with

the definition of the term "substantial" within the meaning of article 61(7) of the

6e Pre-Trial Chamber Il, "Decision on the Application by the covernment of Kenya challenging the
Admissibility of the Case Pursuant to Article l9(2Xb) of the Stahrte,,, ICC_01/09_01/11_101, p. 28.
D Appeals Chamber, "rudtment on the appeal of the Republic of Kenya against the decision of pre.
Trial chamber ll of 30 May 2011 entitled 'Decision on the Application by the Government of Kenya
Challenging the Admissibiliry of the case pursuant to Article 19(2)(b) of the statute,,,, ICC-0V09-
01/r1-307.
TrPre-Trial Chamber ll, Bemba Confirnration ofCharges Decision, ICC-01/05-01/0g-424, pa.a.2Z.

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 18i 139 23 January 2Ol2
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Statute as articulated in the previous iurisprudence of the Court. according to which,

in order to meet the requisite threshold, the Prosecutor "must offer concrete and

tangible proof demonstrating a clear line of reasoning underpinning [hisl specific

allegations".z The Chamber further adheres to the existing iurisprudence of the

court to the effect that the purpose of the determination under article 61(7) of the

Stafute is primarily to protect the suspect against wrongful prosecution and ensure

judicial economy by distinguishing between cases that should go to trial and those

that should not.7l

41. In making this determination, the Chamber will be guided by the principle of in

dubio pro reo as a component of the presumption of innocence, which as a general

principle in criminal procedure applies, mutalis mutandis, to a1l stages of the

proceedings, including the pre-trial stage.

42. Based on the determination as to the sufficiency of the evidence to establish

substantial grounds to believe that the Suspects committed each of the crimes

charged, the Chamber shall: (i) conlirm the charges Pursuant to article 61(7)(a) of the

statute; (ii) decline to confirm the charges Pursuant to article 61(7)@) of the statute;

or (iii) adjoum the hearing and request the Prosecutor, Pursuant to article 61(7)(c) of

the statute, to consider (a) providing further evidence or conducting further

investigation with respect to a particular charge; or (b) amending a charge because

the evidence submitted appears to establish a different crime within the iurisdiction

of the Court.

43. In performing its functions under article 6l(7) of the statute, the Chamber relies

on the evidence disclosed between the parties and further communicated to the

a pre.Trial chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of charges Decision, ICC-01/05471F424, para.29; Pre.

Trial chamber I,,,Decision on the confirmation of charges", lcc-o1lo4-071o7'7lz para.55; Pre-Trial

Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", tCC-01/0401/06801tEN, para' 39'

7r Pre-.Trial Chamber [, "Decision on the Confirmation of Charges", ICC-01/04-01/1H65-Red, Para.41;

Pre-Trial chamber t, ,,Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-02/05{3/09-121-Corr-Red, para.

31; pre.Trial chamber I, ,,Decision on the confirmation of Charges", ICCry0542/09-243-Red,

para.39; Pre.Trial chamber Il, Bemba confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC{1/05-0'll0*424, pata.

i.8; pre-Trial Chamber l, ,,Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-01/0447107-777, Para. 63; Pre'

Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-01/04-01/06-803-tEN, para. 37

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 191139 23 January 2012
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Chamber in compliance with rule 121(2)(c) of the Rules and the Chamber,s
decisions.T.

(ii) Scope of the assessment of facts

44. The purpose of the present decision is confined to determining whether sufficient

e'idence has been placed before the Chamber to meet the requisite tfueshold for the

confirmation of the charges presented. rn this respect, the Chamber observes that in
line with arncle 74(2) of the Statute a ,,charge,, is composed of the facts and

circumstances underlying the aleged crime as welr as of their legar characterisation.

In order to determine the scope of the required assessment of facts in the decision on

the confirmation of charges, the Chamber wishes to crarify its understanding with
respect to the nature of such decision as setting the factual subject matter of the trial.
ln fact, the charges confirmed fix and delimit, to a certain extent, the scope of the case

for the purposes of the subsequent trial.zs

45. This clearly emerges from article 74(z) of the Statute, which mandates that ,,the

decision at trial shall not exceed the facts and circumstances described in the charges

and any amendments to the charges" (emphasis added). In the same veiry according

to regulation 55 of the Regulations, the Trial chamber is vested with the authority to

modily the legal characterisafion of

circumstances described in the charges

(emphasis added).

"without exceeding

any amendments to

facts

and

the facts and

the charges"

46' The "facts described in the charges" have been defined by the Appeals chamber

as those "factual allegations which support each of the legal elements of the crime

charged".76 Furthermore, according to the Appeals Chamber, the facts described in

7'Pre-Trial Chamber II, "Decision setting the Regime for Evidence Disclosure ard other Related
Matters", lcc-01/@-0u1744; Pre-Triar Chamber u, "Decision on the 'prosecution,s application
requesting disclosure after a final resolution of the Government of Kenya's admissibility ctrattenge,
and Establishing a Calendar for Disclosure Between the parties,,, ICC-0t/@_01/11_52.
D see Pre-Trial Chamber l, "Decision on the confirmation of Charges,,, ICC-02/05{3/09-121-Corr-Red,
para.34.
76 Appeals Chamber, "Judtment on the appeals of Mr Lubanga Dyiro and the prosecutor against the
Decision of rrial chanrber I of 'r4 Jrly 2fi)9 entitled 'Decision giving notice to the parties and

No. ICC-0U09-0Url 201139 23 January 2012
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the charges shall be distinguished from "the evidence put forward by the Prosecutor

at the confirmation hearing to support a charge (article 61(5) of the statute), as well as

from background or other information that, although contained in the document

containing the charges or the conlirmation decision does not suPPort the legal

elements of the crime charged".z

47. In light of the above, the Chamber observes that. among the different facts placed

before the chamber for its consideration, a distinction must be made between the

facts underlying the charges - i.e. the "facts described in the charges", which, as such,

are the only ones that cannot b€ exceeded by the Trial Chamber once confirmed by

the Pre-Trial Chamber - and facts or evidence that are subsidiary to the racts

described in the charges, serving the purpose of demonstrating or supporting their

existence. Notably, subsidiary facts, although referred to in the document containing

the charges or in the decision on the confirmation of charges, are of relevance only to

the extent that facts described in the charges may be inlerred from them'u

48. [n order to conlirm the charges pursuant to article 61(7)(a) of the statute, the

Chamber shali be satisfied that the evidence establishes to the requisite threshold

each of the facts described in the charges. If the charges are then confirmed, article

7 (2) of the statute and regulation 55 of the Regulations, as noted above, make clear

that the factual subject matter of the case will be settled for the purposes of the trial

in light of the confirmed charge(s) and, therefore, in light of the facts and

circumstances described therein. Conversely, given the nature of the subsidiary facts

the Chamber will not engage in an examination of each and every subsidiary fact

which is mentioned in the document containing the charges and upon which the

Prosecutor relies to prove the existence of one or more facts described in the charges.

participants that the legal charactedsation of the facts may be subiect to chan8e in accoldance with

h.egulation 55(2) of the Regulations of the Court"', ICC-g1/04-01/06-2205, para' 90, footnote 163'

. Appeals Chamber, "Judgment on the appeals of Mr Lubanga Dyilo and the Prosecutor against the

Decision of Trial Chamber I of 14 July 2009 entitled 'Decision giving notice to the Parties and

participants that the tegal characterisation of the facts may be subject to change in accordance with

Regulation 55(2) of the Regulations of the Court"', ICC-01/04-011cf!-n05, Para 90, footnote 163

n See Pre-Trial Chamber l, "Decision on the Confirmation of Charges", ICC-02/05-03/09-121-Corr-Red,

para.36.
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More appropriately, the Chamber shal analyze subsidiary facts onry to the extent
that this is necessary. in right of the parties' submissions or the Chamber/s own
assessment, to ascertain whether the facts described in the charges are sufficiently

established to the threshold required at this stage of proceedings. In the

understanding of the Chamber, this does not prevent the prosecutor from relying on

these or other subsidiary facts in the future, in the same way that the parties are not

precluded from relying at trial upon new or additional evidence from that presented

at the pre-trial stage of the case.

(iii) Defence challense to the nduct of the investi tion

49. At this iuncture. the Chamber finds it appropriate to address an argument raised

by the Defence teams of the suspects that directly relates to the scope and purpose of
the present decision. During the confirmation hearing and in their respective final

submissions, the Defence teams of the suspects raised the issue of the prosecuto/s

alleged failure to comply with his investigative obligations in accordance with article

54(1)of the statute, thereby requesting the Chamber to decline to confirm the charges

against them.Te

50. In his final submissiory the Prosecutor contended that "the purpose of the

confirmation of charges hearing is not to assess whether the prosecution has fullilled

its duty under Article 54(1)".E0

51. The Chamber accepts the argument of the prosecutor that his arteged

investigative failure does not fail within the scope of the chamber's determination

pursuant to article 61(7) of. the statute. In fac! the Chamber recalls that the statute

clearly delimits the roles and the functions of the different organs of the Court. In

particular, the Chamber's role at the current stage of the proceedings is to determine

whether sufficient evidence has been adduced to establish substantial grounds to

?e ICC-01/09-01/11-353, para.73; ICC-O1tC.9.Ott\t-354, para.38; tCC-01/09-01/11-3S5, para.29.
80 lcc-01/09-01/11-345, para. 67. For submissions during the confirmation hearing see ICC-o1/09-01,i 11-
T-12-ENG ET, p.13, lines lg-25 and p.'14, lines t-3.
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believe that the suspects committed the crimes charged.Er such evidence adduced is,

in fact, the outcome of the Prosecutor's investigatioru. If he has failed to investigate

properly, this will certainly have a bearing on the quality and sufficienry of the

evidence presented and the matter will be finally decided by way of an examination

of the said evidence Pursuant to article 61,(n of the Statute. Therefore, under no

circumstances will a failure on the part of the Prosecutor to properly investigate

automatically iustify a decision of the Chamber to decline to confirm the charges,

without having examined the evidence Presented. In other wordt the scope of

determination under article 6l(7) of. the statute relates to the assessment of the

evid.ence available and not the manner in which the Prosecutor conducted his

investigations.

52. This is also in line with the view expressed by Pre-Trial Chamber I, according to

which:

[A]t this stage of the proceedings. the Defence's objections to the manner in which the

investigations were conducted can only be viewed in the context of the purpose of the

confirmation hearing, and should thus be regarded as a means of seeking a decision

declining to confirm the charges. It follows, therefore, that the Defence's obiection raised

in this instance cannot in itself cause the chamber to decline to confirm the charges on the

basis of an alleged investigative failure on the Part of the Proseotion Rather, this

objection may have an imPact on the Chamber's assessment of whether the Proseotor's

evidence as a whole has met the "substantial Erounds to believe" threshold.tl

53. Accordingly, the Chamber will not address any of the comPlaints in this regard

and will exclusively conduct an assessment of the evidence Proffered by the parties

in order to determine whether the evidentiary threshold required by article 61,(7) for

confirmation of the charges brought against the SusPects has been met or not'

B. Admissibitity, releaaace anil probatioe oalue of eoiilmce

54. ln this part, the Chamber will set out a number of general evidentiary principles

underpinning the present decision in light of articles 21, 64t, 67 and 69 of the Statute,

sr See pre-Trial Chamber ll, "Decision on the'Request by the Victims' Repres€ntative for authorisation

to make a further written submission on the views and concems of the victims"', ICC-0U09-01/11-371,

para. 16.
ozPre-Trial Chamber l, "Decision on the ConfirDlation of Charges", ICC-02/05-02/09-243-Red, para. 48.
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and rules 63, 64, 68, 70, 7r, 76 to 28, r2r and 722 of the Rules. The Chamber recalrs its

previous interpretation of the evidentiary principles,e as wefl as intemationally

recognised human rights standards as provided for in article 21(2) and (3) of the

Statute.

55. In his Final Written Observations, the prosecutor asserts that:

[F]or purposes of confirmation, the pre-Triar chamber shourd accept as reliable the
Prosecution's evidence, so long as it is relevant. It should avoid attempting to resolve
contradictions ktween the Prosecution and Defence evidence, because such resolution is
impossible without a fulr airing of the evidence from both sides and a careful weighing
and evaluation of the credibility of the wihesses. That will acc1.lr at trial.r,r

56. In support of his argument, the prosecutor also relies on the jurisprudence of the

ad hoc tribunals conceming the review of mid-trial motions for acquittal, asserting

that the latter is a "comparable, albeit more comprehensive screening of the case,,,

and submitting that the ad hoc tribunalt "in evaluating a Rule ggDrs motion for

acquittal, [do] not assess the reliability or credibility of the evidence presented in the

case-in-chief, nor [do they] give lesser weight to the evidence t]rat [they deem]

'suspect, contradictory or in any other way unreliable,,,.s

58. The Chamber does not accept the argument of the prosecutor. At the outset, the

Chamber emphasizes, as previously held by pre-Trial Chamber I. that the

jurisprudence of the ad fioc tribunals conceming mid-trial motions of acquittal cannot

a Pre-Triaf Chamber [, Bemba Confirmation of charges Decision, ICC-0u05{ 710*424, paras 32-62.
&r ICC-01/09-0t/11 -345, para. 5.
85 ICC-01/09-01/11-145, para. 6.
t6 ICC-01/09-01/11-353, paras 16-77, 19,27-28 and 32-M.
8'z ICC-01/09-01/11-354, paras l2-13.
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57. The Defence of Mr. Kosgey contends that "there is no basis upon which it can be

suggested that the evidence disclosed by the prosecution can be granted any

particular preference over all the other disclosed evidence".e rhe Chamber also

notes that the Defence of Mr. sang asserts that while "the Chamber must analyse and

assess the Prosecution evidence presented as a whole that does not mean that

individual aspects of the evidence should not be scrutinised,,.Ez
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guide the Chamber in determining the ob.iect and PurPose of the confirmation of

charges, due to the fundamentally incomparable nature of the two procedural

regimes.s

5g. The Chamber further recalls the paramount principle of free assessment of

evidence as enshrined in article 69(4\ of the statute and rule 63(2) of the Rules and

observes that these provisions are equally applicable at the pre-trial and trial stages

of the proceedings.s As stated by Pre-Trial Chamber I, this principle is "a core

component of judicial activity both at the pre-trial stage of the case and at trial".m

60. At the same time, the Chamber recalls that its discretion in line with the principle

of free assessment of evidence is limited to determining, Pursuant to article 69(4) and

(7) of the stahlte, the admissibility, relevance and probative value of the evidence

placed before it.er

61. Thus, in determining whether there are substantial grounds to believe that the

Suspects committed each of the crimes charged, the Chamber is not bound by the

parties, characterisation of the evidence. Rather, the Chamber will make its own

independent assessment of each piece of evidence.P Moreover, the Chamber will

assess the relevance and probative value of the evidence, regardless of its type or

which party relied uPon it.

(i) Admi sibiliw of e dence

62. With respect to the admissibiliry of evidence, the Chamber notes that neither the

Stahrte nor the Rules provide that a certain type of evidence is per se inadmissible.

Depending on the circumstances, the Chamber is vested with discretion or statutorily

mandated to rule on the admissibility of the evidence. on the one hand, the Chamber

s see also Pre-Trial Chamber I, ,'Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-0U04-01/10-465-Red,

para.45.
t s"" rrt" rz(9) of the Rules and the heading of ChaPte! 4 of the Rules'

{ Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the "Prosecution's Application for Leave to APPeal the'Decision

on the Confirmation of Charges"', ICC 42105-02109-267, ?ara' 8'

e, pre.Trial Chamber lt, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, tCC{1/05- 10&,424, patas 61-62.

a pre-Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC'o1/05-01/08-42 4, Paft.42.

No. ICC-0U09-01/ll 251139 23 January 2012
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may, pursuant to article 69$) of the Statute, ,,ruIe on the [...] admissibility of any
evidence". On the other hand, the Chamber shall, pursuant to article 69(Z) of the
statute and rule 63(3) of the Rures, rure on the admissib ity of the evidence on an

application of a party or on its own motion, if grounds for inadmissib ity appear to
exist.

63. with regard to evidence derived from summaries of statements of persons who
testified before entities other than the court ("non-lCC witnesses,,), the Defence of
Mr. Ruto contended that the persons who initia[y provided the statements to other
entities have not given consent for their statement or surrunary to be used in
proceedings before the Court. Thug these summaries must be excluded from the

evidence at this stage.e3 ln support of such contentiory the Defence of Mr, Ruto relies

on a decision issued by Pre-Trial Chamber I in the case of rhe prosecutor v. Thomas

Lubanga Dyilo, according to which:

Ln the view of the Chamber, the first and foremost measure required under article 6g(1)
of the Statute and rule 86 of the Rules is to inform each prospective witness of the fact
that a party intends to rely on his or her statement, or the report or transcript of his or her
interview for the purpose of the confirmation hearing h a specific case. Hencg as is the
case before the Chamber with respect to witnesses [...] the information was not provided
to the said witnesses. In order to protect them appropriately, the Chamber considers that
their statement, transcript or leports of their interyiew must be ruled inadmissible for the
purposes of the confirmation hearing.er

64. Further, the Defence of Mr. Kosgey submitted that in the absence of a solemn

undertaking the said witness summaries shall be inadmissible. 15

65. The chamber considers that the .iurisprudence relied upon by the Defence is not

applicable to the present circumstances, as it relates to "witnesses of the Court,,. The

Defence challenge under consideration relates to the use of summaries of statements

provided by individuals who have not been interviewed by the prosecutor. The

Chamber does not find any grounds in the statutory documents precluding the use

of such documentary evidence, nor is there any indication that this evidence is

otherwise inadmissible. Accordingly, the chamber concludes that the summaries of

"1 ICC-O1/09-01/l l-355, paras 76-77.
e Pre.Trial Chamber l, "Decision on the confirmation of charges,,, tCC_01/O4{1/06g0}tEN, para. 59.
,s ICC-01/09-01/1 1-353, para s 98-99.

No. ICC-0U09-01/ll 261139 23 January 2Ol2
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the statements provided by non-ICC witnesses are admissible as evidence in the

present case.

(ii) Relevance and probative value of evidence

66. Relevance requires a nexus between the sPecific Piece of evidence and a charge or

a fact of the case to be proven, in the sense that a piece of evidence is relevant to the

Chamber's determination of a specific fact if it tends to make the existence of such

fact more or less probable.% Therefore, in assessing the relevance of the evidence, the

Chamber shall establish the extent to which this evidence is rationally linked to the

fact that it tends to prove or to disprove.'

67. Furthermore, the Chamber will also assess whether each piece of evidence has

probative value. The determination of the probative value of a piece of evidence

requires a qualitative assessment. In this respec! the Chamber recalls the general

principle of free assessment of evidence as enshrined in article 69$) of the Statute

and rule 63(2) of the Rules. Accordingly, the Chamber shall give each piece of

evidence the weight that it considers appropriate.

6g. The Chamber tal<es a case-by-case approach in assessing the relevance and

probative value of each piece of evidence.% In doing so, the Chamber is guided by

various factors, such as the nahrre of the evidence, its credibiliry, reliability, and

source as well as the context in which it was obtained and its nexus to the charges of

the case or the alleged perpetrator. Indicia of reliability such as voluntariness,

truthfulness, and tnistworthiness are considered.e In this resPect, the Chamber

wishes to clarify that it is not the amount of evidence presented but its probative

value that is essential for the Chamber's final determination on the charges presented

by the Prosecutor.rm

% Pre-Trial Chamber It, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05-01/08-424, ?ara' 41'

,7 Pre-Trial Chamber ll, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC41/05-01/0&424, para 41'

s Pre-Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, [CC-0U05-01/08-424, Para 58'

e Trial chamber t. ,,Decision on the admissibility of four documents", ICC-01/04-01/061399, Paras 28-

29.
r@ Pre-Trial Chanrber II, Bemba Conf,rmation of Charges Decision, lCC-01/05'01108-424, Tara' 6O'

271139 23 .lanuary 2012No. ICC-01/09-01/11
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69. The Chamber identifies the evidence either as direct or indirect. Indirect evidence

encompasses hearsay evidence, reports of intemational and non-goverrunental

organisahons (NGOs), as well as reports from nationa.l agencies, domestic

intelligence services and the media. pursuant to rule 76 of the Rules, evidence may

also be oral, in particular when it is rendered by witnesses ca ed to testify, or

writtery such as copies of witness statements or material covered by rule 77 of the

Rules, such as bookg documents emanating from various source, photographs, and

other tangible objectt hcluding but not limited to video and/or audio recorded

evidence.

70. on the other hand, direct evidence provides first-hand information. Regardless of

the party that presented it, direct evidence which is relevant and trustworthy has a

high probative value. It follows that a single piece of direct evidence may be decisive

for the Chamber's determination in the present decision.r0r

71. In this respect, the Chamber observes that in the present case all the parties

adduced, inter alia, eyewitness testimonies emanating from known or anonymous

witnesses or presented summaries of witness statements. The Defence teams of Mr.

Ruto and Mr. sang also relied on live (oioa uoce) witnesses during the confirmation

hearing.

72. In relation to the testimony of uit;a aoce wibresses, the Defence of Mr. Sang argues

that "ttioa ooce evidence, if found credible, typically has greater probative va.lue than

statements, due to the fact that it has been cross-examined and tested,,.rm

73. The Chamber recalls its earlier findings, whereby it clarified that ,,the fact that

witnesses' testimonies are el.icited through oral questioning does not per se entail that

they be attached a higher probative value than that they would be given if provided

in writing".103 In this regard, the Chamber underlines that an oral testimony can have

r0' Pre-Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05{ ll0*424, para.49.
)o'] ICC-0]/09-01/1 1 -354, paras 58-59.
r0, Pre-Trial Chamber l[, "Decision on t]re Defence Applications for Leave to Appeal the Single Judge's
Order to Rt'ducc the Ntrmber of Viva Voce Witnesses", ICC'.OI l$-O2l1l -275, Varas26-27. See also pre-

No. ICC-0ri09-01/rl 281139 23 January 2012
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a high or low probative value in light of the Chamber's assessment, inter alia as a

result of the questioning, of the witness' credibiliry, reliability, accuracy,

trustworthiness and genuineness. The final determination on the probative value of

the live testimony will thus depend on the Chamber's assessment on a case-by-case

basis and in light of the evidence as a whole.

74. With respect to indirect evidence, the chamber is of the view that, as a general

rule, such evidence must be accorded a lower probative value than direct evidence.

The Chamber highlights that, although indirect evidence is commonly accepted in

the jurisprudence of the court, the decision on the conJirmation of charges cannot be

based solely on one such piece of evidence.ro

75. ln considering indirect evidence, the Chamber follows a twG.steP approach. Firsf

as with direct evidence, it will assess its relevance and probative value. second, it

will verify whether corroborating evidence exists, regardless of its ryPe or source.

The Chamber is aware of rule 63(4) of the Rules, but finds that more than one Piece of

indirect evidence, which has low probative value, is preferable to Prove an allegation

to the standard of substantial grounds to believe. In light of this assessment, the

Chamber will then determine whether the piece of indirect evidence in question,

when viewed within the totality of evidence, is to be accolded a sufficient Plobative

value to substantiate a finding o( the Chamber for the purposes of the decision on the

confirmation of charges.los

75. At this juncturq the Chamber will address a number of issues that have been

raised by the parties and that directly relate to the probative value to be accorded to

certain pieces of evidence adduced in the Present case

Trial chamber II, "order to the Defence to Reduce the Number of witsresses to Be Called to Testify at

the confirmation of Charges Hearing and to submit an Amended List of viva Voce witnesses", ICC-

O1 l@47111-221, para. 74.
rN pre-Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-o1/05-01/08-424, Para. 5l
rG Pre-Trial Chamher II, Bcmba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-0t /05-01/08-424' para' 52'

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 291139 23 January 2012
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a) no n

77. The Chamber notes that the Defence teams of the suspects argue that a lower

probative value should be accorded to evidence emanating from an anonymous

source and/or provided in a summary of a witness statement.rG

78. The Chamber is aware that the use of anonymous witness statements and

summaries is permitted, pursuant to article 61(5) and 6g(5) of the statute and rule

81(a) of the Rules, at the pre-trial stage. However, the chamber shares the view,

adopted in other pre-trial decisions,lo that the use of evidence emanating from

anonymous sources or from summaries of witnesses statements - regardless of its

direct or indirect nature - may impact the ability of the Defence to challenge the

credibility of the source and the probative value of such evidence. Therefore, to

counterbalance the disadvantage that this might cause to the Defence, such evidence

is considered as having a lower probative value than that attached to the statements

of witnesses whose identity is known to the Defence and for which a full statement

has been made available to it. The Chamber will thus analyse anonymous witness

statements and summaries on a case-by-case basis and evaluate them for the

purposes of the present decision taking into account whether there is corroboration

by other evidence.rs

79. The Defence of Mr. Kosgey and Mr. sang further submit that the heavily redacted

witness statements that were disclosed by the Prosecutor prevent the Defence from

challenging the reliabilify of the evidence given by these witnesses. Thuq the

Defence submits that heavily redacted statements should be given weight similar to

summaries or anonymous hearsay evidence, i.e. low probative value, which require

106 ICC-01/09-0U1 1 -355, paras 4, ll8; ICC-01/09-01/11-353, paras 29-31; ICC{1/09{7/11-35/,, patas 47-
50; ICC-01/09-01/1 1-355, para. 132.
ro7 Pre'Trial chamber Il, Bemba confirmation of charges Decisiory ICC-O1/0s-ollog-424, para.50; pre-
Trial Chamber I "Decision on the confirmation of charges,,, ICC-O1lC!,-0U07-Zt7,\CC-OUO4-O1tO7-712,
para. 119; Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the conlirmation of charges,,, ICC-01/04-01/o&EOltEN,
para.'106.
rc Pre.Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-OI/05-O11OU24, paras 50_51;
Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the Confirmation of Charges,', ICC-02/05-03/09-121-Corr-Red, para.
4l; Pre-Trial Chamber l, "Decision on the Confirmation of Charges,,, ICC-O2lO5-O2lW-243-Red, para.
52; Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision ou the confirnation of charges,', ICC-01/0 4-01107-2.t7, paras 160.
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corroboration.r@ The Chamber is mindful of the difficulties that such evidence may

cause to the Defence and will exercise caution when makinS its final determinations

as to the probative value of these witness statements.

b) rodu r enti

80. Regarding reports of other entities,rro the Defence of Mr. Sang argues:

[T]he PreTrial Chamber should not place Sreat reliance on these materials' Given the

anonymous and unkrown nah.rre of the witnesses who gave information to CIPEV,

KNCHR and HRW (some of whom may be the same witnesses being relied on by the

Prosecution), and Siven the organisations largely oPaque investiSative Processes, these

materials have a low probative value and do not assist the Chamber in any substantial

regard.lll

gl.The Chamber takes note of the Defence's concem and reiterates that the

assessment of any piece of evidence whether direct or indirect will be subiect to the

principles outlined in paragraphs 69-70 and7L75.

c) Motivc hind witness s temcnts

g2. with regard to possible political or other underlying motives of witrlesses,

the Defences of Mr. Kosgey and Mr. sang claim that the Prosecutor failed to question

the motives of his witnesses.Ir2 In response, the Pros€cutor acknowledSed that

witness motivation is an appropriate consideration, though one primarily for the

trial.lt3

g3. The Chamber will evaluate whether motives cast doubt on the reliabiliry and, by

implication, on the probative value of the wiEresses.tta Accordingly, the Chamber

does not automatically reiect evidence solely because the witness might be politically

roe ICC-01/09-0U11-353, paras 53 and 55; ICC-01/09-01/11-354, paras2,39, 47-5O.

1ro The Commission of Inquiry into Post-Election Violence (CIPEV), Kenya National Commission on

Human Rights (KNCHR) and Human RiShts watch (HRW).

"' ICC-01/09-01/11 -354, paras 22-27.
ru tCC-01/09-01/11-353, paras 46,75 a d 121; see also Defence submissions in this regard during the

confirmation hearin& tCC-o1/09-01/11-T-9-Red-ENC, Page 33.

I'r tCC{1/09-01/11 -345, pa[a. 62.
rrr See for example Pre-Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC{1/05-01/0&

424, para.57; tCfY, Prosecutor v. 'fadic, Case No. IT-97-1-T, "Opinion and ludgment", T May 1997 '
para.541; see also ICT\, Prosecutor rt Limoj el al, Case No. IT-03-6GT, "Judgment",30 November 2005'

para. 15; ICTY, Proseqtor o Milutino?ic et nl., Case No IT-05-87-T, "Judgment", 26 February 2009, para'

61.
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or otherwise motivated, but assesses the witrress' reliability and probative varue in
light of the issue to be decided upon and taking into account the totality of the

evidence.lls

d) Inconsistencies in the evidence

84. The Chamber notes that the Defence teams of the suspects have raised issues

about possible inconsistencies within one or amongst several pieces of evidence. ,6 In

particular, the Delence of Mr. Ruto underlnes that "the witnesses speaking of [...]
meetings contradict each other on significant issues relating to who was present,

what was said and done by whonr, and who was in charge,,.rrz The Defence of Mr.

Kosgey argues that "material parts of witness 6's testimony do not accord with core

parts of the Prosecution's case'.rtE Lastly, the Defence of Mr. sang contended that

"major contradictions [...] on significant points of evidence [...] undermines the

veracity and reliability of the entirety of the prosecution evidence [and] cannot be

relied upon to conlirm the charges".ttr

85. The Prosecutor responded that "[w]hile the internal and external consistency of

evidence is relevant to its probative value, inconsistencies do not require the

wholesale rejection of a piece of evidence [...] [nlor is evidence to be rejected in its

entirety because a portion of it is seemingly inconsistent either with other parts of the

statement or with other evidence".'20

rr5 [)re-'frial Chamber Il, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05-0110&,424, paras.5G51;
Banda and Jerbo Decision, pala- 41; Pre-Trial chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges,,,
ICC-02105-02109-243-Red, para.52; Pre-Trial Chamber 1,,'Decision on the confirmation of charges,,,
lcc-01104-01107-717, paras 160. For individuat accounts see for example witness l stating th;t he
wishes to "save our country''at KEN-orp-0028-1630 at 1663; witness 6 stating his motivation as ,,to

prevent these crimes in the furure", at KEN-OTP-0044{003 at 0OO9; Witness 8,,wants to help,,,
"peace", "justice".
r16 ICC-0U09-01/11-353, paras 5&70; ICC-01/0941/11-355, para. 118; ICC-0U09 4t/11-3 , paras 42-45.

'u ICC-01/09-01/1 1-355, para. 1 18.
I 
'8 ICC-o1/09-0U11-353, paras 68-20.

'r0 ICC-o1/@-01/l t -354, paras 42-45.
E ICC-01/09-01/11-345, paras 32-33. For the Prosecutor's responses to the Defence.s allegations of
inconsistencies with regard to specific pieces of evidence see paras 34-4g.
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86. The Chamber considers that inconsistencies may have an impact on the probative

value to be accorded to the evidence in question. However. inconsistencies do not

lead to an automatic reiection of the particular piece of evidence and thus do not bar

the Chamber from using it.12r The Chamber will assess whether potential

inconsistencies cast doubt on the overall credibility and reliabiliry of the evidence

and, therefore, affect the probative value to be accorded to such evidence.rz This

assessmentmustbeconductedwithrespecttothenatureanddegreeofthe

individual inconsistency as well as to the specific issue to which the inconsistenry

pertains. In fact, inconsistencies in a piece of evidence might be so significant as to

bar the chamber from using it to prove a specific issue, but might prove immaterial

with regard to another issue, which, accordingly, does not prevent the chamber from

using it regarding that issue.

e) Reliab ilitv and ibilitv of Witnesses 4 and 8

87. The Defences of Mr. Ruto and Mr. sang also asserted that witnesses 4 and 8 were

coached and induced to implicate Mr. Ruto; thus, they are neither reliable nor

credible.lB The fwo Defence teams Presented evidence in support of their allegations

in the form of newspaper articles and a video clip.r2a

88. The Chamber is not convinced by the Defences' assertion that witnesses 4 and 8

were coached. Nor is the Chamber convinced that said witnesses are not reliable or

credible. Rather, the Chamber, having examined the matter on the basis of the

evidence presented, finds that there is no evidence to demonstrate that the witnesses

r:r This approach is followed as well in PreTrial Chamber II, Bemba confirmation of charges

Decision, ICC-01/05 -01t08424, para. 55; Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of

charges", ICC-011M-01107 -777, Paru- 716.
* Seie for a similar approach pre.Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, para. 55.

rB ICC-01/09-01/11-355, para. 19. ICC-01/09-01/11-354, Paras 34-35; see also submissions durinB the

hearing at ICC-o1/09-01n1-T-IGCONF-ENG, PP.30,32-33; ICC-01/09-01/11-T-10-CONF-ENC' pp 35'

36; ICC-01/09-01/11-T-lGCONF-ENG, PP. 35, 38.

r?r Media press articles at KEN-D09-0009-0001, at 0002-0003; video KEN-oTP-0017-0144 '
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ICC-o1/09-01/t l-373 23-Ot-2012 34/173 FB pT

were actually coached to "renew and adiust all [their] previous testimonies so that
they could be almost similar and could corroborate each other,,.rr

89. In particular, the Defence teams of the lwo suspects refer to a newspaper articre,

which includes excerpts from statements previousry given to two commissions.

According to the Defence these excerpts were provided by witnesses 4 and g, who
are anonymous. Notwithstanding the Defences' assertion during the confirmation

hearing that they are aware of their identity, the Chamber remains of the view that

they are anonymous and sharl be treated as such throughout the decision. Even

assuming arguendo that the Defence has correctly identified witnesses 4 and g, the

excerpt referred to in the newspaper article actually proves that the witnesses did not

change their accounts, contrary to the Defences' assertion. Instead, these excerpts

reveal that the statements provided to the commissions are in essence the same as

those subsequently given to the Office of the prosecutor. Thu, even if said witrresses

were approached, their previous statements' concurrence with the statements

presented to the court shows that these witnesses have not adjusted their views in
order to implicate Mr. Ruto. This assessment of the facts makes it difficult to argue

that Witnesses 4 and 8 are neither reliable nor credible.

90. Therefore, the Chamber will rely on the statements of wikresses 4 and g for the

purposes of the present decision.

0 sses l. 2. 6and8a re allesedl v self CT inals

91. The Defence teams of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang submitted that Witsresses 1,,2,6 and

8 should not be considered by the Chamber as reliable or credible witnesses because

they are self-confessed criminals, who participated in the post-election violence.rz6

The Prosecutor responded that "insiders,, commonly provide highly relevant

Ir5 KEN-D09-0009-0001 at 0002.
r'?6 ICC-01/09-01/11-354, para 2 and 40; see also ICC-01/09-01/I 1-TIGCoNF-ENG , p.7r-l2,lines 16-25
ICC-01/09-01/1 l -355, paras 16.18; see atso ICC-01/09-01/l 1-T12-CONF-ENG, p. 37, tines 12-I5.
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accused.I z7

92. The Chamber considers that the witnesses' possible involvement in the

commission of the crimes does not automatically render them unreliable and/or not

credible, such that their evidence should be excluded or provided a lower probative

value. Instead, the assessment of the evidence provided by those witnesses and the

weight to be given will depend on a case-by-case basis' The same holds tme in

relation to evidence provided by the Suspects, which will be equally treated on the

basis of the same principle' In other words, the Suspects or Defence witrresses who

are allegedly implicated through one way or another in the crimes will not be

automatically considered unreliable and/or not credible. Nor will their evidence be

granted a lower probative value, as a matter of principle' Rather' their final

assessment and the weight to be given witl depend on a case-by-case basis'

C. Isstes raised by the Delmce as to the fotm of the Amended DCC

93. At the confirmation hearing and in the Final written submissions, the Defence

teams of the suspects contended that the Amended DCC is insufficient on its face

and failed to provide notice to the suspects of the charges alleged'r4

94. The Defence teams of Mr. Ruto and Mr' Sang argue that the use of the term

"including" in the description of the counts is impermissibly vague because it does

not set any geographical limits.rn They also claim that the characterisation of the facts

as deportation or forcible transfer of population within the same count created a

prejudice to the Defence.rr Mormver, the exclusion from the Amended DCC "of the

names or identifying features of [...] the Network-members' 'other' co-PerPetrators'

thesuspect,ssubordirratesortheachlalPerPetrators,rendersitimpossibleforthe

rr? ICC-0U09-01/11-345, para. 60.

ur ICC-o1/09-01/11-T-6Red-ENG, p. 125, Iines G10, p.127,lin€s 6-9; ICC'o1/0941n 1-T'6'Red-ENG' p'

152, tines 8-14; ICC4l/09{1/11-354; ICC-01/09-01/1 i -353, Palas 76-85; ICC-01/09{1/11-354' paras 140-

152; ICC4U@41 111-355, Paras 30-75.
1r, ICC-01/09-OU1l -354, para. 149, and ICC-01/09-01/11-355, Para.33.
l]r JCC-01 /09-01 /1 1 -355, para. 33; ICC-01 l@-01 I 1 1 -354' para. 1 45.
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suspect to defend himserf adequatery".r:r rhe Defence of Mr. Kosgey observes that
the Amended DCC does not incrude the dates of the meetings that he is alleged to
have participated ir1 which impedes his ability to respond to the c-harges.r3z

Moreover, the Defence of Mr. Ruto argues that the prosecutor failed to provide in
detail the methods of the suspect's essentiar contribution to the commission of the

crimes rr Finally, the Defence of Mr. sang contends in reration to the charges of
murder and deportation or forcible transfer that there are ,,contradictions within the
DCC itsell as regards numbers of victims t...] tandl that such disparities should have

been clarified in order [...] to know in detail the allegations [...]".r34

95' The Prosecutor responds that the Amended DCC is sufficient to meet the

requirement under regulation 52 of the Regurations.rs He argues that he is not
legally required to set out his evidence including dates of meetings in the Amended
DCC.ts rhe Prosecutor, recalling the previous jurisprudence of this chamber,r3T

contends that "the Amended DCC when read as a whore and in coniunction with the

List of Evidence and the In-Depth Anarysis Chart provides ample notice to the

Defence of the nature of the crimes charged".,., In addition, the prosecutor asserts

that he is required to include in the Amended DCC and to prove onry sufficient

material facts supporting the crimes alleged, which does not encompass the

Preparatory meetings as a method of planning these crimes.r3e

96. The Chamber recalls rule 121(3) of the Rules, which states:

r,1 ICC-01/09-01/1 1 -355, para. 38.
1.2 ICC-01/09-01/11-T-9-RED-ENC, p. 33, line 10, p.35, Iine 8; ICC_01/@_0il11-353, paras 76_85.

'I ICC-O1/09-01/1 1-355, paras 57-64.

'14 
ICC-0U09-01/ll -354, paras 146-148.

'rs ICC-01/09-01/11-345, paras 75-79.
rr5 ICC-O1/09-01/1 1-345, para. 81.
ril PreTrial chamber II, "Decision on the "preliminary Motion Alleging Defects in the Documents
containing the Charges (DCC) and List of Evidence (LoE) and Request that the orp be ordered to re.
file an Amended DCC & LoE" and the "De(ence Request for a status Conference Conceming the
Proseotion's Disclosure of 19n Autust 2011 and the Document containing the charges and e-rticre
101 of the Rome Statute"", ICC-OI/09 -02t11-315, para.72.
Ir8 ICC-O1/09-01/11 -345, paras 78-79.

'r'g ICC-O1/09-01/1l -345, paras 80-83.
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97. Further, regulation 52 of the Regulations states that the document containinS the

charges shall include, inter alia, "a statement of the facts, including the time and place

of the alleged crimes, which provides a sufficient legal and factual basis to bring the

person or persons to trial, including relevant facts for the exercise of jurisdiction by

the Court".

gS.TheChamberconsidersthattheAmendedDCCcomplieswiththerequirements

set out in the Statute and the Rules. The Chamber is of the view that the requirement,

whereby the Amended DCC shalt contain a ,,sufficient legal and factual basis,,,

pursuant to regulation 52 of the Regulations, implies that the DCC may not be

exhaustive in all the inJormation in support of the charges' However' it has to

provide the Defence with a sufficiently clear picture of the facts underpinning the

chargesagainsttheSuspectsandinparticularinrelationtothecrimes,thedatesand

locations of their alleged commission. A reading of the Amended DCC in light of the

evidence disclosed by the Prosecutor, the list of this evidence and the In-Depth

AnalysisChartPutstheDefenceinpositiontoacquiresufficientknowledgeofthe

nature of the crimes charged.le

99. with regard to the term ,including, the Chamber considers, on the basis of the

Prosecutor,s submissions at the confirmation of charges hearing and in the Amended

DCC, that the use of the expression "in locations including Turbo town' the greater

Eldoret area (Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas, and Yamumbi)' Kapsabet town'

and Nandi Hills town" shall be understood as encompassing exclusively these

locations. This does not mean, however, that the Prosecutor is correct, in principle, in

using this broad formulation, which might have an impact on exPanding the

The Prosecutor shall provide to the Pre-T al Chamber and the Person, no later than 30

days before the date of the confirmation hearing a detailed dessiPtion of the charges

logether with a list of the evidence which he or she intends to Plesent at the hearinS'

r& For an approach along this line see Pre-Trial Chamber [], "Decision on the "Preliminary Motion

Alleging Defects in the Documents containint the CharSes (DCC) and List of Evidence (LoE) and

neq,iesitt 
"t 

the OTp be ordered to re-file an Amended DCC & LoE" and the "Defence Request for a

Status Conference Concerning the Prosecution's Dirlosure of 19s August 2011 and the Document

Containing the Charges and Article'l0l of the Rone Statrtte", ICC-o1 /09-02/l 1-315, Para' 12'
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parameters of h.is case before the Triar Chamber.rrr ro the contrary, the prosecutor

should provide a proper degree of specilicity in his document containing the charges,
which refers to the precise rocations of the a,eged incidents where crimes took place.
Therefore, the chamber w,l onry assess the evidence with respect to the events that
according to the Prosecutor's alegations took prace in the Iocations expricitly referred
to in the Amended DCC.

100. As for the charge of ,,deportation or forcible kansfer of poputation,,, the
Chamber is of the view that this formuration is not prejudicial to the Defence as wili
be explained in the relevant part dearing with acts constituting crimes against
humanity.

101. The Chamber will now h:m to alleged defects of the Amended DCC
conceming the exclusion of the identities of members, at various revers, of the a eged
Network as we[ as the withholding of the dates of meetings in which the suspects

allegedly participated. with regard to the former, the Chamber considers that this
information can be crearly detected from the evidence discrosed to the Defence. There
is no requirement for the prosecutor to spel out the exact composition of the

Network in order for the Suspects to challenge the alregations against them. This
holds true, a fortiori, when other members of the alleged Network are not charged

with any crime wi thin the jurisdiction of the Court. As for the redaction of the dates

of the preparatory meetings, the Chamber observes tha! arthough information about
the exact date of a planning meeting can be of importance to the Defence, the

redactions of certain dates within one witrress' statement were necessary for security
reasons and were authorized under rule g1(4) of the Rules.

702' Moving to the a eged failure of the prosecutor to specify in the Amended

DCC the methods of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Kosgey's essentiar contributions pursuant to
article 25(3)(a) of the statutq the Chamber underlines that the prosecutor has duly
listed the categories of contributions that Mr. Ruto and Mr. Kosgey are aleged to

ur See also the findings of pre-Trial Chamber I in the Mbarushim,no case, ,,Decision on the
confirmation of charges", ICC-01/04-01 /'1 0-4fi5-Recl, paras g1 _g3.
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have carried out. When read together with the evidence disclosed, the Amended

DCC is sufficient to provide the Defence with enough information about the

allegations against the susPects.

103. Lastly, the chamber recalls that at this stage the Prosecutor is requested to

substantiate his allegations that the crimes charged were committed with as precise

as possible data. However, in the circumstances of the Present case, the Chamber is

of the view that the discrepancies in the numbers of victims provided in the

Amended DCC are not of such nature so as to Prevent the Defence teams of the

Suspects to challenge whether the crimes charged were allegedly committed'

V. EVIDENCE OF ALIBI AND CHALLENGES TO THE EXISTENCE OF

PREPARATORY MEETINGS

105. The Chamber notes that during the confirmation hearing and in the Amended

DCC, the Proseortor contended that a series of meetings were allegedly organized

between late December 2006 and the days preceding the 2007 presidential election.

According to the Prosecutor, these meetings were convened with a view toward

organizing the commission of the crimes with which the susPects are charSed. The

meetings were allegedly held under the supervision of Mr. Ruto and with the

participation of Mr. Kosgey, Mr. Sang politicians, businessmen, and Kalenjin elders.

Before delving into a discussion on the evidence of alibi asserted by the Defence

regarding these meetings, the Chamber wishes to Point out that, by reason of iudicial

economy, it shall refrain from addressing the evidence of alibi related to Mr. Kosgey,

given that in section vIII of the present Decision it will determine that there is not

sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that Mr' Kosgey is

criminally responsible in this case.

No. ICC-01/09-0lilr 391139 23 Jantary 2Ol2

104. Any additional allegations concerning possible defects of the Amended DCC

will be addressed in the subsequent parts of the present decision'
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106. The Chamber notes that the Defence teams have presented evidence of aribi in
order to challenge the presence of the suspects in some preparatory meetings herd

between 30 December 2005 and 22 December 2007. The Chamber is aware of rule 79

of the Rules, which govems the presentation of evidence of alibi and the conditions to

present such evidence, in particular the requirement that ,,notification 
[...] [of the

existence of. an alibil shall be given sufficiently in advance to enable the prosecutor to

prepare adequately and to respond,,.

107.In this regard, the chamber disagrees with the prosecutor's contention that ,,the

Defence presented a factual dispute conceming material issues that can only be

properly resolved by a full airing of the evidence, which can only be done at trial,,.rr2

By contrast, the chamber believes that at alibi may equally be raised during the pre-

trial stage, and thus rule 79 of the Rures shall equalry apply. It also follows that the

argument raised by the Prosecutor that the Chamber ,,need not engage in the

weighing of competing versions at this stage")4r carmot stand. This is because even if
the Defence failed to notily the Prosecutor of the existence of an altbi pursuant to rule

79(1)(a) of the Rules, rule 79(3) does not provide for an explicit remedy, which in any

case would not prevent the Chamber from addressing the merits of the said alibi.

108. This is not to say that the Defence is relieved from its statutory obligations to

provide the Prosecutor with a notification concerning the existence of an alibi

"sufficiently in advance to enable [him] to prepare adequately and to respond,,. The

reference to the words "sufficiently in advance" suggests that the notification should

preferably take place prior to the commencement of the conlirmation hearing in

order to ensure that the Prosecutor is in a position to respond to the Defence ard his

case is not prejudiced due to raising an alibi at a late stage. However, the

circumstances of the present case reveal that despite the lack of an explicit

notification regarding the existence ol an atibi on the part of the Defence, the

Prosecutor did not suffer any prejudice. Had he suffered prejudice, the prosecutor

'{, ICC-01/09-01/11 -345, para. 49
r4r ICC-01/09-01/l l-345, para. 50
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would have raised the issue during the confirmation hearing when the Defence

teams started addressing their alibi. But this is not the case and the first time the

Prosecutor brought the matter to the attention of the Chamber was in his Final

Written Observations. Thus, weighing the two competing interests at stake, the

Chamber takes a balanced approach that considers the rights of both parties. such an

approach makes it fair to address the evidence of allbi raised by the Defence'

109. The chamber is aware ttrat during the conJirmation hearing and on the basis of

the evidence disclosed by the Defence of Mr. Ruto and Mr' Sang, a large part of the

Defence strategy focused on challenging the presence of the Suspects at the planning

meetings and, by implication, the very existence of the meetings themselves'

110. Bearing in mind that the core of the case sub iudice is meeting-based,

the Chamber finds it appropriate to start with addressing the Defences' alibi, ln

particular, whether there is sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to

believe that the planning meetings which form the basis of the Prosecutor's case

against Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang effectively took place. If, upon examination, it tums

out that the Defences' assertions are correct, the Chamber shall not use any evidence

based on those meetings. This approach ensures not only iudicial economy/ but also

the faimess of the proceedings as a whole. Thus, in this sechon of the present

decision, the Chamber shall consider: (i) the evidence of alibi challenging the

presence of the Suspects in those meetings; and (ii) those meetings in relation to

wfuch no alibi was raised during the confirmation hearing, but there exists evidence

that may nonetheless undermine, in the Chamber's view, the Prosecutor's allegations

that the Suspects attended certain planning meetings.

111. The chamber wishes to clarify that the determination as to whether there are

substantial grounds to believe that some or all of these meetings ocorrred does not

constitute a finding on the crimes charged or on the criminal resPonsibility of the

Suspects. These are elements that the Chamber shall assess under the relevant

sections in the present Decision.

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 411139 23 January 2012



ICC-o1/09-01/ -373 23-Ot_20t2 42/173 FU pT

112. Lastly, the Chamber wishes to point out that, as a matter of principle, it will
assess each meeting individually and on the basis of all the evidence available to the

chamber, so as to decide, in accordarce with the required evidentiary threshold,

the existence of such meeting. The Chamber will also have to take into account the

entire range of planrLing meetings known from the existing evidence. In the

Chamber's view, this is the appropriate approach because most of the witnesses who

testified about thc meetings were aliegedly present at more than one of tiem.
Therefore, a comprehensive and comparative examination of the diJferent meetings

and their topics individually and jointly with the rest of the meetings is essential to

provide the Chamber with a broad and substantial overview on the events at issue

for the purposes of making its final determination.

A. 30 December 2006 meeting

113. The Prosecutor alleges thaL on 30 December 2006, the first planning meeting was

held at Mr. Ruto's house. According to witness & the attendees of this meeting

included, inler alia, Mr. Sang and the organizer of the meeting Mr. Ruto.r{ [n his

recollection, wiEress 8 states that the 30 December 2006 meeting took place at 2:00

p.m.trs Moreover, Witness 8 mentioned that Samson Cheramboss

("Mr. Cheramboss") and Reverend Jackson Kipkemoi Kosgei (,,Reverend Kosgei,,)

took part.r6 The Chamber recalls that Mr. Cheramboss and Reverend Kosgei

respectively testified as live witsresses.raT

114. During the confirmation hearing, Mr. cheramboss testified that he has never

been to Mr. Ruto's house.rrs With regard to Reverend Kosgei, he testified that he

rs See the sketch produced by Wirness 8, KEN-OTp-0035{O78.
r$ Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052{4i}3 at 0519.
t+ See the sketch produced by Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0035-0078.
r.7 Witness KEN-D09-P-0001; ICC-o1/@-01n 1-T-7-CONF-ENG E! pp.6-63, line 14; Witness KEN-D09-
P-0002; ICC-01/09{1/11-T-7-CONF-ENG ET, pp. 65-102.
r16 ICC-01/09-0ii'l I -T-7-CONF-ENC ET, pp. 1l -'12.
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"was in Nairobi on the 30'h [Decernber 20061" .ue ln his unswom statement, Mr' Ruto

stated that "Mr. Cheramboss ha[s] never been to my house".'e

115. In addition, the Defence team of Mr. sang submitted a statement signed by

Mr. Sang, affirming that he attended a football toumament throughout 30 December

20o6.rsr The Defence of Mr. sang also submitted five witness statements given by

individuals who were allegedly present at the football pitch in order to confirm the

whereabouts of Mr. sang on that particular day.rs2 The Chamber observes that, out of

the five witrless statements submitted by the Defence, four statements reveal that

Mr. Sang had attended the abovementioned football tournament from around

10:00/11:00 a.m. to 7:00/8:00 p.m. ls As to the fifth witness Statement, the inlormation

provides that Mr. Sang had lunch at his house together with others and'

subsequently, they all went to the tournament at around 2:00 p'm' on 30 December

2006.14 The Defence also provided pictures of Mr' Sang taken during the football

toumament.rs5

116.The Chamber, having examined the statement of Witness 8 and the statements

presented by the Defence in support of Mr' Sang's aliDr, is not persuaded to the

required evidentiary threshold that Mr. Sang attended the 30 December 2006

meeting. In particular, desPite the inconsistency between the fifth Defence witness

statement and the four other statements in terms of the time of Mr. Sang's presence at

the football toumament, the Chamber is of the view that, given the coherence of their

accounts, this discrepanry is not of such significance as to undermine the Defence

witnesses' statements. As such, the Chamber is satisfied that Mr. Sang might not

have attended the 30 December 2006 meeting.

,., ICC-01/09-0U11-T-11-CONF-ENG ET, p. 21.

r..o ICC-0U09-01/11-T-$ENG ET, p. 98.

Itr Statement of Mr. Sang, KEN-DI1-0007-0001 at 0002'

,, KEN-DI1-OOO$0037 at 0037-0038; KEN-D11-0005{051 at 0055; KEN-D1l-0005-0097 at 0097-0700;

KEN-D11-OOO'0l31 at 0131{133; KEN-D11-00O}O167 at 00167'

''r KEN-DI1-000t0051 at 0054.
r! KEN-D11-0005-0097 at 0@8.
,t, KEN-DI 1 -0001-@01 at 0001 to 0009.
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117' Nevertheless, the chamber wishes to emphasize that this finding does not
render wibress 8 unreriable. Nor does it negate the occurrence of the 30 December
2006 meeting itserf. The Chamber finds that the evidence fumished by wibness 8 with
respect to other parts of the 30 December 2006 meeting is persuasive. Moreover,
other witnesses report about follow up meetings of the 30 December 2006 meeting,
including the role of other members of the alleged Network and the topics that were
discussed in a similar manner as described by witsress g.rso

118. Further, the chamber recalls that in their live testimonies Mr. Cheramboss and
Reverend Kosgei denied their presence at the 30 December 2006 meeting. However,
given the circumstances surrounding Mr. Cheramboss, in terms of his aleged
involvement in the planning of the attack during the different meetings as one or
more of the Prosecutor's witnesses testified, the Chamber considers that the
probative value to be attached to his testimony is lowered. In particular, and as will
be explained in more detail later, the chamber underlines that different witnesses

described in detait the active role played by Mr. Cheramboss during the various

meetings within the alleged Nerwork. with regard to Reverend Kosgei, due to the

circumstances surrounding his alreged involvemen! which implies an interest in
denying his presence in the meeting, his testimony will arso be accorded lower
probative value. Moreover, Reverend Kosgei is reported to have made a derogatory

speech during a planning meeting, passages of which are quoted in deta by witness

8.r57

119. In light of these considerations, the Chamber is satisfied that there are

substantial grounds to believe that the 30 December 2006 meeting took place in the

presence of Mr. Ruto. Consequently, the Chamber may rely on this meeting for the

purposes of subsequent findings in the present decision.

r$ statement of witness 1, KEN-orp-0029- 0zz6 ar ozg4, og0,r0g05 (on the issue of availability of
funding); KEN-o1'P-C/J.28-0276 at 0796, 0800-0801 (on the role o( the three commanders attegeaty
responsible for the attack in the south Rift Valrey, centrar Rift Valley and North Rift valreyl; iuru-
OTP-0028-026 at 0806-0808 (on transportation issues and purchase of guns).
1r7 Statcment of Witness 8, KEN-OTp-0052-0694 at 0715.
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B. 75 Apil 2007 meeting

120.The Prosecutor contends that on 15 Apnl2007, an oath ceremony took place at

the Molo milk plant, as purported by witness 8.r$ witness 8 testified that both Mr'

Ruto and Mr. Sang were Present and that the oath took place "at night"'rse Reverend

Kosgei is also mentioned by the witness as amon8 those attending the ceremony.rs

The Chamber notes that Witness 8 explained in detail the procedure of the ceremony,

according to which Mr. Ruto and other imPortant representatives of the Kalenjin

community were sprinkled with blood of dogs previously slaughtered under the

supervision of a traditional elder.l6rMr. Ruto and others allegedly took an oath "to

kill the K.ikuyu mercilessly, the Kisiis mercilessly, the Kambas mercilessly. we will

kill them mercilesslY."162

121. At the confirmation hearing Reverend Kosgei denied his participation in the 15

April 2007 meeting.rs He also denied that taking oaths falls within any practice relied

on by Kalenjins and specified that "[i]t is an abominable to have oaths in Kalenjin'

They [...] they don't take oath. They fear oath"'164 Reverend Kosgei also pointed out

thatdogsareconsideredabominableanimalsandthatKaleniins,,don.tdo

ceremonies using dogs. During sacrifices that used to be done on mountains' the only

blood that could be shed is for[sic] ram ['.'] that is what was used commonly by

Kaleniins about 50 [...] 60 years ago".t65

122. Furthermore, the Defence of Mr. Ruto Produced a video showing him at a public

rally in Eldoret.r66 As to Mr. Sang, the Chamber notes his written statement wherein

he declared that on 14 April 2011 he was 100 kilometers away from Molo milk plant

r$ Statement of Witness & KEN-OTP'0052'0652 a.06764678'
re Statement of Witness & KEN-OTP{0524613 at0672'
r@ Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-CfJr52-0652, at 0684; KEN-OTP-0035-0087

16r Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0613 ar 06744677 '

t62 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-N52-0652 a|0677 '

,or IcC-0t/@-01/11-T-1 I -CoNF-ENG ET, pp. 88-89.

ta tCC-o1/09-01/11-T-11-CONF-ENG ET, pp. 28

16' ICC-01/09-01/1 1-T-1 1-CONF-ENG ET, p. 29.

'+6 
KEN-D09-0013-0009 at 00]1.
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with other people, including Kass FM staff, attending the funeral of a prominent
musician.167 The day after, Mr. Sang avers, he went back to Nairobi.rs

i23. The Chamber considers that the video disclosed by the Defence of Mr. Ruto,

which allegedly shows the first Suspect at a public rally in Eldoret is not
authenticated and the date and prace of the event are simply added by way of a cover
page inserted at the beginning of the video. In additiory taking into consideration

that witress 8 used the expression "at night" as the temporar framework for the 15

April 2007 meeting, the Chamber is of the view that the attendance of Mr. Ruto at the

rally in Eldoret wou.ld not be per se incompatible with the gathering alleged by

wihess 8. The same holds true for Mr. sang who declared to be traveling back to
Nairobi from a location which is 100 kilometers away from the place of the alreged 15

April 2007 meeting. This does not precrude, in principle, Mr. sang from attending the

15 April 2007 meeting as recollected by Witness g.

124. with regard to the live testimony of Reverend Kosgei, the Chamber has arready

explained in paragraph 118 its position on the testimony given by this particular

witness in the specific circumstances outrined above. Accordingly, the chamber does

not consider that the asserted discrepancy between the references to dogs as the

animals used during the 15 Aprir 2002 meeting and the testimony of Iteverend

Kosgei in that regard is of such a nature as to invaridate the credib ity of the

testimony of Witness 8 in relation to the 1S April 2007 meeting.

125. The Chamber wishes to point out that its finding according a higher probative

value to the account of witness g is supported by the deta ed description provided

by the witness, which reflects consistency and clarity. Moreover, the Chamber

underlines that within the series oI other ptanning meetings, Witnesses 7, 2, 6 and g

reiterate that Mr. Ruto had the areged intention to k l members of the Kikuyu

I6, KEN-D11-0007-0001 at OOO3
rcc KEN-D'l 1-0007-0001 at 0003
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community.l6gTherefore,havingconsideredatltheevidencerelatedtothe15April

2007 meeting, the Chamber is satisfied that there are substantial grounds to believe

that such meeting took place in the presence of Mr' Ruto and Mr' Sang'

Consequently, the Chamber may rely on this meetin8 for the purposes of subsequent

findiags in the present decision'

C. Meeting at Siikua Hotel Q Septembet 2007)

126. The chamber notes that a meeting that altegedly took place at the sirikwa Hotel

on 2 september 2007 is disputed by the parties. This meeting and its contents are

described by witnesses 1 and 8.170 Both Mr. Ruto and Mr' Sang are said to have

participated.r7r The meeting was allegedly sponsored by Kass FM'tz According to

Witness 8, Reverend Kosgei and Mr. Cheramboss both made a speech'tz

127. In Mr. Sang's Final Written Observationt the Defence of Mr' Sang submitted

that Witnesses 1 and 8 presented inconsistent informahon to the effect that the same

alleged meeting at the sirikwa hotel was held on rwo different dates.rT{ In this

respect, the Chamber after having reviewed these statements, observes that

Witnesses 1 and 8 subsequently rectified the mixed-up dates'r7s

12g. Tuming to witness 8',s assertion that Reverend Kosgei and Mr. Cheramboss

attended this meeting, the Chamber recalls that at the conlirmation hearing,

Reverend Kosgei maintained that he has never been in any meeting with Mr'

Cheramboss.lT6 For his part, Mr. Cheramboss declared that he has never participated

r6e statement of witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0652 at 0677; See for example KEN-O'|P-m,52-0729 at 0737:

srarement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-1532 at 1543; KEN-OTP-0O2&1532 at 1546; KEN-OTP4O28-

1587 at 1593-1594; Statement of witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0226,line 642 and ff; statement of witness

2, KEN-OTP-0055-021 I at 0214-0215.
rD Statemenr of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0495 at Oy8; KEN-OTP{02&00776 at07 to 0824; KEN-

OTP-0028-1358 at 1372-1373; Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0694 at 0706 to 0717 '

r7r Statement of Witness I, KEN-OTP{02*0776 at 07, 0794, 0803, 0805 and 0824'

tz Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP{0524694 at0705'
1D Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0694 at 0715-

rr{ ICC-01/09-01/11-354, paras 43(a) and 101.

1- Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0057-m40, at 0042-0045 and KEN-OTP-0057-02U, at 02+G0241.

Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0694, at 0699,07OG0707 '

r?6 ICC-01 /09-01 /1 1 -T-1 1-CONF-F.NC ET, pp.22-23.
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in any meeting at the sirikwa Hotelz and, more genera-uy, that he has never taken

Part in any meeting with Mr. Ruto.r78

131.In addition, the description of witness 8 about the 2 september 2007 meeting,

including the speech made by Reverend Kosgei, is precise and detailed. Further, the

reference of witness 1 to the role that Mr. cheramboss a egedly played during the

o, lcc-07/@-01117-T-7-CONF-ENC ET, p. 31.
rn ICC-o1/09-01/t 1-T-7-CONF-ENG ET, pp. 52-55.
r7e KEN-D11-0005-0042 at 00112-0O43; KEN-D -OOq5-0085 at 0087, KEN_Dt 1-0005.0140 at O14GO14l.
re statement of witness r, KEN-orp-0028-0776 at 08064808. statement of witness 8 KEN-orp-0052-
0694 ar 0709-0772.
rsrstatement of witness 1. KEN-or?-002g-0zz6 at ozg4,0go4 and 0805. statement of witness & KEN-
OTP-0052-0694 at 0706.
r8? statement of witness 1, KEN-orp-0028-0zz6 at 0806, o8o7 and 0808. starement of wihress 8, KEN-
OTP-0052-0694 at 714.
r8r statement of witness 6, KEN-orp-0044-ooo3 at 0015{016, 0o25, @27; KEN-orp-0051{I35 at 0193,
0195; KEN-orP-0057-0207 at o2t9-u220,.0226, 0227; KEN-orp-0051-025 6 at 0271: KEN-orp-oos1-0349
at 0368-0369, 03954400. sratemenr of witness 2, KEN-orp-0029-0131 at 0141,0143; KEN-orp{053-
0256 at 0267. Statenrenr of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0O3] -0085 at 0092_0093.

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 481139 23 January 2Ol2

129' The Defence team of Mr. sang relies on three statements from the Generar

Manager, the Front office Manager and another emproyee of the sirikwa Hoter.

All tfuee witrresses declared that no event was booked, under the sponsorship of
Kass FM, by either Mr. Ruto or Mr. Sang during the month of September 2007.w

130. The Chamber stresses that the testimonies of Witrresses 1 and g conceming the
2 september 2007 meeting corroborate each other to a significant extent.

More specifically, the Chamber observes that both witnesses gave evidence about the

same topics that were allegedly discussed by Mr. Ruto and other participants in the 2

September 2007 meeting, including: (i) an update on the weapons obtained thus

far;te (ii) money and fundraising;r8r and (iii) the issue of transportarion of material
perpekators to and from the target locations.r82 The Chamber also notes that these

topics are consistently referred to by the same witnesses as well as by wirresses | 4

and 5 in relation to different planning meetings.rs
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2 September 2007 meeting and more generally within the alleged Network is

compatible with other references made by other witnesses such as Witness 6 re

132. In light of all these considerationt the Chamber is of the view that the tfuee

statements provided by the Defence of Mr. sang do not undermine the probative

value to be attached to the evidence given by witnesses 1 and 8 as explained above.

Therefore, the Chamber finds that there are substantial grounds to believe that the

2 September 2007 meeting took place in the presence of Mr' Ruto and Mr' Sang and,

thus, the Chamber may rely on such meeting for the purposes of subsequent findings

in the present decision.

D. 2Nooembu 2007 meeting

133. The next preparatory meeting which is challenged by the Defence of Mr. Ruto

and Mr. Sang had purportedly taken place at Mr. Ruto's residence, in his presence'

on 2 November 2007. witrresses 1 and 8 gave evidence about this meeting, in which

Mr. Sang and Mr. Cheramboss, among other& allegedly participated'rs Both

witnesses refer to 10:00 a.m. as the time when they arrived at the 2 November 2m7

meeting.relnaddition,Witnesslspecifiedthatthemeetinglasteduntilthe

evening.lr

134. As already recalled, during the confirmation hearing, Mr. Cheramboss testified

that he has never been to Mr. Ruto',s house and, more generally. that he has never

had any meeting with Mr. Ruto.ls In his unswom statement Mr. Ruto also denied

that Mr. Cheramboss has ever "stePPed in t. '.1 tMr. Ruto'sl house"'r6e tn additiory the

Dcfence team oI Mr. Ruto disclosed a video showing his whereabouts in KaPkatet,

fr statement of witness l, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0796,0800, 0801 and 0824; KEN-OTP-0028-1358 at

7372-1373. Statemenr of witness 6, KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at ool5-0016 0o22-N23, 0027; KEN-OTP-

000044-0142; KEN-OTP-0051-0207 A222,0223; KEN-OTP-0051-02S at 0262-0267; KENOTP-0051'

0349 at 0374; KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0415-0420,0450 and 0461; KEN-OTP-0051-093 at 1012-1013.

rs5 see the sketch of witness & KEN-OTP40354092. Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0Z/6 at

07810784 and KEN-OTP-0028-1358 at'136e,,7 7.

re statemenr of witness l, KEN-OTP-0028-0713 at 0751. Statement of witness 8, KEN-OTP{052-0729

at 0733.
rs7 Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP402&0713 at 0751.

rs8 tCC-01/09-0U11-T-7-CONF-ENG ET, pp. 11-12; ICC'01/@-01n l-T-7-CONF-ENC ET, PP' 52-55'
,8, ICC-01/09-01n I -T'5'ENG El p. 98.

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 491't39 23 January 2012
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addressing the audience during an oDM ralry.rm rhe Chamber notes that witness g

mentioned, among the attendees of this meeting Frederick Kapondi (,,Mr.

Kapondi").," In this regard, the Defence of Mr. Ruto produced a letter from the

prison service certifying that Mr. Kapondi was alregedry incarcerated between 17

Apnl 2007 and 14 Decemb er 20o7.\e rhe retter is accompanied by fwo newspaper

articles commenting on his release, which occurred on 14 Decemb€r 2002,re3

135.The Defence team of Mr. sang also cha enged the presence of the suspect at

Mr. Ruto's house and presented, to that effect, a statement of the Managing Director

of Kass FM, who stated that Mr. Sang ,,was at Kass FM studio on the days

[2 November, 6 December and 14 Decemb er 20o7)" and that "any alegation that he

was somewhere else from the station is untrue".rq rhis, in the view of the Defence,

would corroborate the statement of Mr. sang himself, in which he declared that on

2 November 2007 he was working at Kass FM.res

136. with regard to the video showing Mr. Ruto at Kapkatet, the Chamber recalls its

reasoning in paragraph 123 above, and observes that the video at issue lacks

authentication with regard to the date of the event, which is displayed only by way

of cover page added at the beghning of the video f e. This, in the view of the

Chamber, undermines the probative value of such item of evidence. Conceming the

letter from the prison services and the newspaper articles alegedly proving that one

of the attendees, namely Mr. Kapondi, was incarcerated on 2 November 2007 and

thus not in a position to participate in the meeting under discussion, the Chamber is

satisfied that this might have been the case. Nevertheless, the Chamber notes the

'ro KEN-D09-0013-0009 at 0020.
rel See the sketch of Witness & KEN-OTP-0035-0092

'e, KEN-D09-0008-0001 at 0001.
rer KFN-D09{00&0001 at @02-0003.
Ie See KEN-D11-0005-0136 at 0136.
r,5 KEN-D] l -0007,0001 at 0003.

No. ICC-01/09.01/rl 501139 23 January 2012
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presence of Mr. Kapondi at a subsequent meeting on 14 December 2007. again at Mr'

Ruto's house, as reported by both Witnesses 2 and 8.rx

137. Under these circumstances, the Chamber is of the view that the reference by

Witness 8 to Mr. Kapondi as one of the attendees of the 2 November 2007 meeting

may be the result of an oversight about the recollection of the evmts between this

meeting and the one held on 14 December 2002 both hosted by Mr. Ruto. Moreover,

the Chamber notes that Mr. Kapondi was not among the speakers of these two

meetings and that in both instances the lists of attendees include several individuals,

thus increasing the possibilify of oversight between two events reported by the same

witness.

138. Thus, the assertion that Mr. Kapondi was not in attendance at the 2 November

2007 meeting due to his detention does not undermine the very existence of such

meeting, as supported by the testimony of Witnesses 1 and 8.

139. In this regard, the Chamber srresses that the testimonies of Witnesses 1 and 8

regarding the 2 November 2007 meeting corroborate each other. In addition, the

topics discussed during this meehng, including the role of Mr' Cheramboss, match

with the topics of the different meetings ptanning the events under consideration as

recollected by the same wiEresses.le This information is corroborated by witnesses 2,

4 and 6.rs In this respect, the Chamber recalls its previous finding in ParagraPh 118

on the probative value to be attached to Mr. Cheramboss' testimony, and as such, his

testimony shall be accorded low probative value.

140. Lastly, the Chamber considers that the temporal referencc provided by witness 1

for the 2 November 2007 meeting, namely that it lasted until the evening, does not

r% statement of witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-1007 at 1036 and Statement of witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-

0136 at 0152.
re7 Statement of Witness l, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0796, 0800, 0801 0805; 0806, 0807 and 0808.

Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OT?-0052-M29 at 07524753,0753,0765.
rq sratement of witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0141; KEN-OTP-0055-0163 at 01(t60167; Statement

of Witness 6; KEN-OTP-0051-0207 at 0279,0226; KEN-OTP-0051-0349 at 0395-0396; Statement of

witness 4; KEN-OTP-0031 -0085 at 0@0, 0092-0093.

No. ICC-O1/09-01/Il s1lr39 23 January 2012
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rule out the possibility that Mr. Sang although normally at work, had made

arrangements to participate in the gathering.

141.In light of these considerations, and having weighed the evidence presented by

the Defence teams of Mr. Ruto and Mr. sang against the testimonies of witnesses 1

and 8, the Chamber is satisfied that there are substantial grounds to believe that the

2 November 2007 meeting took place in the presence of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang.

Accordingly, the Chamber may rery on said meeting for the purposes of subsequent

findings in the present decision.

143. During his questionin& Mr. Cheramboss declared that on 6 December 2007, he

was not in the company of Mr. Ruto.u In a statement under inquiry given by Mr.

Ruto, the suspect declared that "[he does] not remember the specific date. However,

[he] remembers conducting a rally at Kipkaren [...] and there is not a single time [...]

[he] incited [...] Kenyans against the Kikuyus".:os Mr. Sang contested his presence at

such meeting by relying on his written statement as well as on the abovementioned

statement of the Managing Director of Kass FM.26

ls Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052{1821 ar 0829-0835
,m Statement of witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0831.
,or KEN-OTP-0052{E21 at 0835.
@ Statement of Witness & KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0831.
,or KEN-OTP-0052-0974 ar 0831.
,or ICC-0U09-01/1i-T-7-CONF-ENc ET, p. 62.
,05 KEN-D09-0007-0057 at 0062-
e See K EN-DI 'l-0005-0]36 at 0t 36

No. ICC-01/09-0r/rl 52/139 23 January 2012

E. Kipkatret Salient Trailing Cetter meetiag (6 December 2007)

142. on 6 December 2007, a meeting at Kipkarren salient Trading Center is alleged to

have taken place by wit.ress 8.1e rhe witness contends that the gathering lasted from

9:30 a.m. to 2:00 p.m.2@ According to Witsress 8, Mr. Sang was the master of

ceremony;2or Mr. Ruto made a speectr,m and Mr. Cheramboss was also in

attendance.20
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144. The Chamber recalls its previous finding in paragraph 118 regarding the

probative value of Mr. Cheramboss's testimony, and as such, it considers that his

testimony shall be accorded low probative value.

145. With respect to the written statement of Mr. Sang the Chamber also recalls its

eariier finding that the suspect's mere alleged involvement in the commission of

crimes does not automatically lead to the exclusion of his/her evidence. Nor does this

result, as a matter of principte, in providing the evidence low probative value.

Rather, the weight to be accorded to such evidence will depend on a case'by-case

assessment. However, having weighed the statements provided by Mr Sang and the

Managing Director of Kass FM against the evidence presented as a whole, the

Chamber is persuaded that Mr. Sang was present in this meeting.

146. The Chamber points out that in his recollection of the meeting, Witness 8

mentions in detail some passages of the speech made by Mr. Ruto.2@ The Chamber

considers that the expressions and topics allegedly spelled out by Mr' Ruto during

the 6 December 2007 meeting as described by Witness 8 match with those recollected

by him with respect to other preParatory meetings. Moreover, the information

provided by Witness 8 is corroborated by the testimony of other witness€s, including

Witnesses L,2, 4 and 6, who attended different planning meetings.26

147. In light of the above, the Chamber considers that the evidence presented by the

Defence teams of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang does not undermine the probative value to

be attached to the evidence provided by Witness 8 in relation to the 6 December 2007

meeting. Therefore, the Chamber is of the view that there are substantial grounds to

believe that this meeting took place in the presence of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang.

e7 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0832.
2m Statement of Witness 1, KEN-O1?-0028-0773 at 0760-0768 and 0770; KEN-OTP-0028-026 at 0794,

0804 and 0805; KEN-OTP-0028-1246 at 1297; KEN-OTP-Cf,.57-O762 at0774-0175; KEN-OTP-0057-0181 at

0187-0188,0200, 0203 and 0212. Statement of witness 6, KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at 0015-00.15,0025 and

0027; KEN-OTP-0051{207 at 022G0227; KEN-OTP-0051-0255 at 0271; KEN-OTP-00514349 at 0368-

0369, 0395-0395, Moo; KEN-OTP-0051-0467 at 0498. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP4029{131
at0l40-0141; KF.N-OTP-0053-0256 at 0264. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0092-0093.

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 53/139 23 January 2012
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Accordingly, the Chamber may rely on this meeting for the purposes of subsequent

findings in the present decision.

F, Meetings at Mt. Cherumboss' house @ecember 2(N7)

ltlt}. The Prosecutor alleges that Mr. Cheramboss hosted two planning meetings with

Mr. Ruto and other members of the alleged Network during the month of December

2007. The evidence about these meetings is given by Witsress 6.26 At the confirmation

hearing, Mr. Cheramboss denied having ever hosted meetings in his house in the

presence of Mr. Ruto or others.2ro

149.The Chamber stresses that, in recollecting the two meetings which allegedly took

place at Mr. Cheramboss' house, Witness 6 gives evidence on severai different

aspects pertaining to the structure, functioning, activities and roles of the members of

the alleged Network, including Mr. Ruto and Mr. Cheramboss. The Chamber

observes that the description of these topics by Witness 6 finds corroboration in the

testimony of other witnesses who report about diJferent preparatory meetings,

including the testimony of Witnesses 1,2, 4 and 8.21r Moreover, the Chamber recalls

its previous finding at paragraph 118 that Mr. Cheramboss' testimony will be given

low probative value.

150. Having weighed the evidence presented by the parties conceming these two

meetings, the Chamber finds that there are substantial grounds to believe that said

meetings took place in the presence of Mr. Ruto. Accordingly, the Chamber may rely

on them for the purposes of the present decision.

D Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0135 at 0169-0223; sketch of Witness 6 on the list of
attendees at KEN-OTP-0044-0044; KEN-OTP-0O444003 at 0025; KEN-OTP-0051-09M at 0964-0965;
KEN-OTP-0044-0003, at 0015, 0016, 0022-0025, 0027; KEN-OTP-0051-0199 at 0200-0203; KEN-OTP-
0051{207 at A216 arrd 0224; KEN-OTP-0051-0256, at U275-9278; KEN-OTP-00514405 at 0417 and M21;
KEN-OTP-0051-0467 at 0519; KEN-OT?-msl-0524 at 0528-0529 and 0578; KEN-OTP-oOs1{993 ar 1012-
1013; KEN-OTP-0051-0349 at 0366-M03; KEN-OTP4OS1-0405 at 0441-O159.
,r0 ICC-o1/09-01/l l-T-7-CONF-ENG El p. 15.
2rr Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0713 at 0760-0770; KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0794,0800, 0803-
0808; KEN-OTP-0028-@73 at 1038; KEN-OTP-0028-1358 at 1365 and 1372-1373, Statement of Witness 8

KEN-OTP-0052-0513 at 0549, KEN-OTP-0052-0694 at 0706,0711, 0712; KEN-OT?-0052{821 at 0843,

0871, and KEN-OTP-0052{850 at 0852. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0140-0141;
KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 02&. Statenrent of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0092-0093.

No. ICC-O1/09-01/r1 511"t39 23 Jznuary 2Ol2
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G, 74 December 2007 meeting

151. On 14 December 2007, according to the Prosecutor, a meeting at Mr' Ruto's

house took place in the presence of, inter alia, Mr. sang Mr. Cheramboss and several

others,2l2 Witnesses 2 and 8 report on this meeting.2r3 The Chamber notes a certain

discrepancy between the rwo witnesses on the timing of the meeting. whereas

Witness 2, in one interview sessiorL declared that the meeting was underway when

he arrived at about 7:30 p.m.,2ra in another interview the witsress stated that he

arrived at around 2:00 p.m. and that the meeting concluded between 3:00 and 4:00

p.m.2r5 On the other hand, Witsress 8 described the 14 December 2007 meeting as

lasting between 10:00/11:00 a.m. and 2:0012.30 p.m.216

152. The chamber recalls that at the confirmation hearing, Mr. Cheramboss denied

his participation in any meeting at Mr' Ruto's house on 14 December 2007 or

elsewhere during that period.2rT Mr. Ruto, in his unswom statement, contended that

Mr. Cheramboss has never been to his house.2rE Moreover, the Defence team of Mr.

Ruto disclosed a video showing him arriving by heticopter at an ODM rally in

Amagoro.2re

153. The Defence of Mr. sang also raised an alibi by presenting the statement of

Mr. Sang himself, supported by the statement of the Managing Director of Kass FM,

confirming the presence of Mr. sang at work on 14 December 2007.n The Defence

team of Mr. sang pointed out that Mr. Kapondi, one of the attendees alleged at the

meeting by both Witnesses 2 and 8, was released from iail on that very same day at

,t1 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-1007 at 1038, 1041'

n3 statement of wihess 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 08374849 and KEN-OTP-0052-0850 at 0851 to 0875'

statement of witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 014G0143; KEN-OTP-005!0256 at 0263-0264' 026G

0268;KEN.oTP.0055-0135at0150-0154;KEN-oTP-00554163at0182.0183;KEN-oTP-0055.0211at
0212-0215.
2r. Statement of witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0140.

2rt Statement of W hess 2, KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 0266.

,16 KEN-OTP{052-0821 at 0E39 and KEN-OTP40524821at 0842'

,,, ICC-o1/09-01/11-T-7-CONF-ENG ET, P. 62.

,'8 ICC-01/09-01/l I -T-5-ENG ET, p.98.
,re KEN-D09-001!00O9 at 0013.
2r0 See KFN-Dl l -0005-0135 at 0136.

No. ICC-01/09-0r/ll ss/139 23 January 2012
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11:00 a.m'21 such detail, in the view of the Defence of Mr. Sang is incompatibre with
Mr. Kapondi's attendance at the meeting at issue.z

154. At the outset, the chamber wishes to srress that the testimonies of witnesses 2

and 8 as to the 14 December 2007 meeting corroborate each other to a mnsiderable

extent. More specifically, the Chamber notes that the two witnesses speak in depth
about several topics allegedly discussed during the meeting incruding: (i) the terms

of the alleged plan to evict members of Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii communiries in
order to retum the land to the Kaleniins;u (ii) the amount and type of weapons

available and their purposes;z2' ard (iii) the sum of money distributed by Ruto to the

attendees.E

155. with regard to the video of Mr. Ruto ianding by helicopter and addressing an

audience in Amagoro, the Chamber reiterates its argument in paragraph 123 above.

Accordingly, the Chamber considers that since the video disclosed by the Defence of
Mr. Ruto is not authenticated, its probative value is significantly diminished.

157. Tuming to the argument of the incongruity of Mr, Kapondi's attendance of the

14 December 2007 meeting with his detention and release from prison, the Chamber

is of the view that the discrepancy between the time of his release and the time in

,,r ICC-01/@-01l11-T-9-CONF-ENC ET, p. 80.
z,, ICC-o1/09-01/l l -T-g-CONF-ENC ET, p. 80.
2r stat€ment of witness 8, KEN-orp-0052-0821 at 0946. statement of witness 2, KEN-orp-0029-0131
at 0140. 0145; KEN-OTP{053-0256 ar 0264.

"1 stalement of witness 8, KEN-orp-0052-0850 at 0g52, 0g55, 0g71. statement of witness 2, KEN-orp-
0029-0i31 at 0141, 0143-0144; KEN-orp-0053-m56 at 0267-0258; KEN-orp-0051o256 ar 0267.
ut statement of witness 8, KEN-orp-0052-0850 at 0851{852. statement of witness 2, KEN-orp-0029-
0l3l at 014'1.

No. ICC-oU09-01/ll 561139 23 January 2012

156. on the other hand, while cognizant of the inconsistency between witness 2 and g

as to the timing of the meeting at stake, the chamber is equally attentive to the

remaining parts of the testimonies of the two witnesset as well as the detailed aad

coherent description provided by them. In light of this, said inconsistency does not

appear sufficient to undermine the value of the testimonies of witnesses 2 and g as a

whole.
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which the meeting took place is not, in principle, irreconcilable. According to his

statement, Witness 2 stated that said meeting took place sometime between 2:00 p'm'

and 4:00 p.m. witness 8 stated that the meeting started between 10:00 and 11:00 a.m.

and ended sometime between 2:00 and 2.30 p.m. This suggests that despite tJre slight

time discrepancy mentioned by the two witnesses, their statements reveal a common

view, namely that this meeting was ongoing at 2:00 p.m. Thus, the fact that Mr'

Kapondi was released at 11:00 a.m. does not negate the possibility that he could have

attended said meeting wfuch was underway almost three hours later'

15g. Finally, as regards the statement presented by the Managing Director of Kass FM

that Mr. sang was working at the seat of Kass FM on 14 December 2007, the Chamber

finds the testimonies of witnesses 2 and 8 to have a higher probative value due to the

detailed and comprehensive description of the meeting they provide' Thus, the

evidence provided by the Prosecutor, when weighed aSainst that of the Defence, is

sufficient for the Chamber to find that there are substantial grounds to believe that

said meeting took place in the presence of Mr. Ruto and Mr. sang. It follows that the

Chamber may rely on this meeting for the purposes of the present decision'

H, 22 Decetber 2007 meeting

l,sg.Ot]- 22 December 2007, another plaruring meeting was allegedly organized at

Mr. Ruto's house, as alteged by witness 4.26 The Defence team of Mr. Ruto disclosed

a video which allegedly shows Mr. Ruto in attendance of a political rally in Kisumu

on that date.P

!:5 Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-00314065 at 0091 and ff
?,7 KEN-D09-0013-0009 at 0019.

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 571139 23 January 2012

150. The Chamber recalls its reasoning in paragraph 123 above and considers that the

lack of authentication of the video relied upon by the Defence team of Mr' Ruto

undermines the probative value of such item. Moreover, the chamber considers that

the recollection of topics discussed by witness 4 regarding said meeting is detailed,

coherent and matches with the information provided by Witnesses 1' 2 and 8
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conceming the same topics disossed in other planning meetings.a Thug the

Chamber is satisfied that there are substantial grounds to believe that the 22

December 2007 meeting took place in the presence of Mr. Ruto. Accordingly, the

chamber may rely on this meeting for the purposes of subsequent findings in the

present decision.

\/I. CONTEXTUAL ELEMENTS OF CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

161. The Chamber will hereunder advance its analysis as to whether or not the

Prosecutor has provided sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to

believe that the contextual elements corunon to all crimes against humanity are

fulfilled. only if there is an affirmative finding, the Chamber will proceed to examine

the specific elements conceming each of the crimes charged.

162. For the purposes of this section and subsequent sections of the Decisiory the

Chamber recalls its legal analysis and findings on the law concerning the contextual

and specific elements of crimes against humanity as conducted in its previous

decisions, including the 31 March 2010 Decision, and sees no reason either to

reiterate them to the full extent or to depart from them.ze rhe chamber will analyze

only issues that are controversial and/or unexplored in the jurisprudence of the

Court.

163. In accordance with article 7(1) and (2)(a) of the statute and with the assistance of

of the Elements of Crimes, all crimes against humanity require contextual elements to

be satisfied, namely that: (i) an attack against the civilian population took place; (ii)

such attack was widespread or systematic; and (iii) such attack was committed

pursuant to or in furtherance of a State or organisational poliry to commit such

attack.

u See the previous references in this Section,
@ Pre-Trial Chamber n, "Decision Pu6uant to Article l5 of the llome stahrte on the Authorization of
an Investigation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya',, ICC-01/09-19-Corr, para. Z7-99; See also
Pre-Trial Chanrbcr II, Bemba Conf irmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05-01lOB-424, ?a'?s 7}N.
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A. Existtnce of an attack agaitst the ciailian population

164. Under article 7(2)(a) of the Statute, an'attack' is defined as "a course of conduct

involving the multiple commission of acts [...]".r0 11',it Chamber has previously held

that.an attack may also be defined as a camPaiSn or operation.23t The Chamber also

notes that the qualifier "any civilian population" has been previously interPreted to

mean "groups distinguishable by nalionality, etlrricity or other distinguishing

features".r2 In the view of the Chamber, the civilian population targeted can include

a group de6ned by its (perceived) political affiliation.

165. In the Amended DCC, the Prosecutor alleges that from on or about 30 December

2007 through 31 January 2008 "Network PerPetrators were responsible for no less

than 9 attacks in different locations targeting PNU suPPorters".B These attacks,

according to the Prosecutor, were carried out in Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area

(Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas and Yamumbi), Kapsabet town and Nandi

Hills town, in the Uasin Gishu and Nandi Districts.a

166. At the outset, the Chamber notes that the Defence teams of the Suspects did not

challenge the fact that Kenya, including the Uasin Gishu and Nandi Districts,

experienced intense violence during the period referred to in the Amended DCC, but

strongly opposed the alleged, organized and policy-driven nature of such violence.s

ln the course of the questioning by the Legal Representative of victims, the live

wibresses proffered by the Defence of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang also acknowledged that

the Rift Valley, among other Kenyan provincet was a theatre of criminal acts as of

e Article 7(2)(a) of the Statute.
tst Pre-Trial Chamber ll, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC{l/05-01/0*424, parc.75;Pre'

Trial Chamber ll, "Decision Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute on the Authorizition of an

Investi8ation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya", ICC'01/09-19-Corr, para. 80.

e Pre-Trial chamber II, ,,Decision Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome statute on the Authorization of

an lnvestigation into the Situation in the RePublic of Kenya" (the "31 March 2010 Decision"), ICC-

0l/@-19-Corr, para. 81; Pre-Trial Chamber ll, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, tCC{1/05-
OltO8-424, para. 76; Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", \CC-07104-0U07-

777 , pan. 399 .
zrr ICC-0U09-01/11 -261, para. 37.
,]1 ICC-01/09-01n 1-261, para. 38.
1n ICC-01/09-01/i 1-T'5-ENC ET, pp. 86, 99'100 and 103.
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the end of December 2007, in which people were injured, killed or displaced and had

their houses and businesses destroyed, bumt or looted.&

767.Havng reviewed the evidence as a whole, the Chamber considers that there a-re

substantial grounds to believe that, from 30 December 2007 to 16 January 2009, large

gangs of Kalenjin individuals armed with, inter alia, machetes, pangag bows, arrows,

petrol cans and firearms, carried out an aftack in the specific locations referred to in

the counts, within the meaning of article 7(1) and 7(2)(a) of the Statute, against

particular ethnic groups of the civilian population (primarily Kikuyu, Kamba and

Kisii), who were perceived to be PNU supporters. The Chamber, however, is not

satisfied that the Prosecutor has provided sufficient evidence to establish substantial

grounds to believe that an attack within the meaning of said provisions occurred

after 16 January 2008.

168.ln order to properly substantiate its findings with regard to the existence of an

attack against the civilian population as well as the analysis of the other contextual

and specific elements of the crimes against humanity charged in the Amended DCC,

the Chamber slresses that the evidence as a whole indicates that there are substantial

grounds to believe that the attack referred to above is attributable to one and the

same group of Kaleniin perpetrators, which did not act randomly and in a

disconnected manrer. Rather, the Chamber finds that different groups of

perpetrators carried out the attack against the specific subset of the civilian

population, namely perceived PNU supporters, in the four locations included in the

counts following a unified, concerted and pre-determined strategy. To reach this

conclusion, the Chamber relies on the testimonies of insider witnesset specificatly

Witrresses 1,,2, 4, 6 and 8 as well as other pieces of evidence.

169. The Chamber highlightg in particular, two factors. First, groups of the civilian

population and the target locations included in the counts were identified in

& See also the questioning by the Legal Representative of victims to witness KEN-D09-P-0001 (lCC-
01/@-01/11-T-7-Red-ENC WT, pp.40a4, witness KEN-Dl1-P-0002 0CC-0V09-01/i 1-T-10-Red-ENG
WT, pp.79-81); and witness KEN-D'I'l-P'0001 (lCC-01/09-01/11-T- l l-Red-ENG Wl, pp.63,65).

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 601139 23 January 2012



ICC-or/09-0t/t r,373 23-01-2012 6li 173 FB PT

advance.u The Chamber observes that Witsress 8 testified that during the 30

December 2006 meeting, maps marking locations densely inhabited by members of

Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii communities were distributed by Mr. Ruto himself.Eg

According to the witness, these locations included, inter alia, Turbo town, Kiambaa,

Kapsabet and Nandi Hills town.Be These locations, as previously found, were made

the obiect of the attack between 30 December 2oo7 and 16 January 2008. The evidence

also indicates that within each location, houses and business premises associated

with specific ethnic groups perceived to be suPPorters of the PNU were singled out

to be targeted, as opposed to others to be kept safe.'?o With regard to the latter

category, for example, properties owned by Kaleniins were marked with numbers,

symbols or branches in order to be immunized from attacks.2ar The identification of

the target locations and the houses and businesses therein was done during the

months preceding the attack and/or during the execution of the attack. The Chamber

underlines that those tasked with identifying "enemy" properties were regularly

giving updates to their superiors during some of the planning meetings which took

place in December 2007.2a2

?l7 Statement of Wihess 1, KEN-OTP-OO2&0556 at 0558; KEN-OTP-0m8-0915 ar @22, @37ry , @44'

0946; KEN-OT?-0028-1358 at 7397-7998, 1417-7422; and KEN-OTP-00574250 at 02554257' Statement

of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055{083 at 0089. Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0O5.I4207, at 0224; KEN-

OTP-0051-0256, at 0275-9278; KEN-OTP-00514405, at 0415 and M22 to 0424; KEN-OTP-0051-0524 at

0528 and 0578 to 05E0.
4 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526 at 0559, 0562 and ff. see also exhibit produced by the

wihess at KEN-OT?-0035-0081.
2-u Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0571 at 0584-0586.
2.o Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0915 at 0960 to 0963; KEN-OTP-OO28-@73 at 098O{981,

0993 to 0995. Sratement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP{0554083 at 0089. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-

0031-0085 at 0098. statement of witnes 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055. Statement of witness 6, KEN-

OTP-0051-0405, at 0421 to M24, 0528; KEN-OTP-0051-0'157 at 0511 to 0514; KEN-OTP-0051-0524 at

052&0529 and 0578 to 0580; KEN-OTP-0051-0590 at 06Ol to 0606; KEN-OTP-0051-0622 at 0633 to 0639;

KEN-OTP-0051-093 at 10@; KEN-OTP-O001-0002 at 0066.

r.r Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055. The witness testified that Kalenjin people

were identifying and marking Kalenjin houses with numbers 4 or 6 as well as with calabashes. The

witness explains that the calabash is a Kaleniiin symbol, commonly used to mark Kaleniin houses and

properties. On the symbolic role of the calabash see also the statement of witness 6 KEN-OTP-0051-

O3O1 at 0320-0321. In the Summary of a nonlCC Statement of Witness, it is rePorted that "ProPerties

belonging to Kalenjins were being marked with branches so as they would not be attacked or looted"

(KEN-OTP-oos1-0724).
2rl Statement of Witness 6, KF,N-OTP-005'l -0256, ar 0275-0278.
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170. Second, some of the perpetrators who were in charge of such identilication

during the preparatory phase were subsequently deployed on the ground to

materially execute the attack and/or to assist and direct others to do so.2.3 This would

ensure that, during the attack, physical perpetrators would exclusively target enemy

communities.2{

171.In the view of the chamber, the evidence demonstrates that the physical

perpehators approached the target locations from the nearby areas and started

buming properties, looting, inluring and kilring people.2as Thc existence of an attack

is conJirmed by Witnesses 1,,2,4,5 and 6.16 The evidence provided by these

witnesses corroborate each other and provide a clear picture of the events on the

ground from the perspective of either participants in the attack or people who

personally saw physical perpetrators carrying out acts of burning destruction,

looting and killing. In addition, the Chamber notes that several sources of indirect

evidence reflect the devastation and amount of victims created by the attack in the

locations mentioned in the charges.2rT

1'72.The chamber is also satisfied that there are substantial grounds to believe that

the attack aimed at targeting the civilian population, primarily members of the

2a, Statement of Witness 6 KEN-OTP-0051-02%, at 0275-ttZB; KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0421; KEN-
OTP{051-0524 at 0528{529 and 0578; KEN-OTP-00514590 at 0615.
2( ln the Summary of a statement of a nonlCC Witness, it is stated that after the church in Kiambaa
was bumt some Kalenjin leaders present on the ground "criticized the youth for having burned
women and children when they were only supposed to kill Kikuyu men,, (KEN_OTp-0051_0719).
xt witness 5 states that he obtained information "from different people that Kalenjins from the rural
area were organising themselves to come to town to attack the Kikuyus" (see statement of witness 5,
KEN-OTP4037-0039 at 0053.
216 statement of witness l, KEN-orP-0028-0556 ar 0578-0599; KEN-orp-oo2&0915 at 0949-0950, 0964-
0972; KEN-OTP-0028873 at 0974-1039; KEN-OTP-002&1lM at tt42-1149,11561162; KEN-OTp{028-
i358 at 1416-1419, 1422-1428; KEN-OTP-0036-0098; KEN-OTp-0057-OZt4 ar O24g4Z4g; KEN-OTp-0036-
0095. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0149; KEN-OT?-0053-025 6 at 0266; KEN-OTP_
0055-0062 a|0071-74. statement of witness 4 KEN-oTP-0031-0085 at 0097-0101. statement of witness
5, KEN-O]P-0037-0039 at 0053-0059. Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP.0O51- 046Z at 0503,0505, 05l t;
KEN-OTP-00514524 at 0528-0538, 0478-0480; KEN-OTP-0051-0590 at 0596-0598,0610 to 0611,0531
0635.
x' KEN-OTP-0001-0364 at 0725; KEN-OTP-@014893 at 0895, 0896, 089; KEN-OTP-00010592 at 0610;
KEN-OTP-ool1-0196; KEN-OTP-0011-@87; KEN-OTp{038-0O23 at 0024; KEN-OTp{Oa7{,6?9 at 0690,
0697 and 0707; KEN-O fP{045-0217 at 0245; KEN-OTP-00514003 at 0003, 0024; KEN-D10-0001-0006;
KEN-D]0-0001-0021; KEN D'I0-0001-0028; K EN-D10-0001-0107; KEN-D10-0001-0004.
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Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii communities believed to be supporting the PNU.'?s There

are no indications in the evidence before the Chamber that the physical Perpetrators

specifically targeted combatants or individuals other than civilians. In some

instances, the evidence tends to show that physical perpetrators victimised people

belonging to the Kalenjin communi[r who, however, were be[eved to be PNU

supporters.2re Thus, viewed as a whole, the evidence shows that the criterion used by

the perpetrators to identily and attack their victims was essentially their perceived

political affiliation with the PNU.

173. As mentioned above, on the basis of witnesses' testimonies and other pieces of

evidence, there was a well-established strategy aiming at identifying the areas most

densely populated by communities believed to be supporting the PNU and, within

these areas, properties belonging to PNU supporters. In a complementary manner,

premises owned by Kalenlins were marked in order to be kept safe, unless their

owners were found to be PNU supporters.2$ Viewed as a whole, this strategy would

ensure that, during the attack, physical perpetrators would exclusively target

members of those communities perceived to be PNU supporters.xt

174.In light of the above, the Chamber finds that there is sufficient evidence to

establish substantial grounds to believe that between 30 December 2C07 and' 76

,€ Statement of Wihess 1, KEN-OTP{028-1532 at 1546; KEN-OTP-002E-1587 at 1593; KEN-OTP-0057-

0162 at 0178 and 0179. Summary of statement of non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP{051-0755, Statement of
Witness 8, KEN-OTP-00052-0880, at 0083 and 0E93.
2'e Summary of Statement of a nonJCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0598; Summary of Statement of a

non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051473O at 0730; Summary of Statement of a nonlCC Witness, KEN-

OTP-0051-0738. Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-1532 at 1546; KEN-OTP-0028-1587 at 1593;

KEN-OTP-00574r 62 at 0179; KEN-OP/f-0057-0181 at 0197; KEN-OTP-0057-0234 at A243' Statement of
Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029{131 at 0151, 0153; KEN-OTP-005!O2% at 0264. Statement of Witness 4,

KEN-oTP-0031-0085 at 0092 and 0097.
1s Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037{039 at 0055. The witness testified that Kalenjin people

were identifying and marking Kalenjin houses with numbers 4 or 6 as well as with calabashes. The

witness explains that the calabash is a Kalenijin symbol, commonly used to mark Kalenjin houses and

properties. On the symbolic role of the calabash see also the statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-

0301 at 032G0321. In the Summary of a non-ICC Witness, it is rePorted that "ProPerties belonging to

Kalenjins were being marked with branches so as they would not be attacked or looted" (KEN-OTP'

00514724).
al In the Summary of a non-[CC Witness, it is stated that after the church in Kiambaa was burnt some

Kalenjin leaders present on the ground "criticized the youth for having burned women and children
when they were only sr"rppo5qd to kill Kikuyu men" (KEN-OTP-0051-0719).
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January 2008, an attack took place against specific groups of the Kenyan civilian

populatiory namely perceived PNU supporters, in the four locations referred to in

the counts.

B. Widespreail and systematic nature of the attack

175.In the Amended DCC, the Prosecutor alleges that "[t]he crimes alleged occurred

in the context of a widespread or systematic attack against members of the civilian

populatior; within the meaning of Article 7(1) of the Stahrte".2sz

175. On the basis of the material provided to the Chamber, there are substantial

grounds to believe that the attack perpetrated was widespread. Viewed as a whole,

the evidence shows that the attack was massive, frequent, carried out collectively

with considerable seriousness and directed against a large number of civilian victims.

17. This is demonstrated by the geographical scope of the attack, which covered four

different locations in two districts (Uasin Cishu and Nandi) of the Rift Valley

Province.E Moreover, as recalled h paragraphs 16'?-172 above, the evidence

indicates that in the locations included in the charges presented by the Prosecutor,

the amount of burning and destruction of properties, injuries and murders is among

the highest in the whole Kenyan territory. As a consequence, the Uash Gishu and

Nandi Districts registered a number of victims which is among the largest of the

post-election violence in Kenya.B

178. In particular, there are substantial grounds to believe that the violence in the

Uasin Gishu District (encompassing Turbo town and the greater Eldoret area)

resulted in the death of more than 230 people, the injury to 505 and the displacement

,5'? ICC-0.1/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 37.
E Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028{556 at 059H597; KEN-OTP-002&0915 at 0970; KEN-OTP-
002&1040 at 1074; KEN-OTP-003&0095; KEN-OTP-00360018. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP{051-
0405 at 0425-M27) KEN-OTP-0051-0467 at 0511. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-'1057 at 7069-

1071. KEN-OTP-0001-0002 at 0013, N75, 0107,0143, 0161; KEN-OTP-002&0025 at 0U26; KEN-OTP-
0052-2204 at 2205; KEN-D10{001-0004, at 0004.
5 CIPEV Report, KEN-OTP-0001-0364 at Q707,07'19.
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of more than 5000 persons.E5 In the Nandi Diskict (encompassing Kapsabet town

and Nandi Hills town) at least 7 people were murdered6 and a number of houses

and business premises were looted and bumt.ET Thousands of people in Kapsabet

and in Nandi Hills were forced to seek refuge at the respective police stations or in

IDP camps in the surrounding areas.E

179. tn additioru there are substantial grounds to believe that the attack was

systematic. An attack is systematic when it implies the "organised nature of the acts

of violence and the improbability of their random occurrence".E Several factors lead

the Chamber to this conclusiory which is supported by the testimonies of various

wiElesses as well as by pieces of indirect evidence. First, the Chamber reiterates that,

in the preparatory phase of the attack as well as during its execution, coordinators

were in charge of idenrifying houses belonging to PNU suPPorters to be attacked in

the different target locations.2@ Some of these coordinators were later deployed on

the ground to assist the perpehators and make sure that the selected properties were

65 Statement of Wihess 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0149; KEN"OTP-005$0256 at 0266; KEN-OTP-0055-

0062, ar 00774074; Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085, at 0097-0105; CIPEV RePort, KEN-

OTP-OO47-M79, at 069*07O7; "Kenya: Darkest Day in t'listory of a Humble Church", Daily nation,

KEN-OTP-0038-0023 at 0024.
2s5 Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0457 at 0516{520; KEN-OTP-0051{524 al 0569-0570.

Summary of statement of a nonlCC Witness, KEN-OTP-00514728 at 0728; Summary of statement of a

nonJCC witness, KEN-OTP-0053-024ti at 0248; Kenya National Commission of Human RiShts, RePort,

KEN-OTP-00O1 -000) at N75.
r57 Summaries of Statements of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0738 at 0738.
253 Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0O31-0085, at 0105; Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP{04&0003

at 0029; KEN-OTP-00514167 at 0511; and KENOTP-0051-0590 at 061G0514; Summary of Statements

of a non-lcc Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0751, at 0571; Summary of Statement of a non-lcc witness,

who says that 7478 people, mostly Kikuyu and Kisii, took refu8e at the KaPsabet Police station, KEN-

OTP-OO5I -0755 at 0756; Summaty of Statement of a non-ICC witness, who rePorts that dozens of
people working at the Kapsabet hospital were under threat and became lDPs, KEN-OTP4051-0760 at

0760; Summary of Statement of a non-lCC witness, KENOTP-0051-0724 at 0724; Summary of
Statement of a non-lCC witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0738 at 0738; Summary of Statement of a non-ICC

witness, KEN-OTP{051-0740 at 0740; CIPEV rePort, also rePortin8 that 8000 IDPS took shelter in
Kapsabet police station, KEN-OTP-0007-03& at 04224423.
25e Pre-Trial Chamber II, "Decision Pursuant to A icle 15 of the Rome Statute on the Authorization of

an Investigation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya", ICC-01/09-19-CoE, Para. 96.

4 Statement of wihess 1, KEN-OTP{02&0556 at 0558; KEN-OTP4028-0915 at c,22, @3'149?4, 0944
0946; KENOTP402&1358 at 1397; KEN-OTP-0057-O234 at @46; KEN-OTP{0574250 at 025rA)56.
Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-00554083 at 0089. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0O31-0085 at

0098. Statement of witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-

O207, at 0224; KEN-OTP-0051{256, at 0275-0278; KEN-OTP-0051-0405, at 0421 to 0422; KEN-OTP-

0051-0524 at 0528 and 0578 to 0580; KEN-OT?-0001-0002 al 0066.
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attacked and bumt down and that PNU supporters were victimized.26r Second, the

evidence shows that the perpetrators approached the target locations

simultaneously, in large numbers, and from different directions, by vehicles or on

foot, or both.262 Third, the perpetrators erected roadblocks around such locations with

a view toward intercepting PNU supporters attempting to flee, with the aim of

eventually killing them.zc Finally, the evidence indicates that, in the actual

implementation of the attach the physical perpetrators used petrol and other

inflammable material to systematically bum down the properties belonging to PNU

supporters.e

180. In light of the foregoing, there are substantial grounds to believe that the attack

carried out by Network perpetrators from 30 December 2007 to 16 January 2008

against members o{ the communities believed to be supporting the PNU was both

widespread and systematic.

C. State or orgaaisotional policy

181.The Prosecutor submits that from at least 2006, up until January 2008, Mr. Ruto

and Mr. Kosgey, with the contribution of Mr. Sang and others, developed an

26r Statement of Witness 4, (describing how subordinates of Mr. Ruto were helping the Kalenjia youths
involved in the attack in Turbo town to identify Kikuyu houses and properties to be burnt), KEN-
OTP-0031-0085 at 0@8. See also Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0051-0256 ar O275-A278.

'?62 
Statement o[ Witness 1, KEN-OTP{02&1358 at 1402-1404. Statement o{ Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-

0085 at 0@7-0099 (the witness took pa in the attack in Turbo town where, according to him, more
than 1000 perpetrators were involved and moved on the Bround. The witness adds that Turbo was
attacked from three sides). 9tatement of Witness 4 KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0414. Statement of Witness
8, KEN-OTP-0052-1O07 at 7A22-1C25 (the witness describes that he saw a tractor pulling a big trailer
carrying between 40 and 60 youths armed with arrows, machetet material which was used to kill
people).
N Statement of Witness l, KEN-OTP-0028-@15 at 0949-@50; KEN-OTP-0O28-1040 at 1044. Statement
of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0150-0151. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP4031-0085 at 1Ol.

Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0056. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP{oS14467 at
M7G4f36, M98; KEN-OTP-00514524 at 053G0531, 0533, 0562-0569; KEN-O t?4051-0590 at 0610; KEN-
OTP-0044-0145 (the witness adds that on the election day the additional purpose fulfilled by the road
blocks was to avoid cirolation of fake ballots). Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0880 at 0893;

KEN-OTP{O52-@04 at 0916 to 0917.
e Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-W73 ar @87-fft% (detailed description of the petrol can
used),0993 to 0994. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0i31 at 0144 (discussing the Network's
intent to use gas to "burn the big houses belonginS to Kikuyus."). Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-
0031-0085 at 0098i Summary of statement of non-lCC Witness 23, KEN-OTP-0051-0728 at 0728.

Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0590 at 0598-0599, 0618, 0634-0635.
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organisational policy directed to: (i) punish and expel from the Rift Valley those

perceived to support PNU, namely, Kikul'u, Kamba and Kisii civilians; and (ii) gain

power and create a uniform ODM voting block.rc The method used to punish and

expel PNU supporters and drive them away was to inflict fear and to systematically

destroy their homes and other proPerry, leaving them with no altemative but to

permanently reloca te.26

182. The Prosecutor contends that Mr. Ruto, Mr. Kosgey and Mr. Sang established a

Network of perpetrators belonging to the Kaleniin community in order to implement

the agreed-upon poliry.267 This Network was comprised of eminent ODM political

representatives, representatives of the media, former members of the Kenyan police

and army, Kaleniin elders and local leaders.268

183. The Chamber will hereunder make its assessment, first, as to whether the

Network, as alleged by the Prosecutor, qualifies as an organisation under the terms

of the Stahrte and, second, as to whether there existed a policy to commit the attack

against PNU supporters.

(i) The existen of an orsanisation with n the meanins of article (2)(a) of the

Statute

184. The Chamber deems it appropriate to briefly recall its legal analysis of the

meaning of the term 'organisation' under article 7(2')(a) of the Stah.lte. as established

in the 31 March 2010 Decision. In that instance, the Chamber, by maiority, stated that

"a distinction should be dralvn on whether a grouP has the capability to peform acts

which infringe on basic human values".26e Accordhgly, it determined that

"organizations not linked to a State may, for the purposes of the Stahrte, elaborate

and carry out a policy to commit an attack against a civilian population"'27o

,65 ICC-01/@-0U11-261-ArxA, para. 41.
,65 ICC-o1/09{U11-261-AnxA, para. 41.
r5, tCC-01/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 25.
,53 ICC-01/09-01/11-261-ArrxA, paras 25, 4$64.
26 Pre-Trial Chamber II,31 March 2010 Decision, ICC-01/09-19-Corr, para.90
ir Pre-Trial Chamber II,31 March 2010 Decision, ICC-01/09-1 9-Corr, para.92
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185. The Chamber also recalls that the determination of whether a given group

qualifies as arr organisation under the statute must be made on a case-by-case basis.27t

ln making its determinatiory the Chamber may take into account a number of factors,

inter alia'. (i) whether the group is under a responsible command, or has an

established hierarchy; (ii) whether tire group possesses, in fact, the means to carry out

a widespread or systematic attack against a civilian population; (iii) whether the

group exercises control over part of the territory of a state; (iv) whether the group

has criminal activities against the civilian population as a primary purpose;

(v) whether the group arriculates, explicitly or implicitly, an intention to attack a

civilian population; (vi) whether the group is part of a larger group, which fulfils

some or all of the abovementioned criteria.2z Lastly, the Chamber stresses tha! while

the above factors may assist the Chamber in its determination, they do not constihlte

a rigid legal definitioru and do not need to be exhaustively fulfilled.m

186. Having reviewed the evidence, the Chamber is of the view that there are

substantial grounds to believe that as of late December 2006, Mr. Ruto, together with

others, began establishing the Network referred to above and that, by December

2002 such Network qualified as an organisation within the meaning of article 7(2)(a)

of the Statute. This is supported by the evidence of Witnesses 1, 2, 4, 6 and g. AI
these witnesses provided evidence about crucial steps in the development of the

Nelwork and their statements in that rcgard corroborate each other. Thus, in the

following paragraphs, the Chamber will lay out, in a chronological order, the main

meetings which mark the development of the plan for the establishment of the

Network.

187. According to the evidence available, the Chamber finds that on 30 December

2006, Mr. Ruto hosted a meeting at his house in Sugoi where several members of the

Network were present.2Ta These members included, inter alia, aspiring members of the

27r Pre-Trial Chamber II, 3l March 2010 Decision, ICC-01/09-19-Corr, para. 93.
22 Pre-Trial Chamber II,31 March 2010 Decision, ICC-01/09-19-Corr, para.93.

'?R 
Pre-Trial Chamber I1,31 March 2010 Decision tCC-01/09-19-Corr, para.93.

i7r Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526, at 0530, 0532-0534, 0539-0544
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Parliament, youth representatives, Kalenjin elders, farmers and businessmen' Among

those attendees were Mr. Cheramboss and Reverend Kosgei.275 The purpose of the

meeting aimed at "plan[ning] fot war"1i6 and accordingly set up all necessary factors

for the success of the planned attack. In so doing, the first steP agreed uPon was to

recruit field commanders, who would be in charge of three different areas, namely

North Rift Valley, Central Rift Valley and south Rift Valley. Among the three

commanders was Mr. Cheramboss, who was assigned to the central Rift Valley.T

During the meeting, Mr. Ruto distributed maps covering areas densely populated by

members of the Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii communities.2T8 The locations of these

communities were marked on the maps in red, blue and black"27'q In additioo the

issue of securing means for transportation for the physical PerPetrators to and from

the target locations was discussed.rm In particular, Mr. Ruto explained that the means

for transportation would be obtained through two companies owned by rwo

businessmen, one of whom was Present at the meeting 2Er Further, the issue of

weapons supply was a matter of priority for Mr. Ruto, who delegated the purchase

of weapons from neighboring countries to a high level member of the Network.282

188. This first organisational meeting was followed by a number of other meetings

each implementing substantial factors of the attack as planned during the said

meeting. Thus, a secret oath ceremony took place on 15 April 2007 in a milk plant

located in Molo?Er where Mr. Ruto, Mr. Sang, Mr. Cheramboss and Reverend Kosgei'

among several others. were present.zu During the ceremony, Mr' Ruto, MPs' and the

:ii Statement oI Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526, at Q452'

176 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526, at 0555'

!z Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526, at 0553'

?E Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526, at 0562'

:, Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526, at 0563-0564'

lso Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0571, at 0589 to 0590.

rsr Statement of W.tness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0571, at 0589 to 0590'

rsr Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0571, at 0588'

sr Statement o[ Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0652, at0671'

:sr (1i14;11q11f 6f \{itrrt'<s 8, K F N-Ol'P'0052-0rr52, ;rt 0(177, 0684; KEN-OTP-003i-0087 :lt 0087
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three commanders were sprinkled with animals' brood and took an oath to kill
Kikuy'u, Kamba and Kisiis "mercilessly,,.zs

189.The oath ceremony was followed by another meeting at the sirikwa Hotel on 2

september 2007 organized by Mr. Ruto.'?e rhis meeting was a folow-up to the issues

discussed and agreed upon during the 30 December 2006 meeting. Apart from

Mr. Ruto, the meeting was attended b/ Mr. Sang:az Reverend Kosgei,2s the three

commanders and several other members of the Network.ae During the meeting, Mr.

Ruto provided an update on the progress concerning logistical matters such as the

issue of obtaining weapons and kansportation.2m According to the evidence

available, it became clear that Mr. Ruto worked closely with at least six members of
the Network, including the three commanders, to arrange for the purchase of
weapons.nrMr. Ruto also gave an update on the state of planned transportation and

revealed that he was in the process of gathering a greater number of volunteers for

that purpose.m rhe role of the three commanders was also reiterated in this

meeting.2e3 Further, another core issue of funding the Network was discussed,

whereby Mr. Ruto made clear that "money was not an issue, [a-nd] I am there to help

you" as well as "for money, I am ready".2e4 In this context one of the three

commanders requested funding because "people will be taken to be trained,, and

28s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-Cf]/SZ-M52 at 06Z6$6T7.
a6 statement of witness 1, KEN-orp-0o28-o776 at o7g3 to0794; KEN,orp-0057-0040 at 0045; starement
of Wirness 8, KEN-OTP-0O524694 at OZ to OZO7.
67 statement of witness 1, KEN-orp-oo2&on6 ar 0794. statement of witness 8, KEN-orp-0052-0694
at 0707.
e Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTp-0052-0694 at 0715.
23e statement of witness l, KEN-o'rp-0028-w76 at oTgs to 0796. statement of witness g. KEN-orp-
00524694 at O7@-0711 .

,e'0 Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0794, 0806-0808.
prstatement of witness 1, KEN-orp-0028-0775 at 0800 to 0801, 0805 to 0808. statement of wihess g,

KEN-OTP-0052-0694 at O7't 1 -0712.
e Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-cf.52-O694 atOZ14.
$ Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0800 to BO1.
u Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0804 4805.
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they "needed petrol [...] for vehicles".2es Finally, Mr. Ruto announced that the next

meeting would take place at his house on 2 November 2007-e

190. On 2 November 2007. as plarured, the next meeting took place at Mr' Ruto's

house in the presence of, inter alia, Mr. Ruto,- Mr. Sang,2s several members of the

Parliament, the three commanders, Kateniin elders, traditional elders, and a number

of coordinators who were assigned to gather the persons who would carry out the

attack against members of the Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii communities.a During the

meeting, Mr. Ruto reminded those present that the lands and farms in Rift Valley,

which historically belonged to the Kaleniins, are o:rrently owned by the Kikuyu.m

Thus, people must be united and ready to fight for power.rr Mr. Ruto, as the leader

of the Nerwork, declared that he was "going to lead this war by the front".sz As a

follow-up, he ordered the tfuee commanders to line up and present their respective

lists of coordinators.s Thereafter, he Save guns and ammunition to the three

commanders in a symbolic distributions and mentioned that the next meeting at his

house would take place on 14 December 2007.s

191. Prior to the 14 December 2007 meeting, two other related meetings were held at

the beginning of December 2007, one at the Kipkarren Salient Trading Center, which

was also announced by Mr. Ruto on the 2 November meeting,* followed by another

one at Mr. Cheramboss' house. In the first meeting, Mr. Ruto instructed youths to

B Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP{02&026 at 0805-0808.
e Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-O694 at 07O6-0707.
,, Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0O28-1358 at 136'1, KEN-OTP{057-m40 at 0045 to 0046'

Statement of Witness 8, KENOTP-0052-0729 at 0734.
H Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP{052-0694 a|0769, at Onz.
s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP{0524729 at 0764 to 0765 and KEN-OTP-0O354@2.
s Statemenr of Witness 1, KEN-OT?-0028-0713 at 0760{764. According to Witness 8, a similar sPeech

was made by Reverend Kosgei during the meeting that took Place at sirikwa Hotel on 2 sePtember

2007, in which he was advocating to exPel other tribes in order to reclaim the land for the Kalenlin;

Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0694 a|0715.
ror Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0713 at 0763 and 0765. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-

@52-0729 at 0752 to 0753.
u Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-AO52'0729 a|0752.
s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0729 at 0764 4765.
s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0729 a|0753.
ns Statement of Witness E, KEN-OTP-N52-0729 at 0753.
ft Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0729 a|0753.

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 7r11,39 23 January 2012



ICC-o I/09-01/ I I -3 7l 23_01-2012 72|13 FB p-f

converge to all trading centers to receive instructions.u Mr, Sang acted as ,,Master of
ceremony"306 and the message was derivered that if Kibaki wins the election, the

youths should barricade the streett destroy properties and k r the Kikuyu.@ Mr.

Ruto reiterated his invitation to his rural home for the 14 December 2007 meeting.:ro

192. At the beginning of December ZOO7, the second meeting took place at

Mr. Cheramboss' house,rtt where it was reiterated that the Kalenjin farms were taken

away by the Kikuyu and members of this communiry must be removed, together

with those of the Kisii community, either by waming them through leaflets or by

force, namely by killing, looting and buming their properties.3r2 In this context, the

developed operational struchrre of the Network was armounced. within this

structure, four divisional commanders were tasked with the implementation and the

coordination of the attack on the ground in locations including Kapsabet and Nandi

Hills towns.3r3 The divisional commanders were subordinate to the three

commanders, who were initially assigned during the 30 December 2006 meeting,

with the responsibility in North Rift valley, Central Rift Valley and south Rift

Valley.::r Following this announcement, Mr. Ruto confirmed receipt of a large

number of weapons through a high ranking member of thc Network.3r5 He also

confirmed that material for crude weapons was stored at a shop belonging to one of

the divisional commanders.3r6 Further, Mr. Ruto emphasized the ,,need to have

weapons to allow the former soldiers to do their work and [...] Mr.Cheramboss to

u Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-Cg74 atc928.
16 Statement of Wimess 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0835.
w Statement of Witness 8, KEN"OTP-0052-0821 at 0832.
,r', Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0832.
nr KEN'orP-0051-0135 at 0198 (according to witness 6, it was a secret meeting to rhe extent that
workers in the compound were not allowed in). statement of witness 6, KEN-orp-0051-09 44 at 0964.
rfr starement of witness 6, KEN-orp-0044-0003, at 0022; KEN-orp-0051-0135 at 0177 to o1z8 and 0223.
3rr statement of witness 6, KEN-orP-00444o03 at oo15 and 0022-0023; KEN-orp-0051-0199 at 0203,
KEN-OTP-0051-0993 at 1012-1013, KEN-OTP-0044-0039; KEN-OTP-00,14-0142.
rr' sketchs produced by witness 6, KEN-orP-0044-0142 and KEN-orp-0044-0039. statement of
witness 6, KEN-orP-0044-0003 at 0022-0023; KEN-orp-0051-0199 at 0203: KEN-orp-0051-0993 at
1012-1013;.
315 Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0135 at 0195-0196.
rr6 Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0]35 at 0193.
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give training youth".3u At the close of the meeting, Mr. Ruto called again for the next

meeting to take place at his house on 14 December 2007'318

193. The next meeting was convened as planned at Mr' Ruto's house on the

announced date,3le at which Mr. Sanp the three commanders and several other

members of the Network were present.3?o Mr. Sang introduced the attendees via

microphone, presenting their names and their assigned duties within the Network.32l

Asinallpreviousplanningmeetings,thepurposeoftheattack,namelytoevictthe

enemy coEununities, including Kikuyu, was con{irmed.3x Mr. Ruto addressed the

attendees as follows: "[...] *e have done big things' These people we are going to

kill. The Kikuyus, and the Kisiis and the Kambas in vicinity Do you promise me we

will do that or not?" ln response, people promised to obey his orders' 3a Apart from

these assurances regarding the attack as planned, the meeting was mainly focused on

the logistical and financial arrangements for the purposes of the execution of the

attack. More specifically, arrangements were made for the transportation of gas

rylinders to Eldoret town "to bum the big houses belonging to the Kiku)'us"'32r Abo'

weapons and ammunitions were distributed to rePresentatives of different regions

where the attack should take place.325 Moreover, a stipendiary scheme was

established based on the rank of the perPetrators, whereby former soldiers were paid

higher than the youths.326 This salary scheme was supposed to be integrated into a

3r7 Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP'0044-0003 at 0015.

Is Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0207 at 0216.

3re statement of witness 2, KEN-OTP4029-0131 at 0140. statement of witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052'0821

at 0838.
rm Sratemenr of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0051O256 at 0263. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP{052-1007

at 1036, 1041.
,r Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-1007 at 1045-1046'

rr Sratement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0O29-0131 at 0140,0145. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-

0821 at 0846.
ra Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0846.

12. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 01434144, in a more genetal manner: Statement of

Wihess & KEN-OTP-0052-0850 at 0853, 0857-m59.
J25 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0141. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0850

at 0872 to 0873.
r5 statement of witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0141, statement ot witness 8, KEN-OTP4052-0E50

at 0855.
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rewarding mechanism according to which a given sum of money was paid for every
Kikuyrr,3T Kamba and Kisii killed during the attack.326

194. The frequency of preparatory meetings of the Network intensified in the period
between 14 December 2o0z and 22 December 2007, when at reast three gatherings

took place. In the course of these meetings, the final arrangements for the execution

of the attack were made. The first one of these meetings took prace in Kabongwa,

more specilically in the residence of one of the members of the Network, whose

house had been designated to stock the weapons to be used during the attack.32e

The meeting was attended by, inter alia, Mr. Ruto, at least one of the three

commanders, the four divisional commanders, politicians and former soldiers.u
Updates about the weaponry obtained to date were provided and one of the three

commanders gave a demonstration on how to use hand-grenades.3I Moreover, the

same commander informed the participants that the leaflets, referred to in another

meeting at Mr. Cheramboss' house, had been duty distributed with a view to

threaten the enemy communities.s2

195.In a subsequent meeting hosted by Mr. Cheramboss, at which Mr. Ruto and

several other members of the Network were present,s the core thrust of the meeting

was to reiterate the intention to attack the pNU supporters and to give final

instructions as to the means to execute this attack.s It was specified that, in light of

the different types of weapons available to the Network, most of the physical

perperrators would use bows and arrows; it was reminded that the material to
produce these crude weapons could be found in the shop belonging to one of the

divisional commanders, as decided during the first meehng held at Mr. Cheramboss,

32/ Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTp-0053-0256 at 0270.
3a Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTp-0052-0850 at 0855.
3' statement of witness 6, KEN-orP-0051-0207 at 021t0219; KEN-orp-00,14-o1zto (list of atrendees).
3n statement of witness 6, KEN-orp-00.r+0140 (list of atrendees). statement of witness 6 KEN-orp-
0051-0256 at 02574260.
rf Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTp-0051-U2OZ at 0222.
332 Statement of Wimess 6, KEN-OTp-005':-0202 at 0223.
!r Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at O44l to 0443, 04,1t] to 0449.
3! Statemenr of Witness 6, KEN-OTp-OO5] -0105 ar 0401, 0441 to0444.
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house.s It was also agreed that guns would be resorted to in areas where the fight

required them.s Furthermore, physical PerPetrators were chosen to contact Kass FM

by phone in order to incite violence in the days immediately preceding the execution

of the attack-r37

197.In light of the above, the Chamber considers that the evidence presented

indicates that there are substantial grounds to believe that the first factor to Prove the

existence of an oragnisation is met. The evidence reveals that the Network was under

responsible command and had an established hierarchy, with Mr' Ruto as the

designated leader, in charge of securing the establishment and efficient functioning

of the Nerwork as well as the pursuit of its criminal purposes.I2 The evidence

available to the Chamber establishes substantial grounds to believe that the

hierarchical structure of the Network was comprised of three commanders (or

!'Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-00514349 at 0396 to 0397,0400.
]x Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-oo514349 at 0368-0369.

337 Statement of Witness 6, EN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0'1410447.
s Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0@1{092.
3s Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031{085 at 0092.
s Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0@2-0093.
y] Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OT?-0031-0085 at 0093.

!2 Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0713 at 0753-020; KEN-OTP-002&025 at 0805{808; KEN-

OTP-0028-1246 at 1297; KEN-OTP-0057-0140 at 0156; KEN-OTP-0057-0162 at 017*Q175' 0778' 0779 and

0197; KEN-OTP-@57-0181 at 0187-0188, 0197-0198, 0200, A203; KEN-OTP-O057-0205 at 0212-0215.

Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0{N4-0003, at 0022; KEN-OTP-0051-0135 at 0169{170, 00176, 0778

and 0223; KEN-OTP-0051-0207 at 0226; KEN-OTP-0051'0349 at 0368-0369, 0395-0395.
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196.The last of the whole set of preparatory meetings of the Nefwork took place at

Mr. Ruto's house on 22 December 2002 where people from different regions were

organized in separate tents.m High ranking members of the Network, including at

least two of the three cornmanders, were present.xe Weapons purchased from

neighbouring countries and introduced into the Kenyan territory through Mount

Elgon, as anticipated as early as the 30 December 2006 meeting, were distributed to

former soldiers.s Moreover, as commonly done within the Network, money was

paid to the attendees on the basis of their rank, namely whether they were former

soldiers or youths.rr
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generals),x in charge of the attack in the North Rift vafley, Centrar Rift Valley and

south fuft Valley. as well as four divisional commanders, who were responsible for
the execution of the attack in the field.s According to the evidence available, the

tfuee generals and the four divisional commanders all reported to Mr. Ruto.ss

subordinate to the divisional commanders, other members of the Network who acted

as coordinators were tasked with more specific functions, such as organizing the

material perpetrators on the ground, identifying the targets during the attack.tr

198. In this regard, the Chamber recalls that the Defence teams of Mr. Kosgey and

Mr. Sang assert that witrress 5 provided a structure of the Network that is not in

accordance with the submissions of other wikresses.aT In response, the prosecutor

contends that the sketch provided by witness 6 is just a line of reporting and not an

organigram of authority over the Network.H

199. The Chamber considers that witness 6's description of the structure of the

alleged Network reflects the witness' understanding on the basis of his alleged

attendance in some preparatory meetings. As such, witness 6's recollection does not

necessarily contradict the struchrre of the alleged Nelwork as described by other

wibresses who had taken part in different plaruling meetings.

200. with respect to the second factor to prove the existence of an organisation, there

are also substantial grounds to believe that, by December 2007, the Network

possessed the means to carry out a widespread or systematic attack against the

B Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at O796,0800 and 0801. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-
orP{055-0163 at 016&0169. statement of witness 6, KEN-or?-0o44-0003 at 0015 and 0o224023;
KEN-OTP-005i-0199 at 0203, KEN-OTP-oos1 -0993 at I0t2-1013; KEN-OTp-00444039; KEN-OTp_00.14_
0142.
* Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0O44-0003 at 0027; KEN-OTP-0051-0207, ar 0224; KEN-OTP-0051-
0256, at 02754278; KEN-OTP-0051-0405, at M27; KEN-OT?4051{467 at 0519; KEN-OTp-@S1-0524 at
05290529 and 0578; KEN-OTP-0044-0039; KEN-OTp-0044-0044 (sketch of Witness 6); KEN-OTP_0044-
0142.
15 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0f 88 at 0192-0196. Statemenr of Witness 6, KEN-OTp-OO,l4-
0003, at 0027. Staremenr of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-09 46 at W69 to @70.* Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 0264,0266; KEN-OTp-005 048 ar 0057-0060.
statement of witness 4, KEN-orP-003r-0085 at 0098. statement of witness 6, KEN-orp-0051-0207 at
0220; KEN-O1l'-0051-0256 at 0276. Statemenr of Wirness 8, KEN-OTp-0052-OcF,4b at @69 to @ZO.
,', ICC-o1/09-01/11-353, paras 58{6; tCC{t/09-01/11-354, para. 43(b).
,ro ICC-01/09-01/l l -345, paras 40-41; making reference to evidence at EVD,PT-OTp-00399 at 0142.
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civilian population, as its members had access to and utilised a considerable amount

of capital, guns, crude weapons and manpower as explained in the previous

paragraphs.ae

201. Based on the details of the meetings discussed earlier, members of the Network,

including Mr. Ruto, gave regular assurances that money was available to cover the

expenses needed to carry out the attack, including buying weapons and providing

the youths without military experience with operationat training and transportation

to and from the target locations.H

202.T\e Chamber underlines that Witness 4 and Witness 6 corroborate each other in

declaring that members of the Network were paid according to their rank, namely

based on whether they were former soldiers or not.srSuch payment was meant to be

a form of salary and also served the purpose of motivating the perPetrators's2 In the

Chamber's opinion, the evidence shows that the main funding channels of the

Network were essentially constituted by consistent private contributions by

businessmen and members of the parliament, including Mr. Ruto.3$

203. With regard to the purchase of weapons, the evidence shows that one of the

main channels through which the Network obtained weaPons was facilitated by

!e statement of witness 4, KEN-oTP-0031-0085 at 00924@3 (reSardinS access to Suns). statement of

Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 (reBardin8 access to guns).
r5o Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-OZ6 at OEO4 to 0805. Statement of Witsress 5, KEN'OTP-

OO4+OOO3 at 0015.0016 W25, W27; KEN-OTP-0O51-0135 at 019M195; KEN-OTP'0051-02A7 at 0219'

0220, 0226,0227; KEN-OTP-0057-0256 at 0271; KEN-OTP-0051-0349 at 0368-0369, 0395-M00; KEN-

OTP-00514405 at 0414. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP 40524694 at 0706.

]t] Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-m3I-0085 at 0093. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-00524850

at 0852.
,5? Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-OO2&OT6 at 0794. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-O3O1

at 0304-0305; KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0417 to 0418.
rs Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-OO2&0776 at 0793 and 0804. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-

0c/5r1256 ar 0267 (Ruto supplied money to Pay meeting attendees); KEN-OTP{055-0O48 at 0056 (Ruto

provided money for the purchase of food for the fighters). Statement of Witsress 4, KEN-OTP-0031-

0085 at 0097, 0100 (funding came from businessmen).

Statement of Wiuress 1, KEN-OTP-OO2&W6 ar 0793 and 08O1. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-

0053-0256 at 0267 (Ruto supplied money to pay meeting attendees); Statement of Witness 4 KEN-

OTP-0031-00E5 at 0097,0100 (funding came from businessmen); KEN-OTP-005$0048 at 0056 (Ruto

provided money for the purchase of food for the fiBhters). Statement of witness 5, KEN-OTP-0051-

0135 at 0173; KEN-OTP-0051-0301 at 0304-0305,0311.
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Mr. Kapondi's position and influence in the Mount Elgon area, where weapons

coming from neighbouring countries were allegedly introduced into the Kenyan

territory.s [n this regard, the Defence of Mr. Ruto challenged the role of

Mr. Kapondi as the supplier of weapons - and by aaalogy the Network,s capability

to have access to firearms - by adducing, as mentioned earlier in paragraph 134 that

since Mr. Kapondi was detained between 17 April 2007 and 14 December 2007, it

would have been impossible to supervise the supply of weapons to the Network.s

204. The Chamber notes that, as testified by Witness 8 in connection to the

2 September 2007 meeting, Mr. Ruto was working closely with at least 6 other people

to obtain weapons.3s Thus, although Mr. Kapondi appeared to be the main weapons

supplier, the evidence indicates that he was not the only one to perform such a task

within the Network.

205. The Chamber recalls its earlier finding in paragraph 15?, whereby the evidence

suggests that Mr. Kapondi could have been present at the 14 December 2007 meeting

at Mr. Ruto's house. The evidence further suggests that Mr. Kapondi was also the

focal point for the weapons supply to the Network. This information finds support in

the statements of WiEresses 8 and 6 conceming respectively, the 30 December 2006

meeting and one of the two Nandi meetings held at Mr. Cheramboss' house in

December 2007.57 Moreover, the Chamber notes that according to a NSIS Situation

Report dated 11 January 2008 "Kalenjin youth [...] ha[d] acquired firearms from Mt.

Elgon and Marakwet Districts, which they intendIed] to use in evicting Kikuyus from

Rift Valley Province".s As stated in another NSIS Situation Report dated 23

November 2007 "William Ruto [was] funding SLDF [Sabaot Land Defence Forces]

rt4 Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0092 (indicating thar the weapons came from
Uganda, Sudan and Mount Elgon). Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at 0025; KEN-OTP-
0051-0349 at 0395-0396-
!'' tCC-01/09-01/11-T-12-ENG ET, p. 39.
r$ Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OT?-0052-0694 at 0709-0712.
r'7 Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at 0025; KEN-OTP-0051-0349 at 0395-0396. Statement
of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0571, at 0588.
'js8 NSIS Situation Report, KEN-OTP-0002-0015 at 0063.
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through Kapondi who [was] reportedly living a luxurious lifestyle in Bungoma GK

prison with access to satellite phones and newspapers".s

206. On the basis of this evidence, the Chamber considers that there are substantial

grounds to believe that there existed a close connection between Mr. Kapondi, the

SLDF and the Network, also given that the leader of the SLDF was present during

the 14 December 2007 meeting at Mr. Ruto's house.u In light of the foregohg, the

Chamber is satisfied that there are substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Kapondi,

nolwithstanding his incarceration befween 17 April 2007 and 14 December 2007, was

in a position to arrange the purchase and supply of weapons to the Network.

207. Finally, regarding the third factor considered in demonstrating the existence of

an organisation, the Chamber finds that there are substantial grounds to believe that

the Network identified the criminal activities against the civilian population as its

primary purpose, and that it articulated an intention to attack the civilian

population.$r More specifically, as the Chamber will elaborate h greater detail

below. Mr. Ruto and others established the Network for the sole purpose of

committing criminal activities, namely to plan the attack against PNU supporters in

connection with the 2007 presidential elections.r2

208. For these reasons, the Chamber is of the view that there is sufficient evidence to

establish substantial grounds to believe that the Network qualifies as an organisation

within the meaning of article 7(2)(a'l ol the Statute. Having arrived at this condusion,

the Chamber shall proceed with its examination of the remaining elements of crimes

against humanity as charged by the Prosecutor in the Amended DCC.

r5'oNSIS Situation Report, KEN-OTP4002-ffi15 at 0090. On 28 November 2002 the NSIS indicates that

"William Ruto is reported to have sent several post paid Safaricom lines to Fred Kapondi to enhance

his communication capabilit/' (KEN-OTP-0002-0015 at 0088).
e Stalement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055{136 at 0150{153. See also the sketch of the list of attendees

prepared by Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0042-M61.
sf Stalement ol Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0773 at 07634766; KEN-OTP-0057-0162 at 0778. Statement
of Witness 2; KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at l,l0; Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051- 0135 at 0U6-01z;
KEN-OTP-0051-02M at 0226 b A227) KEN-OTP-0051-0590 at 0597.
* Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&0845 at 0898; KEN-OTP-002&1532 at 1546; KEN-OTP-0028-
1587 at 1593-1594; KEN-OTP-0057-0162 at 0178, 0179 anC,0197; KEN-OTP'0057-0234 at 0243.
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(ii ) Existence of a oolicv to commi the attack

209. With regard to the poliry elemenL the Chamber notes that although the

requirement of a policy is distinct from that of a plan, in the circumstances of the

present case they seem to overlap.

210.The Chamber aiso considers that an attack which is "planned, directed or

organised", as opposed to "spontaneous or [consisting ofl isolated acts", satisfies the

policy requirement.s The implementation of a policy can consist of a deliberate

failure to tale actiory which is consciously aimed at encouraging such attack.H

211. The Chamber wishes to emphasize that, according to article 7(2)(a) of the Statute,

the organisational poliry must be directed to commit "such attack". ln the present

circumstances, the Chamber must be satisfied that the Network, which has been

found above to be responsible for the aftack in Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area,

Kabsabet town and Nandi Hills town from 30 December 2007 to 16 January 2008, had

acted pursuant to a policy to commit that attack.

212.1n this regard, the Chamber notes that the Prosecutor, h the Amended DCC,

frames the poliry allegedly followed by the Network as being two-fold. The first limb

of such poliry is, according to the Prosecutor, "to punish and expel from the Rift

valley those perceived to support PNU, namely, Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii

civilians".6 The second limb of the policy, as asserted, is "to gain power and create a

uniform ODM voting block".;to

213. In light of the consideration in paragraph 211 above, according to which article

7(2)(a) of the Statute stipulates that the poliry must be directed to commit the attack,

the Chamber considers that the second limb of the policy purported by the

Prosecutor is merely political in nature and may not aim at committing an attack

against the civilian population/ as required under the Statute. Rather, gain.ing power

rr Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-01/04-07107-777, ?ara.396
s Elements of Crimes, article 7, Introduction, footnote 6.
x5 ICC{1/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 41.
366 ICC-01/09-0] /11-261-AnxA, para. 41.
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and create a uniform ODM voting block can be considered to be the motive or the

purpose of a potential policy to commit the attack. However, the Statute does not

envisage any requirement of motive or purpose to prove that a poliry to commit an

attack against the civilian population exists. Thus, the second limb of the policy as

presented by the Prosecutor falls outside the legal framework of crimes against

humanity and is therefore not to be considered by the Chamber.

214. At the conJirmation hearing, the Defence opposed the existence of a policy to

commit an attack against PNU supporters on the basis that the aileged meetings -
where such poliry as well as its bearer, namely the Network, would have been

developed - never took place. Moreover, the Defence of the Suspects provided

evidence, including the live testimony of Mr. Cheramboss, Reverend Kosgei and Mr.

Chepkwoni,sT written statements and other pieces of evidence, to demonstrate that

the post-election violence was a spontaneous reaction to the percePtion that the

elections were rigged and, as sucb it could not have been planned.3d

215.In additioru the Defence challenged the Prosecutor's contention that the policy to

attack PNU supporters was developed as of December 2006.%e According to the

Defence, the PNU came to existence only between August and September 2007.m

Therefore, contrary to the allegations presented in the Amended DCC, a policy, iI

any, to attack PNU supporters could have been promoted only as of that date, the

Defence argues.

216. Having reviewed the evidence submitted by the partieg the Chamber considers

that there are substantial grounds to believe that the Nefwork promoted a poliry

*7 See respectively ICC-01/09-01/11-T-7-Red-ENC, pp.48-49; ICC-01/09-01/11-T-1l-Red-ENG, p. 15;

ICC-01/09-0U1 1-T-10-Red-ENC, p. 64, 8!84;
168 KEN-D1o-0o01-0004 at 0004; KEN-D1G0001{107 at 0107; KEN-DI 0-0001'0112 at 071L KEN-D1o-

CflO2-0074 at 0082; KEN-D10-0001-0006; KEN-D10-0001-0016; KEN-D10{001'0028; KEN-D10{@1-
0030; KEN-D10-0001-0088. KEN-D10-0001-0004 at 0OO1; KEN-D10-00074107 at 0107; KEN-D10-0m1-

0112 at 0112; KEN-D10-0002-m74 at 0080; KEN-OTP-W24797 at 020 , A223, 0229,0235,0284,4285,
0304, 0316; KEN-OTP-000'0592 at 0594; KEN-OTP-0005-8975 at 8989; KEN-OTP-0011-0420 at O44O,

0445, KEN-OTP-00744177 at 012; KEN-D10-0001-0006; KEN-D10-0001-0016; KEN-D10-0001{O28;

KEN-Dl0-0001-0030; KEN-D10-0001{088; KEN-OTP{0294099.
e ICC-01l@-0r117-T-GCONF-ENC El p. 138

rm KEN-DI0-0002-0058 at 0065; KEN-DI0-0002-0074 at 0079 and exhibit 2 at 0085.
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aimed at targeting members of the civilian population supporting the pNU, in order

to punish them and evict them from the Rift Valley.

277.Morc specifically and as described above in paragraphs -LB7-796, there are

substantial grounds to believe that between late December 2006 and the end of

December 2007, a series of preparatory meetings were held among Mr. Ruto and

other members of the Nehvork at various levels, to discuss, organize and arrange the

modalities of the implementation of the said policy. The Chamber has already

exhaustively addressed the issue of whether or not some of these planning meetings

have effectively taken place and does not consider it necessary to analyse the matter

further. The Chamber observes the considerable amount of evidence emanating from

Wifnesses 7,2,4,6 and 8. All those wihresses took part in more than one preparatory

meeting and provided the Chamber with a thorough insider's rriew of the

development of the abovementioned policy.

218. In this regard, thc Chamber is not persuaded by the arguments of the Dcfence.

In particular, the evidence provided by the insider wiEresses is consistent. The

evidence provided by these witrresses also corroborates each other. When assessed as

whole, such evidence is not undermined by the fact that a number of witnesses put

forward by the Defence, including those who appeared before the Chamber, may

have stated that they believe that the violence was not planned.3Tr

m ICC-01/@-01/11-T-7-Red-ENG WT, p.48 to 49 (live testimony of Mr. Cheramboss). ICC-01/@-
01/011-T-10-Red-ENC WT, p.64 (live testimony of Mr. Chepkwoni). ICC41/09{1/11-T-11-Red-ENG
WT, p. 63 to 54 (live testimony of Reverend Kosgei).
i, Statement of Wimess t, KEN-OTP-0028-0713, KEN-OTP-0O28-07i6 * 0796 0800-0803; KEN-OTP-
002&1358 ar 73711375. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP4053-0256 at U263; KEN-OTP-0055-0163 at
166-169. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0256, at 0275-0278. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-
OTP0052-0525 at 0555-0556
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219. The Chamber finds that there are substantial grounds to believe that, over the

course of these meetings, several issues which were crucial for the implementation of

the poliry were dealt with, including: (i) the appohtrnent of commanders and

divisional commanders responsible for the operations on the field;3z

(ii) the production of maps marking out the areas most densely inhabited by
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communities perceived to be or actually siding with the PNU;34 (iii) the identification

of houses and business premises owned by PNU supporters with a view to target

them;37a (iv) the purchase of weapons as well as of material to produce crude

weapons and their storage before the attack;37s (v) thc transportation of the

perpetrators to and from the target locations;'6 and (vi) the establishment of a

stipendiary scheme and a rewarding mechanism to motivate the perpetrators to kill

and displace the largest number of persons belonging to the target communities as

well as to destroy their properties.3z

220. The Chamber recalls that all the abovementioned asPects of the policy, as

developed, duriag the plaruring meetings, are consistently recalled by different

witnesses in connection with distinct planning meetings. This, in the opinion of the

Chamber, increases their probative value.

227.Einally, as to the Defence's challenge with regard to the formal establishment of

*re PNU and the incompatibilify of the time of its constitution with the development

of a poliry as alleged by the Prosecutor, the Chamber considers it appropriate to

make the following clarifications. The evidence indicates that the Network set uP a

policy to commit an attack against those communities which were perceived to be

political opponents to the members of the Network. These communities are

identified as the Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii. The fact that the PNU was established

3- Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526 at 0562.
3z Statement of Witness f, KEN-OTP402&0915 at 0960 to 0963; KEN-OTP-N28-@73 at 0980-0981,

0993 to 0995. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-@554083 at 0089. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-

0031-0085 at 0o98. Statement of Wihess 5, KEN-OT?-0037{039 at 0055. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-
OTP-0051-0405, at 042:l to 0424,0528; KEN-OTP-0051-0467 at 0511 to 0514; KEN-OTP-00514524 at

052&0529 and 0578 to 0580; KEN-OTP{051{590 at 06O4 to 0606; KEN-OTP-0051-0622 at 0633 to 0639;

KEN-OTP-0051-0993 at 10@; KEN-OTP-0001-0002 at 0066.
r75 Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-076 at 080G0808. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-

0131 at 0141, 0143. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0135 at 0193, 0195; KEN-OTP-0051{207 at

0219-0220. Statement of witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0694 at 0711 to 0712.
,6 Statement of witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028426 at 080G0808. KEN-OTP-0028-1358 at 7402-1404, 1407-

1408. Statement of Witness 8. KEN-OTP-00524571, at 0589 to 0590 and KEN-OTP-0052-0694 at 0714.
rz Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0845 at 0905. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OT?-0055-0111
at 0'116{117; KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0141; KEN-OTP-0O5!0256 at 0267.Statement of Witness 4, KEN-
OTP-0031-0085 at 0093; KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0100. Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at
0417. Statement of Witness 8, KEN,OTP-0052,0850 at 0855.
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between August and september 2007 does not conllict with the development of the

poliry insofar as members of the three communities above were later perceived to be

supporters of the PNU.

VII. ACTS CONSTITU"TING CRIMES AGAINST HUMANITY

Z22.Havtng determined that there are substantial grounds to believe that the

contexfual elements of crimes against humanity are met, the Chamber will now tum

to the analysis of whether the Prosecutor has provided sufficient evidence to reach

the evidentiary threshold required by article 6L(7) of the statute with regard to the

objective elements of the specific acts constituting crimes against humanity. The

analysis in this part is limited to the conduct of the direct perpekators. The

attribution of this conduct to the suspects and the subjective elements of the crimes

are examined further below.37E

A. Murder

223.In the Amended DCC, the Prosecutor alleges that from on or about 30 December

2007 to the end of January 2008, acts of murder constituting crimes against humanity

were committed in locations including Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area

(Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas, and Yamumbi), Kapsabet town, and Nandi

Hills town in the Uasin Gishu and Nandi Districts.3D The Chamber will address

whether the Prosecutor has provided sufficient evidence to establish substantial

grounds to believe that acts of killing were committed in each of the abovementioned

locations.

ra See below Section Vlll.
3?e ICC-01/09'01/l l-261-AnxA, paras75,79,83, 89,97 and '133
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(i) Turbo town

224. With regard to the first location, Turbo towr! the Prosecutor contended that on

30 and 31 December 2007 perpetators attacked the town and that "[a]t least 4 people

were killed during the attack".se

225. The Chamber considers that there are substantial grounds to believe that

Network perpetrators killed PNU suPPorters in Turbo town on 31 December 2002 as

part of the widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian population'

The Chamber, however, is not satisfied that the Proseortor has provided sufficient

evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that Network perpetrators killed

PNU supporters h Turbo town after 31 December 2007.

226.T\e Chamber notes the testimony of Witness 2 who stated that, on 31 December

2007, he took part in the attack at Turbo tourn together with other Kalen.iin youth

members of the Network.slThe wiEress testified that as soon as he entered the town

from a peripheral neighbourhood,$2 he saw four bodies and subsequently another

two, out of which he recognized one as having been Kikuyu.sr This information is

corroborated by the testimony of Witness 4, who was also present on the ground and

saw four dead bodies, which he was told had been Kikuyu.s Mormver, according to

the same witness, when he entered Turbo town, he recognized the Nefwork

perpelrators armed with machine guns (AK 47) similar to the ones he saw during one

of the meetings which took place at Mr. Ruto's house on 22 December 2007.s

The Chamber also draws attention to the fact that Witness 2 estimated the number of

re ICC-o1/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 75.
3€r Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0035 at 00364039 and ff; KEN-OTP-0055-0062, at 0069 and

tt.
E Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055{035 at 0039. As already stated above, Network

perpeEators were approaching the target areas from the peripheral areas, In this regard, the evidence

indicates that a pastor from a community outside Turbo area knew about the murder of about 20

Kikuyu men while attempting to defend their houses (see KEN-OTP-0001-0248 at 0292).

B Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0035 at 0040; KEN-OTP-0055-0062 at 0A72-N73. From the

same testimony, see atso KEN-OTP-0055-0083 at 0086-0087.
B Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0097-0098.
rr Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0098 (also noting that some of the Network
perpetrators were also eqrripped rvilh bows and arrows).
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dead bodies that he saw in Turbo town area to be ,,more than 200,,,* which could be

ascribed to be Kikuyu.w Furthermore, witness 2 stated that most of the victims were

women and children and not young people, since in the witsress' view the latter were

able to flee from the attackers.B

(ii) The Greater Eldoret area

227.with regard to the second location included in the charges of murder, the

Chamber notes that the Prosecutor chose to identify the specific estates around

Eldoret town where such acts have allegedly taken place, namely Hurum4 Kiambaa,

Kimumu, Langas, and Yamumbi.se Collectively, the prosecutor alleged that the

attack in the different estates of Eldoret resulted in 70 to 87 victims.3n

228. Viewed as a whole, the evidence relating to the greater Eldoret area indicates

that there are substantial grounds to bel.ieve that Network perpetrators killed pNU

supporters in the greater Eldoret area between 1 January 2008 to 4 January 200g, as

part of the widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian

population.rer Conversely, there is not sufficient evidence to establish substantiat

grounds to believe that Network perpetrators killed PNU supporters in the greater

Eldoret area after 4 January 2008.

229. Witness 4 states that he witrressed "more than 2000" physical perpetrators

gathering on l January 2008 in the outskirt of Eldoret town and that one Kalenjin

elder told them that they "had just attacked Turbo and finished so [...] [they] were

now to proceed to Eldoret [. ..] [to] attack the Kikuyu".:rz

}6 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-Ofi)-0055-0083 at 0087.
r/ Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OT?-005t0062 at 0071-0074.
s Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0083 at 008G0087.
!3, ICC-01/09-01/t 1 -261, para. 79.
]r0 ICC-01/09-01n 1-261, paras 79 and 88.
rer Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0556 at 0580, 0598-0599; KEN-OTP-0028-0915 at 0966 to
0968; KEN-OTP-0028-0973 at 0989-(D93, 1001-1002; KEN.OTP-0028-I I04 at 1I5B-l l61.
m Statement o( Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0099-01m. In the same passage of the statement,
witness 4 points out that, presumably on 2 January 2008, he was told that the attack to Eldoret was
successful, "people were killed by bows and arrows" and that they .'would retum at ni6ht to attack
again".
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230. Several sources of evidence support the findings as to the acts of killing in this

location as of that date.

231.The Chamber notes that Witness 1 is an eyewitrress to the murder of a Kikuyu

woman together with her newbom baby in Langas, on 1 January 2008.3e3 The witsress

testilies that he saw a group of three perpetrators armed with arrows and machetes

running after the woman, who gave birth to her baby on the spot due to the

trauma.3ea As soon as the perpetrators saw that the baby was a boy, they said that

"we don't want to have another Mungiki" and they cut the throat of the baby and

killed the mother.3e5

232. The Chamber also recalls the evidence of Witsress 8 who was with a group of

perpetrators in Yamumbi on 1 lanuary 2008. The witness was in the same vehicle

with one of the attackers who later executed two babies in front of Wihress 8.3% On

the same day, Witness 8 saw a woman being killed alter she resisted a rape.3e With

regard to this victim, Witness 8 declared that she was a Kikuyr:.3%

233. Conceming the allegations related to Kiamba4 the Prosecutor contended that

Kiambaa was attacked from different directions by a group of perpetrators who

forced several p€ople to take refuge inside the local church.3e The Church was

subsequently locked from outside and burnt down.m According to the Prosecutor,

between 17 and 35 persons were bumt alive.{] Those who attempted to flee were

allegedly hacked to death.{z

,r Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&0556 at 0598-0599, KEN-OTP-0028-1104 at 115&1161
rq Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0556 at 0598{599; KEN-OTP-0028- 1 I 04 at 11561161
rs Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-1104 at 1159.
* Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0880 at 0898.

'7 Statement of Wirress 8, KEN-OTP{052-0880 at 0898.
s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0880 at 0902
re ICC-01/09-0U11-261-AnxA, paras 82-83.
400 ICC-01/09-01/11-26'l -AnxA, para. 83.
401 ICC-01/09-01/1 1-261-AnxA, para. 83.

'0? ICC-01/09-01/1 1-261, Para. 84.
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234. The Chamber considers that there are substantial grounds to believe that

Network perpehators killed PNU supporters in Kiambaa on 1 January 2008.@

235. The Chamber notes that Wihress 1 recalls a discussion he had with another

individual who reported that the Kiambaa church had been set on fire with people

inside.o This information finds support in a subsequent passage of the same

testimony. Wihess 1 states that, after being inlormed of the events in Kiambaa

church, he visited the local hospital and saw a number of bodies being brought there,

"including bodies from Kiambaa. [He] couldn't count them".G This is also

corroborated by the statement of Wihess 5, who was present at the hospita.l and

confirmed that bodies were brought there.e In additioru the Chamber notes the

considerable amount of indirect evidence reporting the incident in Kiambaa

church.@

236. An account of the events occurring in another estate within Eldoret, namely

Hurum4 comes from Witness 4. The witrress encountered a group of about 20

perpetrators retuming from Eldoret on 4 January 2008. According to

Witness 4 the attackers told him that "they broke into the Kikuyu houseq took them

er Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&0556 at 0595; Summary of statement of a non-ICC Wirness,
KEN-OTP-0051-0702i Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0705; Summary of
statement of non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-DO51-O707; Summary of statement of a non-lcc Witness,
KEN-OTP-OOS1-0709; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-O1'P-0051-0711; Summary of
statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-005I-0713; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness,
KEN-OTP-0051-0715; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witnesl KEN-OTP-0051-0717; Summary of
statement of a nonjcC Wihess, KEN-OTP-0051-0719.
s Statement of Witness 1. KEN-OTP-0028-0556 at 0595-0596.
{o5 Statement of Witness l, KEN-OT?-0028-0556 at 0596.
6 Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0O59.
{7 See Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0702; Summary of statement of a
non-ICC Witness, KEN-OTP-00514705; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-oO51-
0707i Summaly of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0709; Summary of statement of a
non-lCC Witness, KEN-OT?-0051-0711; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-
0713; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0715; Summary of statement of a
nonlCC Witness, KEN-OT?-0051-0717; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-
0719; Summary of Statement ol a non-lCC Witness, KENOTP-0051-0721 at 0721. See also Kenyan
National Cornmission of Human Rights (KNCHR) report, "On the Brink of the Precipice. A Human
Ri8hts Account of Kenya's Post-2007 Election Violence", 15 August 2008, KEN-OTP-0001-0O02, at
0073-0074; HRW report, "Ballots to Bullets. Organized Political Violence and Kenya's Crisis of
Covernance". March 200$ KEN-OTP-0001-0248, at 0291. KEN-D10-0001-0006 media article adduced
by the Defence.
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out and hacked them to death and then bumt their houses. The ones who tried to

escape were shot by arrows".@

(ii i) Kapsa t town

Zi7.The Prosecutor alleges in the Amended DCC that "no less than 3 people [were

leftl dead" in Kapsabet.@

238. Upon review of the evidence. the Chamber finds that there are substantial

grounds to believe that Network perpetrators killed PNU suPPorters in Kapsabet

town from 30 December 2OO7 to 16 January 2008, as part of the widespread and

systematic attack directed against the civilian population. "0

239. In particular, Witness 6 testified that between 30 and 31 December 2N7, he

personally saw dead bodies with arrows wounds which were found by the police in

the bush close to Kapsabet and were brought to the local mortuary.rrlThe witness

gave this inJormation in connection with his description of the purPose of the

roadblocks erected around the target locations, including Kapsabet town. According

to Witness 6, those Kikuyu or Kisii who did not succeed in passing through the

roadblock were killed.ar2 The evidence furnished by witness 6 conceming the acts of

killings in Kapsabet town during the time frame specified above is corroborated by

other pieces of evidence.ar3

.os Statement of Witness 4. KEN-OTP-0031-0085, at 0101.

.o, ICC-01/09-01/l 1-261-AnxA, para. 89.

'{ro Wibress 6, in describing the attack to KaPsabet Points out that at least two members of the Networl
who are listed amon8 ParticiPants in some PreParatory meetings, were deployed on the field to

coordinate and direct the physical perpetrators: Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP4051-0590 at 0614'

0615.
.rr Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP{OS1-0524 at 0570.
ru Statement o[ Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0524 at 0569.

'r] According to KNCHR Report, perpetrators "left three people dead on 8 )anuary 2008", KEN-OTP-

O0Ol -0002 at 0075; see also, Su nrmary of statemerrt of non-lCC Witness, KEN'OTP-0051-0728 a10728.
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(iv)

240

Nandi Hills town

ln the Amended DCC, the Prosecutor avers that,,[a]t least three people were

killed, one person was bumed alive in his car, while others were cut into pieces,, in
Nandi Hills town.41{

241. The chamber finds that there are substantial grounds to believe that Network

perpetrators killed PNU supporters in Nandi Hills town from 30 December 2007 to

2 January 2008, as part of the widespread and systematic attack directed against the

civilian population. However, there is not sufficient evidence to establish substantial

grounds to believe that Network perpetrators killed pNU supporters in Nandi Hills

town after 2 January 2008.

242.T\e Chamber recalls that witness 6 reports, when the electoral results were

announced, on 30 or 31 December 2007, " +he incidents started [...] first in Kapsabet

and then in Nandi Hills".{r5 According to the witness, he heard from the police as

well as from eyewitnesses that one of the members of the Network, who indeed was

among the attendees in some planning meetings,o,, killed a Kikuyu in Nandi Hills

town close to the samoei secondary school.arT In additiory the evidence indicates that

on 2 January 2008, a man was burnt in a car and three other persons cut to pieces

along the street connecting Nandi Hills town and Kapsabet town.ars

B. Deportation ot lorcible transfer ol popiation

243. Pursuant to article 7(2)(d) of the statute, deportation or forcible transfer means

the "forced displacement of the persons concemed by expulsion or other coercive

acts from the area in which they are lawfully present, without grounds permitted

under international law".

(' ICC-01/09-0U11 -261- AtwA, para. 97.
.r5 Statement o[ Witness 6, KEN-OT?-0051-0524 at 0558.

'r6 statement of witness 6, KEN-orP-0044-0140 (lisr of artendees). statement of witnesas 8, KEN-orp.
0042-0461(list of attendees, 14 December 2007 meeting).
.r/ Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OT?-0051-0457 at O5l7-0520.
{r8 Sumnrary of statement of non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTp-0053-0248 at 024g.
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2u14. At the outs€t, the Chamber deems it approPriate to make some clarifications

with regard to the legal interpretation of the crime of deportation or forcible transfer

of population. According to the Elements of Crimes, the fust element of the crime

against humaniry of deportation or forcible transfer of PoPulation requires that "the

perpelrator deported or forcibly transferred [...] one or more persons [..'] by

expulsion or other coercive acts". A literal interpretation of the wording used by the

Elements of Crimes to define the aclus reus of the crime leads to the conclusion that

deportation or forcible transfer of population is an open<onduct crime. In other

words, the perpetrator may commit several different conducts which can amount to

"expulsion or other coercive acts", so as to force the victim to leave the area where he

or she is lawfully present, as required by article 7(2)(d) of the Statute and the

Elements of Crimes.

245. Accordingly, in order to establish that the crime of deportation or forcible

transfer of population is consummated, the Proseoltor has to prove that one or more

acts that the perpetrator has performed produced the effect to dePort or forcibly

transfer the victim. Absent such a tink between the conduct and the resulting effect of

forcing the victim to leave the area to another State or location, the Chamber may not

establish that deportation or forcible transfer of population Pursuant to article 7(2)(d)

of the Statute has been committed.

246. In the Amended DCC, the Prosecutor alleges that from on or about 30 December

2007 to the end of fanuary 2008, Nerwork PerPetrators committed acts of deportation

or forcible transfer of population in locations including Turbo town, the greater

Eldoret area (Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas and Yamumbi), Kapsabet town,

and Nandi Hills town in the Uasin Cishu and Nandi Districts.are

247. Following its approach with regard to the charges of murder as assessed above,

the Chamber will consider whether there is sufficient evidence to meet the threshold

required under article 61(7) of the Statute in respect of the allegations of deportation

'r'} ICC-01/09-01/11-261-AnxA, paras 75, 79, 85, 8&89, 97 and 133
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or forcible transfer of population in each of the locations mentioned by the

Prosecutor in the Counts presented.

(i) Turbo town

248. The Prosecutor alleges thaL when attacking Turbo town from 30 Decernber 2007

to 31 December 2007, Network perpetrators "poured petrol onto houses and

businesses believed to belong to PNU supporters and set them on fire,,.{rc In the view

of the Prosecutor, "the attack resulted in the deshuction of houses and businesses'.a21

The Prosecutor asserts that "[t]housands of displaced persons took shelter at local

police posts".422

249. Upon review of the evidence, the Chamber considers that there are substantial

grounds to believe that Network perpekators forcibly displaced pNU supporters in

Turbo town on 31 December 2007, as part of the widespread and systematic attack

directed against the civilian population. However, there is not sufficient evidence to

establish substantial grounds to believe that Network perpetrators forcibly displaced

PNU supporters in Turbo town after 31 December 2007.

250.On the basis of the factual examination entertained in paragraphs 167-172 and.

225-226 above, the Chamber finds that the evidence provides substantial grounds to

believe that the Network perpetrators participating in the attack in Turbo town

committed acts of burning and destruction of properfy as well as acts of killing.

251.In the view of the Chamber, there are substantial grounds to believe that acts of

buming, destruction oI property and killing targeted PNU supporters and resulted in

coercing them to flee the area. The Chamber is also satisfied that the evidence does

not indicate *rat PNU supporters were unlawfully present in the Turbo town area

from which they were deported or forcibly transferred.

rr0 ICC-01/09-01/1 1 -267- AruA, para. Z 4
at ICC.01/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 75
a,, ICC-01/09-01/'l l-261-AnxA, para. 75
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252. The Chamber observes that Witness 4 who was on the ground during the attack

on Turbo town, personally saw groups of people heading to the local police station to

take refuge and to flee from the attackers.'23 At a later stage, the witness declared that

he visited the IDP camp set up in the police compound, which hosted about 5000

Kikuyus.a2a This information is corroborated by Witness 2, who also saw the

displaced persons in Turbo town police station.rD

(ii) The Greater Eldoret area

253. In the greater Eldoret area (encompassing Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas.

and Yamumbi), the Prosecutor alleges that, in the course of the attack that ocorrred

from 30 December 2A07 to 4 January 2008, the PerPerrators used petrol to burn

"homes and businesses belonging to PNU supporters. destroying their proPerty and

leaving them with no altemative but to relocate".426 The Prosecutor asserts that PNU

supporters were forced to flee and relocate to safer places, such as police stations or

IDP camps.a?7

254. Having reviewed the evidence, the Chamber considers that there are substantial

grounds to believe that Network perpetrators forcibly displaced PNU suPPorters in

the greater Eldoret area from 1 January 2008 to 4 January 2008, as part of the

widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian population. However,

there is not sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that

Network perpetrators forcibly disptaced PNU suPPorters in the greater Eldoret area

after 4 January 2008.

255. The Chamber recalls its findings in paragraphs 167-172 and 228-236 above, and

considers that there are substantial grounds to believe that Network PerPetrators

who took part in the attack in the greater Eldoret area carried out acts of buming and

ar Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0@7.
.,4 Statement o( Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031{085 at 0104'
.5 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029413I at 0149.
r!6 ICC-O1/@-01/11-261-AnxA, paras 79 and 85.
{, ICC-01i09-01/11-261-AnxA, p.rras 79, 82, 85.
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destruction of property as well as acts of killing.a2s There are also substantial grounds

to believe that these acts targeted PNU supporters and forced them to relocate

elsewhere.ats In particular, witness 1 provides that he saw severai Kikuyu escorted

by the police to the safety of the Eldoret police station.as In addition, the Chamber

considers that the evidence does not indicate that PNU supporters were unlawfully

present in the greater Eldoret area from which they were deported or forcibly

trarsferred

256. The Chamber draws the attention to the testimony of Witness 5. who recollected

that alter the official announcement of the electoral results, on 30 December 2007a3r,

"Kikuyus [...] started leavhg to go to the police station".a32 More specifically,

between 1 and 3 January 2008, Witrress 5 visited the Eldoret police station and saw

over 500 Kiluyus who had taken refuge there.a3

257. This information is corroborated by other pieces of evidence which demonstrate

that, as a consequence of the attack in the greater Eldoret area, peoplc were forced to

flee and to relocate to iDP camps or to other safer places..a

ia On buming and destruction of property: Statement of Witness t, KF.N-O1?-0028-0556 at 0579-0580;
KEN-OTP-002&0915 at 0931-0936, @M-@46, 09604963; KEN-OT?{028-0973 at @80-0981; derailed
description of the petrol can used at KEN-OTP-002&0973 at @81-0986. On murder: Statemenr of
Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0555 at 0580, 0598-059; ; KEN-OTP-0028-0915 at 0966 to 0971; KEN-OTP-
002&@73 at@89-@92.
., Statement of Witness l, KEN-OTP-0028-0845 at 0898; KEN-OTP-002&1532 at 1546; KEN-OTP-002&
1587 at 1593-1594; KEN-OTP-0057-0152 at 0178, 0179 and 0197; KEN-OTP-0057-0234 at 0243. Statement
of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0151, 0153; KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 0264. Statement of Witness 4,
KEN-OTP-0031-0O85 at 0099. Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-O fP-0051-0698;
Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP40514756-
ar Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&1104 at 1l t8-1121.
a,r Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0052-0053.
.r2 Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0O39 at 0052.
.rr Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0053.
.v Summary of statement of a non-[CC Witness, KEN-OTP4051-0713 at 0713; Summary of statement
of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-Cf5I-07 at 0736; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness,
KEN-OTP-0051-0743 at 0743; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0758 at
0758; UNICEF/IJNFPA report, "A Rapid Assessment of Gender Based Violence during the PosG
Election Violence in Kenya", .fanuary-February 2008, KEN-OTP{001-0973 at 1025-1026. CIPEV Report,
KEN-OTP-0001-0364 at 0419. KNCHR Report, KEN-O1'P-0001-0002 at 0070.
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(iii) Kaosabet town

258. With regard to the charges of deportation or forcible transfer of population in

Kapsabet town, the Prosecutor alleges that "[a]fter the results of the presidential

election were announced, perpetrators started attackin& looting and buming

businesses and properties believed to belong to PNU supporters".ss The Prosecutor

contended that "IDPs fled to Kapsabet town police station which, at its Peak,

sheltered approximately 2500 IDPs from Kapsabet town and surrounding areas".s

259. In the opinion of the Chamber, there are substantial grounds to believe that

Network perpetrators forcibly displaced PNU suPPorters in Kapsabet town from

30 December 2007 to 16 January 2008, as part of the widespread and systematic

attack directed against the civilian population.

260. The Chamber recalls its findings in paragraphs 167-112 and 237 -239 above, and

considers that there are substantial grounds to beteve that Network PerPetrators

who took part in the attack in Kapsabet town PerPerrated acts of kilting, looting.

burning and destruction of property.asT

261. The Chamber considers that there are substantial grounds to believe that these

acts targeted PNU supporters and forced them to relocate elsewhere.a$ In addition,

the evidence does not indicate that PNU suPPorters were unlawfully Present in the

Kapsabet town area from which they were deported or forcibly transferred.

262.To further support its finding, the Chamber refers to the testimony of Witness 1,

who stated that all Kikuyus living in Kapsabet lef t the town to take refuge in the local

police station or were otherwise transported to Eldoret, "otherwise they would have

.35 tCC-01/09-01/11-251-AnxA, para. 88.
{16 ICC-01/09-01/t 1-261-AnxA, para. 89.
r, Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0524 at 05694570; KEN-OTP-0051'0590 at 0597{598, at

0604-0606. Summary of statement of a nonlcc Witness, KEN-OTP-0o51-0728 at 9728. KEN-OTP-0001-

0002 at 0075.

'B Summary of Statement of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0730 at 0730. KNCHR Report, KEN-

OTP-0001-0002 at 0071.
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been killed [...] on their way to Eldoret".4re rhis evidence is corroborated by witness

6, who was in Kapsabet town at the peak of violence, namely on 3 and 4 January

2008.ru The witrress testified that thousands of pmple, mainly Kikuyu and Kisii, took

refuge at the local police station.{r rhis evidence corroborates other sources of

evidence, which report the flow of IDPs resulting from the violence broken out in

Kapsabet.€2

(i") Nandi Hills town

263.In the Amended DCC, the Prosecutor alleges that "[o]n or about 30 December

2007 Nandi Hills was attacked".n3 According to the Prosecutor ,,[alttackers looted

and burned PNU supporters' houses and businesses" and "PNU supporters sought

refuge at a Nandi Hills police station which eventually hosted approximately 32,000

IDPs".4

264. On the basis of the evidence available to the Chamber, there are substantial

grounds to believe that Network perpehators forcibly displaced PNU supporters in

Naadi Hills town from 30 December 2007 to 2 January 200& as part of the

widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian population. The

Chamber, however, is not satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to establish

substantial grounds to believe that Network perpetrators forcibly displaced pNU

supporters in Nandi Hills town after 2 lanuary 2008.

255. The Chamber recalls its findings in paragraphs L67-172 and 241-242 above, and

considers that there are substantial grounds to believe that Network perpetrators

$ Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0057-0181 at 0200.
{{o Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-m.51-c405 at c/.274428.
{I Statement o( Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0044-0@3 at 0029 and KEN-OTP-0051-0590 at 0610-0614.
qr Summary of statement of a non-[CC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0756 at 0756 said that 7478 people,
mostly Kikuyu and Kisii, took refuge at the Kapsabet police station. Summary of statement of a non-
ICC Witness, KEN-OTP-0O51-0760 at 076f., reported thar dozens of people working ar the Kapsabet
hospital were under threat and became IDPs. CIPEV report KEN-OTP{001-0364 at 04224423,
reporting that 8000 IDPs took shelter in Kapsabet police station.
+'r ICC-01/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 94.
..{. ICC-01/09-01/,1.,_261-AnrA, para. 97.
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who took part in the attack in Nandi Hills town perpetrated acts of killing looting

burning and deslruction of property.ss

266. The Chamber considers that there are substantial grounds to believe that these

acts targeted PNU supporters and forced them to relocate elsewhere.q6 Furthermore,

the evidence does not indicate that PNU supporters were unlawfully present in the

Nandi Hills town area from which they were deported or forcibly transferred.

267.The Chamber notes that Witness 6 was in Nandi Hills before moving to

Kapsabet town. The witness reported that as a consequence of the acts of looting and

burning "Kikuyus [were] seeking refuge in the police station".{7 This information is

corroborated by other pieces of evidence, consistently reporting that people started

fleeing from Nandi Hills town due to acts of burning and looting which were

targeting members of non-Kalenjin communities believed to be PNU supporters.4

268. In this regard, the Chamber recalls the Defence's challenge conceming the

Amended DCC's formulation of "deportation or forcible transfer of population". As

the Chamber has mentioned earlier, there is no apparent prejudice caused by this

formulation at this particular stage of the proceedings and in relation to this unique

crime, given that a concrete determination on either of the wo labels will be better

decided by the Trial Chamber due to the requisite threshold to be proved and all the

evidence to be presented and considered. In the context of the case sub judice, the

evidence presented before the Chamber does not and should not indicate with any

sort of certainty where the victims ultimately relocated. It suffices to say that at this

stage and based on the evidence available there are substantial grounds to believe

that the PNU supporters were forcibly displaced without grounds permitted under

intemational law from the areas where they were lawfully present. The factor of

where they have finally relocated as a result of these acts (i.e. within the State or

st Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0467 at 0516-0519.
* Summary of Statement of non-lCC Witness 28, KEN-OTP-0051-0738.
{7 Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP{o51-&167 at 0505.
* Summary of slatement of a non-ICC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0724 at 0724; Summary of statement
of a non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-0051-0738 at 0738; Summary of statement of a non-lCC Witness,
KEN-OTP-005'l -0740 at 0740.
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outside the State) in order to draw the distinction between deportation and forcible

tran{er is thus to be decided by the Trial Chamber, which will be presented more

concrete evidence in this regard. Therefore, the Chamber will retain the formulation

presented by the Prosecutor in his Amended DCC. Accordingly and in light of the

above, the Chamber finds substantial grounds to believe that deportation or forcible

transfer of population was committed in the locations referred to in the counts.

C. Petsecttiott

269.The crime against humanily of persecution is defined by article 7(2)(g) of the

Statute as "the intentional and severe deprivation of fundamental rights contrary to

intemational law by reason of the identity of the group or collectiviry". According to

article 7(1)(h) of the Statute, persecution must be committed "against any identifiable

group or collectivity on political, racial, nahonal, ethnig cultural, religious, gender as

defined in paragraph 3, or other grounds that are universally recognized as

impermissible under intemational law, in connection with any acts referred to in this

paragraph or any crime within the jurisdiction of the Court".

270. ln Counts 5 and 6, the Prosecutor alleges that from on or about 30 December

2007 to the end of January 2008, persecution was committed in locations including

Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area (Huruma, Kiambaa, Kimumu, Langas, and

Yamumbi), Kapsabet town, and Nandi Hills town in the Uasin Gishu and Nandi

Districts.se According to the Prosecutor, perpetrators belonging to the Nefwork

"intentionally and in a discriminatory manner targeted civilians based on their

politicai affiliatioru committing murder, torture, and deportation or forcible transfer

of population".'$

271.The Chamber underlines that the Prosecutor alleges that persecution has been

committed tfuough acts of murder and deportation or forcible transfer of population,

which have been already assessed as separate charges of crimes against humaniiy.

In this regard, the Chamber recalls its findings in paragraphs 225-226, 228-236, 237 -

1r, ICC-o1/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 133

'"o ICC-01/09-01/l t-261-AnxA, para. 133
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239, 241-242, 248-251 and 253-266 above. Accordingly, the Chamber is satisfied that

there are substantial grounds to believe that Network perpetrators killed and forcibly

displaced PNU supporters in Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area, Kapsabet and

Nandi Hills town during the timeframe specified in the previous paragraphs.

272.T\erefore, for the purposes of establishing whether the crime of persecution has

been committed, the Chamber does not consider it necessary to make an individual

assessment of each location included in the charges of persecution, insofar as these

locations are the same as those listed in the counts of murder and deportation or

forcible transfer of population.

273.The Chamber observes that the evidence indicates that the Network perpekators

killed and forcibly displaced persons primarily belonging to the Kikuyu, Kamba and

Kisii communities on the basis that they were perceived as PNU supporters. In this

respect, thc Chamber recalls what has been stated in paragraph 172 above, namely

that the criterion used by the Network perpetrators to identify and aftack their

victims was, in essence, their perceived political affiliation to the PNU. The Chamber

wishes to shess that, based on the evidence, Network perpetrators also targeted

members of other communities, including Kalenjin, believed to be siding with the

PNU.rst Testimonies of various witnesses who attended preparatory meetings

consistently indicate that members of the Network, including Mr. Ruto, made

speeches and instructed perpefrators to target Kikuyu, Kamba and Kisii on the basis

that "these people [...] don't vote for us the onJy thing is to kill them and evict them

from the Rift Valley".rsz Most of these witnesses were also present on the ground

immediately before and during the attack to the target locations, and stated that local

leaders coordinating the groups of raiders instructed the perpetrators to "attack the

'rt See for example the Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OT?-0031-0085 at 0097
{52 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0211 at 0214-0215.
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Kikuyu because they stole the votes",as 61 said that after the Kikuyu had fled or been

killed, the target was "those who were supporting Kibaki"..s

274. Considering the evidence submitted, the Chamber is satisfied that there are

substantial grounds to beiieve that Network perpetrators severely deprived

perceived PNU supporters of their rights in Turbo town on 31 December 2007, as

part of the widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian population.

There are substantial grounds to believe that Network perpetrators severely

deprived PNU supporters of their rights in the greater Eldoret area from 1 January

2008 to 4 January 2008, as part of the widespread and systematic attack directed

against the civilian population, Further, the Chamber considers that there are

substantial grounds to be[eve that Nelwork perpefrators severely deprived PNU

supporters of their rights in Kapsabet town from 30 December 2007 to 76 January

2008, as part of the widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian

population. Finally, there are substantial grounds to believe that Network

perpetrators severely deprived PNU supporters in Nandi Hills town from 30

December 2O07 to 2 January 2008, as part of the widespread and systematic attack

directed against the civilian population.

IE]xpressly specify[...j that Count 5 and Count 6 encompass additionally acts

of destruction of property, and looting, and the infliction of physical injuries;
and [to] add[...] counts of the crime against humanity of other inhumane
acts of a similar character intentionally causing great sufferin& or serious

au Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 009fi097.
.r Statement of Wihess 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0111 at 0013-0014,0124
.s5 lCC"0/09-0'l/1 1-T-12-ENC E1', pp.33,34.
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275. In this context, the Chamber recalls the request put forward by the Legal

Representative of victims during the confirmation hearinglss and reiterated in

subsequent filing1 including the Final Written Observations, whereby she requests

the Chamber "to exercise its power under Article 61(7)(c)(ii) of the Statute [to adjoum

the conlirmation hearing andll...l request the Prosecutor to consider amending the

charges". In developing her request, the Legal Representative of victims calls upon

the Prosecutor to:
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injury to body or mental or physical health (Article 7(1Xk) of the Statute, in
relation to the acts of destruction of property, and lootin& and the infliction
of Physical iniuries.'56

276. At Ihe outset, the Chamber acknowledges the suffering that victims have faced

as a result of the attack against the Kenyan civitan population and wishes to express

its dismay of such practices. However, being a judicial body, the Chamber must

always reflect its opinions through the scope of law, and thus, perform its functions

within the parameters dictated by the Court's statutory provisions.

277. T\e Chamber observes that, conkary to the Legal Representative of victims'

claim that the acts of destruchon of property, looting and the infliction of physical

iniuries were "iSnorel",tst the reference to these acts is acfually acknowledged by the

Prosecutor in different paragraphs in his Amended DCC as means that the Network

perpetrators employed to forcibly displace and persecute the PNU supporters.rs In

Sections VI(A) and VII(B) above, the Chamber found that there are substantial

grounds to believe that members of the Network perpetrated acts of looting buming

and destruction of property, which forced PNU supporters to relocate elsewhere.

Thus, the Chamber has already made a determination that the acts of buming,

looting and destructing property were the "coercive acts" (see in this regard the first

element of deportation or forcible transfer in the Elements of Crimes) through which

forced displacement actually occurred. Since the Chamber has already found that the

acts of forced displacement also constitute acts of persecution as they were directed

against a particular group for reason of their perceived political affiliation, the

Chamber is of the view that the acts of destruction of property and looting are

already encompassed in counts 5 and 6, contrary to what the Legal Representative of

victims argues.

278. Moreover, the Chamber is of the view that article 6f @(c)(ii) of the Statute only

allows the Chamber to request the Prosecutor to consider amending a charge.

Accordingly, the Chamber cannot, on the basis of this provision, request the

156 ICC-01/09-01/11-344 and in particular, paras 11-13.
15, ICC-01/09-01/1 1 _U4, paft . 72.

'r ICC-01/09-01/11-26]'AnxA, paras 31, 37, 39, 41, 44,74-75, 79, 88-89, 94
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Prosecutor to consider adding a new charge as the Legat Respresentative of victims

requests. For these reasons, the Chamber rejects the request of the Legal

Representative of victims.

279.Fna1ly, at this iuncture the Chamber should recall that in the conlirmation

hearing Mr. Ruto's Defence argued against the practice of ormulative charging on

the basis of an earlier finding of *Lis Chamber in the Bemba Confirmation of Charges

Decision. Accordingly, the Defence of Mr. Ruto requested that the Chamber confirm,

if any, only the charge of persecution.{se Similarly, in Mr. Sang's Final Written

Observations, the Defence also argued in favour of con-firming, if any, solely the

charge of persecution as "the elements of murder and deportation or forcible transfer

are subsumed within the charSe oI persecution".€

280. The Chamber disagrees with the Defences' argument. The definition of

persecution contains rnaterially distinct elements not present in the definition of

murder, namely the requirement of proof that a particular group was targeted on the

basis of certain discriminatory grounds described in article 7(t)(h) of the Statute.

Murder, by contrast, requires proof that the accused caused the death of one or more

persont regardless of whether the act or omission causing the death discriminates in

fact or was intended as discriminatory.

281. The same holds true with respect to persecution and deportation or forcible

transfer; the former requires, as "materially" distinct elements not included in the

definition of deportation or forcible transfer, proof of intent to discriminate. On the

contrary, deportation or forcible transfer requires, inter alia, proof that the pelpetrator

displaced one or more persons, regardless of whether the conduct was intended as

discriminatory. Accordingly, the practice of cumulative or multiple charging as to

these crimes on the basis of the same conduct is permissible.6l

ICC-0t/09-01/11-373 23-0t-2012 102/173 FB pT
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.e ICC-01/09-0U11-T-GRed-ENG, p. 119.

.60 ICC-0U09-0U11-354. paras 134-135, 140-148.
ar See also, Proseculor u. Dnio Kordit and Maio Cerkez, "Judgement", Case No. (IT-95-1412-A), 17

December 2004, paras -1040-1042; 
Proseculor r. Vidojc Blagojaoit ottrl [)rngott /okiC, "Judgement", Case
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VIII. INDIVIDUALCRIMINALRESPONSIBILITY

282. In light of the findings reached in sections VI and MI above, the Chamber's

assessment with respect to the attribution oI criminal resPonsibilify to Mr. Ruto, Mr.

Kosgey and Mr. Sang shall be confined to those acts constituting crimes against

humanity in respect of which the Chamber has found sufficient evidence to establish

substantial grounds to believe that they were committed, namely, those set out in

counts 1-6 of the Amended DCC to the extent specified in the relevant sections of the

present decision.

283. The Chamber will first address the challenge to the Prosecutor's inconsistent

labeling of criminal responsibility of the Suspects. ln paragraph 98 of the Amended

DCC, the Prosecutor alleges that Mr. Ruto and Mr. Kosgey are criminally responsible

as 'co-perpetrators' pursuant to article 25(3Xa) of the Stahlte for the crimes against

humanity set out in counts 1{.62 Later, in presenting his charges in paragraph 133

and in particular in counts 1, 3, and 5, the Prosecutor avers that Mr. Ruto and Mr.

Kosgey "committed or contributed to the commission of crimes against humanity

[.. .]" in the forms and locations described under these counts, "in violation of

Articles [...] and 25(3)(a) of the Statute".46r The same holds true in relation to counts

2, 4 and 6 conceming Mr. Sang where the Prosecutor charges him under article

25(3)(d) of the Statute, but still claims in these counts that Mr. Sang, "as part of a

group of persons, including [Mr. Ruto and Mr. Kosgey], acting with a common

purpose, committed or contributed to the crimes against humanity [...]" (emphasis

added).an

284. In this regard, the Chamber notes these inconsistencies and also recalls the

Decision on Summons to Appear in which it stated:

No. (lT-02-60-T), l7 January 2005, paras 807 -8'1.0; Prosecutor o. Milomir Statii, "Judgement", Case No.
(rc-97-24- Al,22 March 2005, para. 158.
{6' ICC-01/09{1/11-261-AnxA, para. 98.
'16r ICC-01/09-0U11-261-AnxA. para.133.
.61 ICC-01/@-01/11-261-AnxA, para. 133; The issue was also raised by the Defence of Mr. Sang during
the confirmation of charges hearing, see ICC-01/09-01/l i-T-5-ENG ET WT, p. 52, lines 1-8.
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Although the Prosecutor may tenerally charge in the alternativg he
should be consistent throughout his Application about the actual
mode(s) of liability that he intends to present to the Chamber. Moreover,
the possibility for the Prosecutor to charge in the alternative does not
necessarily mean that the Chamber has to respond in the same manner.
ln particular, the Chamber is not persuaded that it is best praclice to
make simultaneous findings on modes of liability presented in the
altemative. A person cannot be deemed conorrently as a principal and
an accessory to the same crime. Thus, it is the Chambe/s view that an
initial decision has to be made on the basis of the material provided, as
to whether there are reasonable grounds to believe that Ruto, Kostey
and Sang bear criminal responsibility for the crimes against humanity
that occuued in the specific locations in the Republic of Kenya, as
discussed in section II abovg either as co-perpetrators, indirect co-
perpetrators, or any other form of liability presented or that the Chamb€r
finds appropriate.*s

285. Thus, although such inconsistency or lack of precision may raise an issue of

deficiency of the Amended DCC,466 the Prosecutor's clarification that the two

suspects are charged under article 25(3)(a) of the Statute by way of presenting the

elements underlying indirect-co-perpetration cures the apparent inconsistency.eT The

same reasoning applies to the situation of Mr. Sang since the Prosecutor actually

developed the legal elements of article 25(3)(d) of the Statute. It foltows that the

Chamber shall proceed with its examination on the basis of these particular modes of

liabiliry.

286. Nevertheless, before doing so, the Chamber shall respond to the argument

raised by the Defence of Mr. Ruto during the confirmation hearing, whereby it

challenged the underlying theory of indirect co-perpeEafion or joint commission of a

crime through another person as inconsistent with the text of article 25(3Xa) of the

Stahlte.4s

ct Pre-Trial Chamber II, "Decision on the Proseoto/s Application for Summons to Appear for
William Samoei Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and.foshua Arap Sang", ICC-01/09-01/11-1, para.36.
166 ICC4I/09-01/11-355, paras 31-32; ICC-01/09-01/11-354, para. 60.
46?lCC-01/@-01/11-261-AnxA, pp. 25-32.
163 ICC-01/09-01n1-T-6-CONF-ENG E'f, p. 157, lines i-8.

r\o. ICC-01/09-01/ll 1041139 23 lantzry 2012
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287. [n this context, the Chamber concurs with the finding of Pre-Trial Chamber I

in the case of The Prosecutor o. Germain Katanga and Mathieu Ngudjolo Cftui, *e in wh'ch

it stated:

The Chamber notes that article 25(3)(a) uses the connective "or", a

disiunction (or altemation). Two meanings can be attributed to the word
"or" - one known as weak or inclusive and the other stron8 or exclusive.
An inclusive disiunction has the sense of "either one or the other, and
possibly both" whereas an exclusive disjunction has the sense of "either
one or the other, but not both". Therefore, to interPret the disiunction in
article 25(3)(a) of the Statute as either "inclusive" or "exclusive" is

possible from a strict textualist interprctation. In the view of the

Chamber, basing a person's criminal responsibility upon the ioint
commission of a crime through one or more persons is therefore a mode

of liability "in accordance with the Statute".470

288. However, referring to the jurisprudence of the Intemational Criminal Tribunal

for the Former Yugoslavia ("ICTY") and the Special Tribunal for Lebanon ("STL"),

the Defence of Mr. Ruto argues that the ICTY and the STL found that this mode of

liability "does not exist under customary intemational law".'7t

289. The Chamber disagrees with the Defence's argument relying on the

jurisprudence of other intemational or hybrid tribunals. According to article 21 of the

Statute, "the Court shall apply: (a) [i]n the first place, [thel Statute, Elements of

Crimes and its Rules of Procedure and Evidence; (b) [i]n the seco d Place, uhete

appropriate, applicable treaties and the principles and rules of international law,

including the established principles of the international law of armed conflict"

(emphasis added). The iurisprudence of other intemational or hybrid tribunals is not,

in principle, applicable law before the Court and may be resorted to only as a sort of

persuasive authority, unless it is indicative of a principle or rule of intemational law.

But even then, applying a customary rule of intemational law only "where

appropriate" limits its application to cases where there is a lacuna in the Statute and

the other sources referred to in article 21(l)(a). In other words, the Chamber should

4@ ICC-O'I1O4-O1107-698, para. 24; Pre.Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-

01 lB-o7 107 -7 17, para. 49o.
rrc Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-01/04-01/07-717, Parc. 497.
rn ICC-O] /09-01 /1 1'T-6-CONF-ENG ET, p.'1 59, lines 1 4-17, 21 -25.
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not resort to applying article 21(lxb), unless it has found no answer in paragraph (a).

This is not the case as the modes of liabiliry of co-perpetration and indirect

perpetration are already captured by the language of article 25(3)(a); pre-Trial

Chamber I merely provided a dynamic or effective interpretation of the provision by

way of merging the two modes of participatiory which is, in the opinion of this

Chamber, consistent with the rules of heaty interpretation envisaged by article 31 of

the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties.az

290. Having said the above, this Chamber finds no reason to depart from pre-Trial

Chamber I's finding on this issue, and accordingly, it shall examine the relevant part

of the Proseotor's Amended DCC against the mode of responsibility of indirect co-

perpetration relevant to the charges against Mr. Kosgey and Mr. Ruto.

29"1. In this regard, the Chamber also recalls its finding in the Bemba Confirmation

of Charges DecisiorL where it acknowledged that the concept of co-perpetration

(joint commission) whether direct or indirect, embodied in article 25(3)(a) of the

Stah-rte and reflected in the words "[committing] .iointly with another or through

another person", must go together with the notion of "control over the crime'.173

292. The Chamber consequently recalls that the mode of participation of indirect

co-perpetration consists of the following objective and subjective elements:

(i) the suspect must be part of a common plan or an agreement with one or more

persons; (ii) the suspect and the other co-perpetrator(s) must carry out essential

rz lntemational Court of Justice (lcll, bgal Consequetces t'or States of the Continued Presence of South
Africa in Namibia (South uest Africo) NohoithstandinS Secutily Council Resolution 276(1970),lCJ Reports
1971, p.35; ibid., Aegean Sea Contineltql Shelf, ICI Reports 1978, p. 22; Territorial Dispute (Libyan Arab
lamahiryoh/ Cfiad), Judgment of 3 February 1994, ICJ Reports 1994, p. 25; lnter American Court o[
Human Rights (lACIHR), Fairen Garbi ud Solis Connles Case, Preliminary Obiections,.ludgment of 26

June 1987, ibrd., (Ser. C) No. 2, para. 35; Co,rstanfine et ol. D Trinidod and Tobago Case, Preliminary
Objectiors, ludgment ol 1 September 2001, ibid., (Ser. C) No- 82, pala.73; European Court of Human
Rights (ECtllR), Manatkuloo and Abdurauloaic a. 'furkey, (Meits) Ap?, No. 46827/99, Judgment of 6
February 2003, paras. 93-94; ibid., Loizidou o Turkey (Prelininary Obiections), App. No.l531/89, 23 March
1995, para.72.
r^ Pre-Trial Chamber I[, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision.ICC-01/05-01/08424, pala.348. Prc-
Triaf Chamber l, Lubanga decision, ICC-01/M-01/0G803-IEN, paras 326-341; Prq.Trial Chamber l,
Kntd,rgd decision, ICC-01104-0U07 -717, paras 480-4E6; Pre-Trial Chamber l, The Prosecutor o Omar
Hnssan Ahmnd Al Bashir, "Decision on the Prosecution's Application for a Warrant of Arrest against
Omar Hassan Ahmad Al Bashir", ICIC-02/05-01/09-3, para.210.
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conEibutions in a coordinated manner which result in the fulfillment of the material

elements of the crime; (iii) the suspect must have control over the organisation;

(iv) the organisation must consist of an organised and hierarchal apparatus of power;

(v) the execution of the crimes must be secured by almost automatic compliance with

the orders issued by the suspect; (vi) the suspect must satisfy the subjective elements

of the crimes; (vii) the suspect and the other coperpetrators must be mutually aware

and accept that implementing the common plan will result in the fulfillment of the

material elements of the crimes; and (viii) the suspect must be aware of the factual

circumstances enabling him to exercise joint control over the commission of the crime

through another person(s). '7.

A. Ciminal Reporsibility of Mt Kosgey

293. Having examined the evidence available as a whole, the Chamber does not

find sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Kosgey is

criminally responsible as an indirect co-perpetrator with Mr. Ruto and others in

accordance with article 25(3)(a) of the Statute or under any other altemative mode of

liability for the crimes against humanity refened to in counts 1,3 and 5. The

Chamber reaches this finding upon evaluation of the evidence available before it,

provided by both parties. In particular, the Prosector primarily relies on the detailed

description of one anonymous witness (Witness 6) to prove the allegations regarding

Mr. Kosgey's role within the organisation. As the Chamber stated in paragraph 78 of

the present decision anonymous witness statements have lower probative value and,

in the absence of corroboration of the key facts alleged by the Prosecutor, the

evidence presented might not be deemed sufficient to commit a person to trial.

294. More specifically, with a view to supporting Mr. Kosgey's role within the

organisation, the Prosecutor presents the statement of Witnesses 2 and 4 as well as

.7{ Pre'Trial Chamber II, "Decision Pursuant to Article 61(4(a) and (b) of the Rome Statute on the
Charges of the Prosecutor Against Jean-Pierre Bemba Gombo", ICC-0105-01/08-424, paras. 350-351;

Pre-Trial Chamber I "Decision on the confirmation of charges" against Cermain Katanga and Mathiew
Ngudjolo Chui, ICC-01/04{1107-717, paras. 500-514, 527-539; Pre-Trial Chamber I, "Decision on the
Prosecution's Application for a Warrant o[ Arrest against Omar Hassan Ahmad AI Bashir", ICC-02/05-
01/09-3, paras 209-213.
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the summaries of statements of six non-ICC witnesses and a NSIS report. However,

the Chamber considers that this evidence does not corroborate Witness 6,s detaited

description of Mr. Kosgey's role within the organisation, Based on a review of the

evidence, the Chamber finds that Witness 2 merely mentions Mr. Kosgey's presence

in a meeting which took place on 14 December 2007 at Mr. Ruto's house and says

that "every time R[uto] had to organize an event, [Mr. Kosgey] was the ODM

chairperson...and he never challenged Ruto on;rn! issug".rz: Furthermore, Witness 4

refers to Mr. Kosgey's attendance at an ODM rally at Stadium in 2005, but never

refers to his alleged involvement during the 200/2008 post-election violence.{76 With

regard to the six non-lCC witrresses, the Chamber underlines that they alleged, in

general terms, that Mr. Kosgey was involved in the planning of the 200/2008 post-

election violence in Kenya. .z None of them, however, provided information

corroborating the detailed statement of Wikress 6 with regard to Mr. Kosgey's

alleged involvement in the commission of the crimes and particularly his specilic role

within the organisation. Lastly, the NSIS Report dated 7 January 2008 also indicates,

without specification, that Mr. Kosgey is "reported to be funding post-election

violence in parts of Rift Valley".r76 As the Defence of Mr. Kosgey correctly observes

"[t]he evidence from that one witness [Witsress 6] in relation to Mr. Kosgey is not

corroborated or supported in any meanigful way by any other part of the

Prosecution case".47e

295. Furthermore, in Mr. Kosgey's Final Written Observations, the Defence

complained about the redaction of the dates of four planning meetings, at which Mr.

Kosgey was allegedly present.am According to the Defence, such redactions impaired

its right to rebut the Prosecutor's allegations concerning the suspect's alleged

a7t Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OT?-0055-0136, at 0150-0153.
{76 Statment of Witness 4. KEN-OTP-0031-0085. at 0108.
4' Summary of statement of non-lCC Witnest KEN-OTP-0051,-0724; Summary of statement of non-
ICC Wihess, KEN-OTP-0051-0726; Summary of statemmt of non-lCC Witness, KEN-OTP-00S1-0728;

Summary of statement of non-lCC Witnest KEN-OTP-Cf6l4734; Summary of statement of non-lCC
Witness, KEN-OTP{O53-0248; Summary of statement of non-lCC Witness KEN-OTP-0053-0250.
a78 NSIS Situation Report, KEN-OTP-0002-0015, at 0067.
{R ICC-01/09-01/11-353, paras 4,47, 50.
.& ICC-o1/09-01/i 1-353, pp. 28,30.
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presence in these meetings and, by implication, the charges against him. In the view

of the Defence, two out of the four dates related to these meetings were revealed to

the Defence by the Prosecutor only in his Final Written Observations. [n the

Defence's opinion, the lack of information about the dates of these meetings and in

particular the late knowledge of the two dates caused Sreat prejudice.

296. The Chamber acknowledges the Defence's concern over the lack of crucial

dates, which is unique to Mr. Kosgey; it recalls paragraph 101 of the present decision

in which it explained that the "redactions of certain dates within one witness

statetrnent" was justified and "necessary for security reasons".

297 . However, the Chamber must assess the alleged preiudice suffered by the

Defence in light of all the cirormstances of this case, in particular the redaction of the

dates of the meetings and the preiudice resulting from these specific redactions as

well as the lack of sufficient corroboration to the evidence provided by anonymous

Witness 6. Having evaluated the evidence as a whole, in view of the preiudice

experienced by the Defence, the Chamber finds that the Prosecutor has not met the

evidentiary standard required at this stage of the proceedings. It follows that the

Chamber needs neither to engage with the Defence challenges related to Mr.

Kosgey's involvement, nor to proceed with an examination of the elements

concerning his alteged criminal responsibility as provided in the Amended DCC.

Instead, the Chamber shall provide its findings only in relation to the criminal

responsibility of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang.

298. At this point, the Chamber underlines that the above finding regarding the

charges of the Prosecutor against Mr. Kosgey does mean that the Chamber cannot

rely on the statement provided by Witness 6 as well as the other witnesses referred to

above for the purposes of the present decision. As clarified under section IV, the

admissibility, relevance and probative value of each piece of evidence is assessed on

a case-by-case basis in regard of every distinct issue and the available evidence

related thereto. Thus, in some instances, one and the same piece of evidence might be

No. ICC-01/09-01/l I 1091139 23 January 2012
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insufficient to justify a certain allegation or fact (if it stands isolated from any other

evidence, as is the current case) while, in otler circumstances, the same evidence

might prove to be a valuable component of an aggregate of evidence relevant to a

specific charge. Consequently, the information provided by Witnesses 2, 4 and, 6 as

well as the non-lCC witnesses, though insufficient to prove the charges against

Mr. Kosgey, appears to be consistent with other pieces of evidence. Thus, they could

substantiate other allegafions.

299. 'fhe Chamber does find that there is sufficient evidence to establish substantial

grounds to believe that Mr. Ruto is criminally responsible as irn indirect co-

perpetrator with others pursuant to article 25(3)(a) of the Statute for the crimes

against humanity of murder (article 7(1)(a)), deportation or forcible transfer of

population (article 7(1)(d)) and persecution (article 7(1)(h)) as specified under section

vII of the present decision. The Chamber also finds that there is sufficient evidence to

establish substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Sang is criminally responsible under

article 25(3)(d) of the Statute for the crimes against humanity of murder (article

(1)(a)), deportation or forcible transfer of population (article 7(l)(d)) and persecution

(article 7(1)(h)) as specified under section VII of the present decision. The Chamber

arrived at its conclusion on the basis of an examination of the legal elements

underlying the relevant modes of liability together with the evidence available as

elaborated in the following paragraphs.

300. The Chamber recalls that the Defence of Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang challenged

the existence of a number of planning meetings in an attempt to demonstrate the

absence of the suspects in these meetings and, by implication, the lack of their

criminal responsibility for the crimes against humanity committed in the different

locations specified in section VII above. The Chamber has addressed the evidence of

alibi and other related issucs pertaining to the Suspects' possible absence from these

meetings on the basis of the evidence available and has concluded that the evidence,

viewed as a whole, does not support such a conclusion. Since the Chamber has
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already dealt with these challenges as preliminary matters, there is no need to re-

address them in the present section.

B. Ciminal responsibility of Ml Ruto

(i) Objective elements

a) Thc susDect must Dart ofa common olan or an agreement with one or more

Dersons

301. The first objective element for indirect co-perPerration is the existence of a

common agreement or a plan among those who fulfill the elements of the crime

tfuough another person.aEr As established in the jurisprudence of the Court, the

aSreement or plan must include an element of criminaliry,{2 meaning that it must

involve the commission of a crime with which the suspect is charged'{a

The agreement or plan does not necessarily need to be explicit.s Rather, its existence

may be inferred from the'concerted action'of the indirect co-perPetrators.€s

302. The Chamber considers that there is sufficient evidence to establish substantial

grounds to believe that between 30 December 2006 and 22 December 2007, a criminal

plan was developed and set in place by Mr. Ruto and other members of the

organisation (the Nerwork) with the purpose of evicting members of the Kikuyu,

Kisii, and Kamba communities in particular because they were perceived as PNU

supporters. Mr. Ruto hosted a series of meetings, some at his house in Sugoi, where

other high-ranking members of the organisation, including politicians, businessmen

and former police and military officials, were present.

€r Pre-Trial Chamber tl, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05-0110&424, para. 350.

Pre-Trial Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges Decision, tCC-01/0441/06'803.t8N, para. 343. Pre-Trial

Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges Decision, [CC-01/044U07-717, para.522.lCfY, The Prosecutor a.

Milomir Sta*ic, Case No- IT-97-24-T, Trial IudSement, 31 luly 2003, Paras 470-477.
€r Pre-Trial Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-0U04-01/06-E03-tEN, para. 344.
€ Pre-Trial Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/04-01/06603-IEN, para. 344; Pre
Trial Chamber t, Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-0UM-01107 -717, para.523.
e Pre.Trial Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-0U04-01/06-803-IEN, para. 345; Pre-

Trial Chamber l, Confirmation ol Charges Decision, ICC-O7/O441107-717, para.523.
a5 Pre-Trial Chamber t, Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/0{-01/0'803-IEN, para. 345; Pre-

Trial Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges Dccision, TCC-01/04-01107-717, para. 523.
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303.As demonstrated in greater detail under paragraphs 187-196 of the present

decision, over the course of these meetings, Mr. Ruto, together with other key

members of the organisation, agreed upon several aspects which were crucial for the

development and implementation of the criminal plan. These aspects include:

(a) The appoinfment of commanders and divisional commanders responsible for the

operations on the field;ue

(b) The production of maps marking out the areas most densely inhabited by

communities perceived to be or actually siding with the PNU as well as the

identification of houses and busiaess premises owned by PNU supporters with a

view toward targeting them.a8? In this regard, Wihress 8 stated that Mr. Ruto

distributed maps which mark the locations where PNU supporters reside.s

Moreovet Witness 5 confirms that in the Kabongwa meeting in December 2007, t.vto

members of the organisation, including one divisional commander, were requested

to provide an update on the identification of Kikuy'u and Kisii houses in Kapsabet

and Nandi Hills towns.{8e This approach of identifying houses belonging to the PNU

supporters to be targeted has also been conlirmed by other witnesses such as Witsress

5 and a non-ICC Wikress;a{

e Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP{02V0776 ar 0796,08004804. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-
0055-0163 at 0166-0169; KEN-OTP-005'm56 at 0263. Statement of Witness 6 KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at
O022-W23, 0027; KEN-OTP{52-0349 at 038}0390 (for division of the area between the three
commanders); KEN-OTP-00514993 at 1012-1013. Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-00524525 at 0556
0558.
€7 Maps and sketches provided by Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0O44-0039, KEN-OTP-0044-0038. Statemenr of
Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0915 at 0922,0931-0936 0944-0946; KEN-OTP-0028-1358 at 1392 KEN-OTP-
0057-0234 at 0246; KEN-OTP-0057-0250 at 02510257 . Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0053-0256 ar
0256; KEN-OTP-0055{083 at 0089; Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0@& 0101.

Statement of Witrress 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-O256 at
0275-0278; KEN-OTP-0051-0405, at 0415, 0421 to 0424, 0528; KENOTP-0051{524 at 0528{529 and
0578 to 0581. Summary o{ a Statement of a Non-lCC witness, KEN:OTP-0051-0724.
& Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526 at 05624564.
@ Statement of Witress 6, KEN-OTP-m,51-0256, at 0275 to 0278.
.e0 Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055.Summary of statement of nonJCC Wiuress,
KEN-OTP-0051-0724.
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(c) The purchase of weapons as well as material to produce crude weapons and their

storage before the attack, which is clear from the findings made earlier by the

Chamber;aer

(d) The transportation of the perpetrators to and from the target locations. According

to Witness 8, Mr. Ruto expressed that two companies belonging to two members of

the organisation would provide the means for transportation.a2 Regarding the

implementation phase of the common plan, the same witrress avers that he saw a

tractor pulling a trailer carrying between 40 and 60 youths armed with arrows and

machetes, material which was used to kill people. {e3 In addition, the Chamber notes

that Wikress 4 gathered with more than 2000 physical perpetrators in the outskirts of

Eldoret town before the attack and reports that one Kalenjin elder indicated that

"there would be some vehicles to transport people".aea 2:rd

(e) The establishment of a stipendiary scheme and a rewarding mechanism to

motivate the perpetrators to kill and displace the largest number of persons

belonging to the targeted communities as well as to destroy their properties.{es This

information is corroborated by a statement made by Witness 2 who said that Mr.

Ruto promised that perpetrators would get " tifly thousand Kenyan shillings for

killing a Kikuyu" as well as "a piece of land".an6 Although Witness 8 states that "this

money [...] promised was never given" ,att he equally asserts that people felt

.e! Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0O28-O776 at 0806 to 0808. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-
0029-0131 at 0141,0143 to 0144; KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 0262 Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-00,14-
0003 at 0015 to 0016, 0025; KEN-OTP-0051-0135 at 0193, 0195; KEN-OTP-0O51-O207 at 0219 to 0220,

0222 KEN-OTP4051-O256 at 0271.
ae2 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0f,52-0577 at 0589 to 0590.

'er Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052'1007 at 1023-1025.

'q Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP{031-0085 at 0100. See also the hearsay evidence from Witness 5,

who was told that lorries were provided to ferry Kalenjin youths to the target locations (Statement of
Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055)
re5 Statement of Witrress 1, KEN-OTP-002E-0845 at 0905. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0111

at 01160117; KEN-OT?-0029-0131 at 0141; KEN-OTP-005,0256 at 0267. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-
OTP-0031-0085 at 0@3; KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0100. Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at
0417. Statement of Wihess 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0850 at 0855.

'% Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0111 at 0116-0117.
ae7 Statement of Witrress 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0904 at 0917.
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motivated to kill because of the promised reward.'% Therefore, it is irrelevant if the

money has actually been paid, since the pecunlary promise served its purpose of

motivating the direct perpetrators to commit the crimes.

304. Thus, the Chambcr is satisfied that the first objective element of indirect co-

perpetratioru the existence of a common plan, has been met.

b) The suspect and the other co-perpetrator(s) must carry out essential

contributions h a coordinated marurer which result in the fulfillment of the material
elements of the crime

305. The second objective element for indirect co-perpetration is that the suspect and

the other co-perpetrators must carry out coordinated essential contributions that

result in the satisfaction of the material elements of the crime.{ry

306. The Chamber recalls that, according to the jurisprudence of the Court, where

the persons commit the crimes through others, their essential contribution may

consist of activathg the mechanisms which lead to automatic compliance with their

orders and, thus, the commission of the crimes.s Moreover, the Statute does not

require that the essential character of a task be linked to its performance at the

execution stage.sr ln this regard, the Chamber concurs with the finding reached in

the case of The Proseurtor v. Germain Katanga and Mathieu Ngudiolo Chai where Pre-

Trial Chamber I stated:

Designing the attack, supplying weapons and ammunitions, coordinating
and moving the activities of the direct perpetrators may constitute
contributions that must be considered essential regardless of when they are

exercised (before or during the execution staSe of the crime).e'?

307. The Chamber is satisfied that there is sufficient evidence to establish

substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Ruto, in his capaciry as the top of the

hierarchal structure of the organisatiory together with other high-ranking members

.s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0850 at 0857 and KEN-OTP-0052{904 at 0917.

ae Pre-Trial Chamber II, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05-0U08-424, para. 350.

Pre-Trial Chamber l, Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/0441/06-803-tEN, para. 346. PreTrial

Chamber I, Confirmation of Charges D€.cision, ICC-01104-0U07 -717, para.524.
so Pre-Trial Chamber [, Decision on the confirmation of charges, ICC-01/04-01/07 -717, para.525.
$1 Pre-Trial Chamber l, Decision on the confirmation of charges, ICC-o1/M4UO7-777, para.526.
sr Pre,Trial Chamber l, Decision on the confirmation of charges, lCC-01 104-01 lO7 -717 , pata.526.
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of the Network, provided essential contributions to the implementation of the

common plan to commit the crimes against humanity referred to in section VII above

and in the locations specified therein, namely, Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area,

Kapsabet town, and Nandi Hills town.

308. The Chamber also considers that there is sufficient evidence to establish

substantial grounds to believe that, in the absence of Mr. Ruto's essential

contributiory which included activating the mechanisms leading to almost automatic

compliance with his orders,s the common plan to commit said crimes would have

been fruslrated. The Chamber arrives at this conclusion based on the central role

played by Mr. Ruto in organizing coordinating and ptanning the attack directed

against a particular part of the civilian population, namely perceived PNU

supporters.

309. According to the evidence available, there are substantial grounds to believe

that Mr. Ruto created the Network or the organisation for the purpose of 'evicthg'

the PNU supporters. Mr. Ruto also supervised the overall planning and was

responsible for the implementation of the common plan to carry out crimes

committed in the enhre Rift Valley. This role can be clearly detected throughout the

series of meetings carried out between 30 December 2006 and 22 December 2007 as

well as during the post-election violence period. With respect to the latter, Witness 4

said that on the moming following the announcement of the electoral results, one

Kalenjin leader received a message from Mr. Ruto saying that the "votes had been

rigged" and that the Kikuyu should be attacked.s According to the witness, the

"discussion" was to attack Turbo town. Witness 5 also reports that Mr. Ruto

continued funding the organisation during the attack by sending 200.000 Kenyan

Shillings to one of the field coordinators.$s

s See sub-sections c(1) and (2).
q Statement of witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 009t0097. See also Statement of Witness 1, KEN-
OTP-0028-0845 at 08s1-0854; KEN-OT?-0028-@15 at 0922.
{r Statenrent of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0054.
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310. Moreover, tfuoughout the period between 30 December 2006 and the post-

election violence, Mr. Ruto negotiated and supervised the purchase of guns and

crude weapons to implement the criminal plan.s He also gave instructions to the

perpetrators as to who they had to kill and displace and whose property they had to

destroy.P

311. Mr. Ruto also established a rewarding mechanism with fixed amounts of

money to be paid to the perpetsators upon successful murder of PNU supporters or

destn:ction of their properties. The Chamber has presented the information and

evidence that support these facts in more detail in paragraphs 187-196 of the present

deosion.

312. Therefore, the Chamber is satislied that the second objective element of

indirect co-perpetration has been met.

c) 'lhe sus t have control tion

lcc-0 I /09-0 l/ I I -373 23-01-2012 6/173 FB pT

t

on f econsist of an or and er

crimes must be sccured bv almost automatie compliance urilh the orders issued by
the suspect

313. The Chamber notes that the last three obiective elements for the satisfaction of

hdirect co-perpetration are that: (i) the suspect must have control over the

organisation; (ii) the organisation must consist of an organised and hierarchal

apparatus of power; and finally (iii) the execution of the crimes must bc secured by

almost automatic compliance with the orders issued by the suspect.* With respect to

these elementt the Chamber shall address them collectively given the nature of the

facts of this case and the interrelation between these elements.

3"14. The Chamber considers that for the purpose of satisfying these elements the

evidence available must demonstrate, to the threshold required under article 51(7) of

s Statement of Witness 1, KEN-O'rP-0028-0776 at 0805{808. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-

0131 at0141,0143. Statement of Witness 6 KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at m25; KEN-OTP405I {135 at 0193;

KEN-OTP-0051-0207 at 0226, 0227 ; KEN-OTP-0051 4349 at 0395{396.
s7 Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&0E45 at 0904 to 0905; KEN-OTP-0028-1358 at 1390, 1401.

Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0946 ar W69 ro0970.
s Pre-'I'rial Chamber l, Kntnn.gn dccision, ICC-01/04-0'l /07-717, paras 510-518.
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315. In this regard, the Chamber recalls its previous finding under section VI

whereby it established that the Network of perpetrators constituted an organisation

within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute. The Chamber also recalls by way

of reference to paragraph 197 of the present decision that said organisation feahrred a

hierarchal structure and apparahrs of power.

376. The Chamber, having examined the evidence as a whole, finds that there is

sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Ruto by

virtue of his position at the top of the Network and the dominant role he played, had

control over the organisation and his orders to carry out the crimes committed in the

different locations specified in section VII above were secured by alrnost automatic

compliance.

317. In particular, the Chamber finds substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Ruto

exercised his control over the organisation in a manner that assured that his orders

were carried out by almost automatic compliance by way of at least a two-fold

strategy: (1) a payment mechanism; and (2) a punishment mechanism.

318. ln this context, the Chamber recalls that, during the confirmation of charges

hearing, the Defence of Mr. Ruto challenged the existence of any control by the

suspect over the organisation on the basis of the fact that Mr. Ruto disseminated

peace messages during the violence, but that these did not stop the violence. Thus,

accordhg to the Defence, this means that Mr. Ruto had no control over the

organisation.

319. The Chamber disagrees with the logic underlying the Defence's argument.

The fact that Mr. Ruto may have disscminated peace messages does not obliterate the

No. ICC-01/09-01/Il 1171139 23 Janrary 2012
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evidence supporting the Prosecutor's allegation that Mr. Ruto planned, coordinated

and supervised the implementation of the plan to commit the acts of violence. The

issue at sta-ke is a question of the availability and qualify of evidence that supports

one interpretation of the events against the other. Based on the evidence available,

the Chamber is convinced to the degree of substantial grounds to believe that Mr.

Ruto played a maior role in the development, coordination and implementation of

the plan to attack PNU supporters, and thus, the Defence's argument is without

merit.

(t) Payment mechanism:

320. The Chamber fould above, on the basis of the evidence available, that Mr.

Ruto established a scheme of payment to the members of the organisation including

the physical perpetrators who committed the crimes against humanity. Such scheme

involved two different categories of payment. The first was a stipend or a sort of a

salary to be paid to the members of the organisation (for the purpose of

motivation),s while the second was a sort of a reward to be given upon the

successful killing of any PNU supporter and the destruction of his/her property.5t0

327. As to the stipend, the evidence indicates that Mr. Ruto regularly paid

members of the organisation. He either paid them himself during the preparatory

meetings as explained earlier in paragraph 193 of the present decision, or tfuough his

coordinators on the ground duriag the implementation phase of thc plan.s1r In

particular, according to Witness 8, Mr. Ruto paid a sum of money to members of the

organisation.5t2 This sum varied depending on whether the person was a former

soldier or not. Those who were ex-soldiers were paid a higher amount than thosc

s Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-o051-0405 at 0417-0418.
:r0 See Section V[ (C)(i) of the Decision.
tlrStatement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0141. Statement of Witness 4, KEN-O'P-0031-0085

at 0100.
tr2 Statcment of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0850 at 0851-0853.
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who were not. Witness I who was part of the same meeting on 14 December 2002

also conlirms the information about the payment of said salary.sl3

322. Moreover, money provided by Mr. Ruto was also distributed tfuough his

coordinators. According to WiEress Z Mr. Ruto provided one of his coordinators

with a sum of money to pass on to another coordinator on the Sround for the

purpose of securing food and transportation for the physical perpetrators.5la With

regard to the issues of food and transportation, the Chamber recalls that Witrress 5

provides evidence that, during the commission of the crimet perpetrators were

provided with food, drinks and transportation,srs The issue of regular payment is

also confirmed by Witness 4 who said that he received a message from Mr. Ruto uia

one of the coordinators encouraging them to fight for their community and that the

coordinator had a "bundle of notes", meaning money to distribute to the physical

perpefrators, which came directly from Mr. Ruto.sr6

323. With respect to the rewarding practice, Witness 2 states that Mr. Ruto

established a reward practice for those who participated in the killing of Kikuyus.

According to the witness, "to kill a Kikuyu was rewarded with 50000 shillings"; these

perpetrators would also "acquire a piece of land".su

5rr Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 0267.
5r4 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0062 at 0064.0069.
5r5 Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0037-0039 at 0055.
5r6 Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0o31-0085 at 0100.
5r7 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OT?-0055-0111 at 0115; KEN-OT?-0053-0255 at 0265 (providing a list
of people who acquired land through their participation in the violence).
5r8 Statement of Witncss 2, KEN-OTP-0053,0256 at 0270.
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(2) Punishmentmechanism

324. The Chamber also finds, on the basis of the evidence, that in addition to the

reward practice, Mr. Ruto created a punislment mechanism in sihrations of non-

compliance. Wihess 2 stated that "during the war, people were forced to fight [...].

Anyone who did not want to participate was considered a traitor and was to be

killed'.srE When receiving money from Mr. Ruto at the close of the 14 December 2007

meeting, the same witness confirms that "there was no way to refuse the money".
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Wihess 2 stresses that "[i]f [he] had rejected the money, it could have been seen

suspicious and [he would have] been seen as a spy [...]"."'

325. Moreover, in the context of the attack on Turbo Town on 31 December 2007,

Witness 4 "was told that everyman had to go to Turbo." He felt this was

"compulsory" and he would have "been beaten" if he refused to go.sm Said witness

learned of a boy who was beaten for refusing to participate in the attack on Turbo

town.s2l Additionally, he said that the coordinator who was leading the group in this

area "had authority to order everything [...] even order a person to be killed if he

thought that person was not in support".5z In this respect, the Chamber draws the

attention to the testimony of Witness 8 who states that one man was killed because

he was voting for PNU instead of the Kalenjin-backed ODM.523

326. Furthermore, Witness 2 reports an altemative method of sanctioning those

who did not comply and did not join the violence against the PNU supporters.

According to the said witness, when the violence started on 30 December 2002 those

who refused to join were punished by beirg obligated to "donate something to help

feed [...] the youths participating in the looting".sza Additionally, Witness 4 reports

that at least one person was spared from beatings by giving a bull as appeasement.sl

327. The Chamber finds, moreover, that the twofold mechanism established was

strengthened by an additional element, namely Mr. Ruto's position within the

organisation and the dominant role he played during the PreParatory and

implementation phases of the plan.

5re Statement o{ witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0141.
5m Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0092
5rr Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0097,
s22 Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0098.
523 Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0880 at 0883.
5,a Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0148.
525 Statemenl of Witness 4, KEN-OI P-0031-0085 at 0097. Witness 8 recounts a similar case, where

people who voted for the PNU had to "tive a cow for the youth to slaughter when they were Soing to

war", Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0880 at 0883.
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328. In particular, based on the evidence, and as explained in greater detail in

paragraph 197 above, Mr. Ruto was in charge of appointing commanders and

divisional commanders and assigning them to specific areas and locations

respectively. Mr. Ruto also had full control to decide on where and how the weapons

he distributed should be used.525 Moreover, immediately before and during the

implementation phase of the plan, Mr. Ruto's control over the organisation can be

demonshated by the orders he gave to the physical perpetrators uia the coordinators

on the ground. Witness 1 reports that during a meeting on 28 December 2007, it was

mentioned that the attendees were waiting for inslructions from "above", meaning

Mr. Ruto.5'?7 Further, according to Witrress 4, during the attack which took place on 31

December 2007 in Turbo towry Mr. Ruto had told one of his coordinators "to take

charge of the attacks".szE Again, Witness 1 reports that during the Kapsabet

demonstration which took place on 3 January 2008, Mr. Ruto gave insfructions to one

of the divisional commanders to bum the PNU supporters.sn These pieces of

evidence reveal that Mr. Ruto was, in fact, in overall control of the organisation and

that his orders were secured by almost automatic compliance.

329. Finally, the Chamber takes note of the challenge put forward by Mr. Sang's

Defence team during the confirmation hearing in which it argues that Mr. Ruto is

neither "an elder of the Kalenjin community [nor their] leader"s$ and as such cannot

exercise control over it.

330. The Chamber does not conor with the Defence's logic on this point. The issue

at stake is not whether Mr. Ruto was actually "the elder" in the Kalenjin community

as the Defence witness testified. Rathec the issue is whether Mr. Ruto was

5:6 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP{0294131 at 0143 (According to said witness, while Ruto was
distributing the guns he said, "These are for Mount Elgon, these for South Rift etc."; see also Pre..Trial
Chamber I, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-01104-0U07-717, para.518 (noting this as

one of the altemative factors on the basis of which the Chamber may determine the existence of
automatic compliance).
5r7 Statement of Witness i, KEN-0T?-002&0845 at 0903-0904; KEN-OTP-002&'1358 at 1390.
58 Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085, at 0098.
s, Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&11E5 a|1232-t233.
5r0 ICC-01/09'01/1 I -T-1 I -CONF-ENC ET, p.25,lines 22-25 ; p.26,lines 1-9,22.
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recognized among his community as such. In this regard, the Chamber observes that

although Reverend Kosgei, during his questionhg at the conJirmation hearing,

argued that Mr. Ruto was not "the elder among the elders of Kalenjin",s3r the witness

acknowledged that Mr. Ruto has been "honoured as an elder" and "as a leader in his

time".$2 The evidence available before the Chamber proves this leadership aspect at

least in practice. Even if Mr. Ruto was not Iormally given the title of a leader of the

Kalenjin cornmunify, according to several witrress statements he was de facto their

leader and to this extent he had control over members of this community.

331. For example, according to Witness 6, Mr. Ruto was accepted as President by

the Kalenjin.s This information also finds support in the statement of Witness 1 who

states that during the various meetings, Mr. Ruto was referred to as the leader, given

that they took instructions from him as to how to proceed.s These statements are

further corroborated by other pieces of evidence which reveal how he was chosen to

be a leader of this community.s

332. Therefore, the Chamber is satisfied that there are substantial grounds to

believe the remaining three obiective elements of indirect co-perpetration have been

met.

(ii) Subjective elements

333. The Chamber strcsses that in order to hold a person criminally responsible for

a crime within the jurisdiction of the Court, namely the crimes against humanity

committed as outlined in section VII of the present decisioo it is not enough to

satisfy the objective elements of the crimes. The evidence must also show, to the

required standard of proof set out in article 61(7) of the Statute that there exists the

necessary mens reo, generally referred to as the subiective elements. As stated earlier,

$' ICC-01/09-01/11-T-t 1-CoNF-ENG ET, p.26 lines 2-3.
53, ICC-01/09-01/11-T-11-CONF-ENC ET, p.2( lines 1-2.

5r3 Statement of Witness 6, KENOTP{044-0003 at 002GO021.
s Stat€ment of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0028-0845 at 905,912. See also KEN-OTP-0028-0915 at 0924-C426,

0939; KEN-OT?-0028-1358 at 1390.
5r1 KF N-OTP-0045-0020, at 0020; Kt':N-OTP-0045-0021 at 0021; KEN-OTP-0045-0023 at 0023.
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attributing criminal responsibility to Mr. Ruto under article 25(3)(a) of the Statute for

the crimes against humanity committed requires the fulfillment of the following

subjective elements: (a) the suspect must satisfy the subjective elements of the crimes

namely/ (i) intent and knowledge as defined in article 30 of the Statute, unless

otherwise provided in the Statute or the Elements of Crimes; and where applicable,

(ii) specific intent, where certain crimes require that the suspect fulfils the subjective

elements together with an additional one known as ulterior intent or dohrs specialis;

(b) the suspect must be aware and accept that implementing the common plan will

result in the fulfillment of the material elements of the crimes; and (c) the suspect

must be aware of the factual circumstances enabling him to exercise ioint control over

the commission of the crime through another person(s).

334. ln this respect, during the confirmation hearing and in Mr. Ruto's Final

Written Observations, the Defence points to paragraphs 99 and 1,17 of the Amended

DCC wherein the Prosecutor allegedly applied the concept of dolus euentualis, as a

legal requirement to satisfy the subjective elements of the crimes, to the facts of this

case.536

335. The Chamber takes note of the Defence's argument and recalls that in the

Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, the Chamber explicitly stated:

[A]rticle 30(2) and (3) of the Statute embraces two degrees of dolus. Dolas

direcfus in the frst degree (direct intent) requires that the suspect knows
that his or her acts or omissions will bring about the matedal elements of
the crime and carries out these acts or omissions with the purposeful will
(intent) or desire to bring about those material elements of the crime.
AccordinB to l}J,e dolus diectus in the frst degree, the volitional element is

prevalent as the suspect purposefully wills or desires to attain the
prohibited result. Doh.rs directus itr the second degree does not require that
the suspect has the actual intent or will to bring about the material
elements of *re crime, but that he or she is aware that those elements will
be the almost inevitable outcome of his acts or omissions, i.e., the suspect
"is aware that [...] [the consequence] will occur in the ordinary course of
events" (article 30(2Xb) of the Stahrte). In this context, the volitional
element decreases substantially and is overridden by the cognitive
element, i.e. the awareness that his or her acts or omissions "will" cause

the undesired proscribed consequence. With respect to dolus eventualis
as the third form of dolus, recklessness or any lower form of culpability,

5,5 tCC-01/09-01/1 I 'T-6, p. 150-151, lirres 11-25 and hne 1; tCC-01/09-01/1 1-355, paras 34-36
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the Chamber is of the view that such concepts are not captured by article
30 of the Statute. This conclusion is supported by the express languate of
the phrase "will occur in the ordinary course of events", which does not
accommodate a lower standard than the one rcquircd by dolus directus in
the second. d.eyee (oblique intention).5r2

336. Therefore, the Chamber's findings regarding the subjective elements in the

present case are based on this earlier interpretation of article 30 of the Statute. To the

extent that the Amended DCC may appear to rely on dolus eaentualis to establish

individual criminaI responsibility, such reliance is unfounded based on article 30.

337. After having reviewed the evidence as a whole, the Chamber is satisfied that

there is sufficient evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that the

subjective elements for indirect co-perpetration have been satisfied. The Chamber

has reached this conclusion due to the reasons explained in the following

paragraphs.

339. In particular, Witness 8 recollected that Mr. Ruto said at the first planning

meefing that the agenda was "to plan the war" and sensitize people for the plan.s$

According to the same witness, in a meeting that took place on 15 April 2007 as well

as in fwo subsequent meetings, Mr. Ruto and other members of the organisation said

that they would "expel" or "evict" the Kikuyu, Kamb4 and Kisii and Mr. Ruto took

5r7 Pre.Trial Chamber [, Bemba Confirmation of Charges Decision, ICC-01/05-0U08424, paras 358-

360.
ss Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-057] at 0587.
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338. According to the evidence available, the Chamber finds substantial grounds to

believe that Mr. Ruto fuIfils the subiective elements of the crimes against humanity

set out under counts 1,3 and 5. The evidence reveals that during the planning

meetings and thereafter during the phase of the implementation of the criminal plan,

Mr. Ruto gave oral as well as written instructions ,r4 phone messages tfuough the

coordinators to the physical perpetrators to carry out acts of killings and

displacement against the PNU supporters.
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an oath "to kill [these] lribes mercilessly".s:e *" witness describes Mr. Ruto,s

commitment to eradicate the PNU supporters at any cost during an ODM rally in

Kipkarren on 6 December 2007. Based on Witrress 8's testimony, Mr. Ruto said that

"in case Kibaki wins the election the youths should barricade the streets, deshoy the

property and kill the KiJcuyus".sto The witness also testified that in a meeting held at

Mr. Ruto's house on 14 December 2007, Nlr. Ruto made the crowd promise to kill the

Kikuyrr, Kamba, and Kisii.Yr

340. This information is supported by the testimony of Witness 2 who quotes Mr.

Ruto during a ceremony saying that "KiJ<uyu must be evicted from the Rift

Valley".xz The witness said that Mr. Ruto made a statement in the tribal language,

which means "fl]et us remove the Kikuyu from our land, the Rift Valley".s3 In the

witness' comprehension, Mr. Ruto meant to get them out by using force which Ieads

to death,s destroying their houses "by arson to prevent them from coming back".5r5

347. Witrress 6 also conJirms the plan for eviction by way of committing crimeq as

he testified that in one of the meetings that took place in early December 2007, Mr.

Ruto "envisaged the plan to remove the Kikuyu and Kisii" by two ways: first, by

way of warning through leaflets that they should leave and second, if this did not

work then removing them by force.s6 According to the witness, "force" meant

killing, looting and buming their properties.vT The witness added that he saw the

distribution of the leaflets between 18 and 25 December 2007 in the newspapers and

heard sirnilar warnings on the radio.$8 Moreover, in a meeting which took place

around mid-December at the house of one high-ranling member of the organisatiory

s Statement of Witness 8, KENOTP-0052-0652 at 0677; KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0832; KEN-OTP{052-
0821 at 0846.
s Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0832
11 Statement of Witness & KEN-OTP-0052-0821 at 0846
s2 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131, at 0137,0140.
tr Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0053-0256, at 0258.
t{ Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-005}0256, at 0259.
It Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0051O256, at 0259.
* Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0044-0003, at 0022.
!7 Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-00214-0003, at 0022.
s Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP- 0051-0135 at 0,]77-0182.
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Witness 6 quoted Mr. Ruto saying that "he was [...] ready for war and [...] [he] ha[d]

already distributed these weapons to some people".sc Witness 2's statement also

confirms, in principle, the accuracy of this information. According to said witrress, on

14 December 2OO7, Mr. Ruto told the "young people [...] to be on standby, and that

they would be told later when to implement the plan to evict the Kikuyu.".sso 14..

Ruto also said that "these people [Kikuyus] because they do not vote for us the only

thing is to kill them [...]," the same witness added.ssr

342. Witrress 6 also refers to a subsequent meeting again around mid-December

2007, whereby Mr. Ruto said that he "had already managed to get some guru, and,

for the most part, bows and arrows [would] be used to carry out the Plan".ss2 Witness

4 also confirms this information when he refers to a public rally convened by Mr.

Ruto at Besiebor Trading Centrc on 16 December 2007, n which he told local leaders

to "evict all the Kikuyus living in Eldoret North Constituenry because they were

campaigning aBainst him and the ODM Party [...] [and that] he had already bought

arms to fight the Kikuyu as well as the Kibaki administration".ss3

343. Moreover, in a demonstration which took place subsequently on 3 January

2008 in Kapsabet, Witness 1 said that Mr. Ruto gave instructions, transmitted

through the divisional commander for Kapsabet town, to bum the PNU

supporters.!r

3M. Furthermore, the evidence available reveals that the common plan of Mr. Ruto

and other members of the organisation was to "evict" the PNU supporters in the

entire Rift Valley, including Turbo town, the greater Eldoret area, Kapsabet town and

Nandi Hills town. This can be demonstrated by several pieces of evidence as

presented in the next paragraph.

sie Statement of Witness 6,

t{ Statement of Witness 2,
55r Statement of Witness 2,

5sl Statement of Witness 6
ss Statement of Witness 4,

se Statenlent of Witness l,

KEN-OTP-0051-0207 at 0226.

KEN-OTP-0053-m56, at O264.

KEN-OTP-0055-0211, at 0215.

KEN-OTP-0051-0349 at 0368-0369.

KEN-OTP-0031-0085, at 0090{091

K EN-OTP-0028-l185 at 1232-1233.
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345. Witness 8 confirms that Mr. Ruto diskibuted during the 30 December 2006

meeting maps marking locations densely inhabited by members of Kikuyu, Kamba

and Kisii communities. According to the witness, the locations included, inter alia,

Kiambaa (which is located within Eldoret town), Kapsabet, Turbo and Nandi Hills

towns.5ss As already determined by the Chamber in section VI, these Iocations were

subjected to the attack, which took place between 30 December 2007 and 16 January

2008. Moreover, as previously determined by the Chamber on the basis of

information provided by Witnesses 1., 2, 6 and 8, Mr. Ruto appointed divisional

commanders or coordinators tasked with the implementation and coordination of the

attack on the ground in the four locations.s$

3#. In light of the foregoing facts, the Chamber finds that there is sufficient

evidence to establish substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Ruto was aware that the

crimes against humanity committed in the different locations discussed in sections VI

and VII were part of a widespread and systematic attack directed against the civilian

population, namely the perceived PNU supporters.

347. With respect to the remaining subjective elements of the crimes charged under

counts 1,3, and 5, based on the facts and evidence presented above, the Chamber

finds that there are substantial grounds to believe that, as a primary goal of the

common plan, Mr. Ruto intended to attack particular parts of the civilian populatiory

due to their perceived political affiliation, by way of murdering, forcibly displacing

and persecuting the PNU supporters in the different locations specified in the section

Yll (dolus directus in the first degree). Thus. drere are substantial grounds to believe

that the required, mens rea has been met, including the discriminatory intent required

for the crime against humanity of perseculion.

$5 Statcment of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0571 at 0581-0585
5$ Statement of Witness l, KEN-OTP-0028-0776 at 0796,0800 to 0804. Statement of Witness 2, KEN-

OTP-00510256 at 0263; KEN-OT?-0055-0163 at 015G0169. Statement of Witness 5, KEN-OTP-0044-

0003 at 0022{023, 0027; KEN-OTP-0524349 at 0383-0390 (for the division of the area between the three

commanders). Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0526 at 0556-0558.
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3418. Having established the subjective elements for crimes against humanity, the

Chamber tums to the fwo additional elements conceming indirect co.perpetration

laid out in paragraph 292. Regarding the first element conceming the suspect's

awareness and acceptance that implementing the common plan would result in the

realization or fulfillment of the material elements of the crimes, the Chamber does

not find it necessary to discuss it in view of its previous findings on the subjective

elements of the crimes. As the Chamber has already determined, Mr. Ruto intended

to implement the common plan which involved as its primary goal the commission

of the crimes referred to above to the effect that he meant to engage in the conduct

and cause the consequence (dolus directus in the first degree). The Chamber's above

findings deem it also evident that the second additional element of indirect co-

perpetration has been met. In other wordt Mr. Ruto by virtue of his status in the

organisation and the dominant role described in the previous paragraphs, was aware

that his role was essential to the implementation of the common plan, and aware that

due to the essential nature of his tasks, he could have fruskated its implementation

by refusing to activate the mechanisms that would lead almost automatically to the

commission of the crimes.

349. For these reasons, the Chamber finds sufficient evidence to establish

substantial grounds to believe that:

a. On 31 December 2007 Mr. Rutojointly with other members of the

organisation committed through other persons, within the meaning of

article 25(3)(a) of the Stahrte, the crimes against humanify of murder,

deportation or forcible transfer of population and persecution in Turbo

towry pursuant to articles Z(t)(a), (d) and (h) of the Statute;

b. Between 1 January 2008 and 4 January 2008 Mr. Ruto jointly with

other members of the organisation committed through other persons,

within the meaning of article 25(3)(a) of the Statute, the crimes against

humanity of murder, deportation or forcible transfer of population and

No. ICC-01/09-01/11 1281139 23 January 2072



ICC-0t/09-0t/ -371 2l-0t-20t2 t29lt7l FB PT

perseotion in the greater Eldoret area, pursuant to articles z(txa), (d)

and (h) of the Statute;

c. Between 30 December 2007 and 16 January 2008 Mr. Ruto iointly

with other members of the organisation committed through other

persons, within the meaning of article 25(3)(a) of the Statute, the crimes

against humanity of murder, deportation or forcible trarufer of

population and persecution in Kapsabet towrL pursuant to article 7(1)(a),

(d) and (h) of the Stah:te;

d. Between 30 December 2007 and 2 January 2008 Mr. Ruto iointly with

other members of the organisation committed tfuough other persons,

within the meaning of article 25(3)(a) of dre Statute, the crimes against

humanity of murder, deportalion or forcible transfer of population and

persecution in Nandi Hills towru pursuant to articles 7(1)(a), (d) and (h)

of the Statute.

C, Criminal respottsibility ol Mt. Sang

350. With respect to the criminal responsibility of Mr. Sang the Prosecutor charged

him in the Amended DCC under article 25(3)(d) of the Statute lor the crimes against

humanity of murder, deportation or forcible transfer of population and persecution

as specified in counts 2, 4 and 6.

351. Article 25(3)(d) of the Statute sets out specific requirements that must be met

in order to rrigger the responsibility of Mr. Sang under this mode of liability. Thus,

the Chamber must ascertain in light of the required evidentiary threshold that:

(i) a crime within the furisdiction of the Court was attempted or committed;

(ii) a group of persons acting with a common purpose attempted to commit or

committed this crime; (iii) the individual contributed to the crime, in any way other

than those set out in article 25(3)(a) to (c) of the Statute (objective elements);

(iv) the said contribution was intentional; and (v) was made either (a) with the aim of

No. ICC-01/09-01/Il 1,291139 23 January 2012
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furthering the criminal activity or criminal purpose of the group; or (b) in the

knowledge of the intention of the group to commit the crime (subjective elements).

353. The Chamber finds that there is sufficient evidence to establish substantial

grounds to believe that Mr. Sang intentionally contributed to the commission of the

crimes and his contribution was made with the aim of furthering the criminal activity

and criminal purpose of the group led by Mr. Ruto. In this respect, the Chamber

recalls that in Mr. Sang's Final Written Observations, the Defence argues that the

language of article 25(3)(d) of the Statute is ambiguous, and as such, must be "sfrictly

construed" to the cffect that "a contribution [under this provision] [...] must be

substantial".5s

354. The Chamber disagrees with the Defence's logic regarding this point.

Article 25(3)(d) of the Statute begins with the phrase "[i]n any other way contributes

to the commission or attempted commission of the crime". Thus, the provision must

be understood as a residual mode of accessorial liability, which is triggered only

when subparagraphs (a)-(c) are not satisfied. This particular interpretation has also

tt7 S€e in this regard, Pre-Trial Chamber l, "Decision on the conlirmation of charges", ICC-01/04-0U10-

465-Red, para.278 (noting that "article 25(3)(d) of the Statute is aimed at combating group
cIiminality").
158 ICC-01/09-01/l I -354, pp.23-24,26.
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352. First, the Chamber recalls its earlier findings that there are substantial grounds

to believe that crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court were committed. namely

the crimes against humanity committed in the different locations specified above.

Second, the Chamber has also found in paragraphs 302-304 of the present decision

that there are substantial grounds to believe that these crimes were committed

pursuant to a common plan by Mr. Ruto and others as members of a group of

persons belonging to the organisation established. tn this respcct, the Chamber

wishes to clarily that, based on the factual circumstances of the present case, the

intenlion of Mr. Ruto as a member of the group is in itself a sufficient indication of

the intention of the group as a whole.5s7 This is due to the major role played by Mr.

Ruto in creating the group, leading the group, and organising its criminal activities.
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been followed by Pre-Trial Chamber I in its latest decision under article 61(7) of the

Statute in the case of.lhe Prosecutor v. Callfute Mbarushimana.s ln practice, this means

that the provision is a catch all form of liability, which applies when the suspect

conlributes to the commission or attempted commission of the crime "in any other

way". As one commentator correctly puts it, "[s]ubparagraph (d) establishes [...] the

lowest objective threshold for participation according to article 25 since it

criminalizes 'any other way' that conlributes to a crime".m Even assuming, arguendo,

that the contribution under subparagraph (c), for the mode of participation of aiding

and abetting, should be "substantial",s6l this does not mean that the required

contribution under subparagraph (d) must be equally "substantial". If both

subparagraph (c) and (d) required a "substantial" contribution, the hierarchal

structure of the different modes of participation envisaged by article 25(3) would be

rendered meaningless. As a result, the contribution under subparagraph (d) is

satisfied by a less than "substantial" contribution, as far as such contribution results

in the commission of the crimes charged. lt follows that the Defence's challenge on

this point is without merit.

355. Tuming to the facts, the Chamber considers that the evidence available

provides substantial grounds to believe that Mr. Sang, by virtue of his position

within Kass FM as a key broadcaster, intentionally contributed to the commission of

the crimes against humanity referred to above by: (i) placing his show Lee Nee Emet

at the disposal of the organisation; (ii) advertising the meetings of the organisation;

(iii) fanning the violence through the spread of hate messages explicitly revealing

desire to expel the Kikuyus; (iv) broadcasting false news regarding alleged murders

of Kalenjin people in order to ilflame the atmosphere in the days preceding the

elections; and (v) broadcasting instructions during the attacks in order to direct the

physical perpetrators to the areas designated as targets.

55e See the detailed analysis of Pre-Trial Chamber [, "Decision on the confirmation of charges", ICC-
0l/Ol-01/l G.165-Re d, paras 278-279.
s Ambos, Trifftelet2.d ed,-, p.758.
161 ICC-o1 /09-01 /1 l -354, 68, 7 0.

No. ICC-O1/09-01/ll 131/139 23 January 2012



ICC-ot/09-01/t t-373 23-01-20t2 ll2lt7l FB pT

356. Ln this context, the Defence of Mr. Sang disclosed written statements and other

pieces of indirect evidence in an attempt to rebut the allegations that the suspcct

contributed to the commission of the crimes against humanity with which he is

charged. These pieces of evidence purportedly demonstrate that Mr. Sang:

(i) never incited violence tfuough Kass FM, nor used any coded language;

(ii) only disseminated peace messages during the period of the posFelection violence;

and (iii) respected the ban on live coverage imposed by the govemment, by

broadcasting music or pre-recorded messages.s2

357. Upon examination o( the Defence's challenges and the evidence as a whole,

the Chamber remains of the view that there are substantial grounds to believe that

Mr. Sang intentionally contributed to the crimes against humanity referred to above.

The Chamber's finding is supported by the testimonies of Witrresses 1.,2, 4, 6 atd 8.

Witness 8 states that between 3 November 2007 and, 27 December 2007, Mr. Sang

broadcasted false news regarding murders or more general offences allegedly

committed against members of the Kaleniin conununity in order to instill fear within

the Kalenjins and prepare them to fight the enemy communities.s Moreover,

Witness 6 asscrts that during one of the preparatory meefings held in December 2007

at Mr. Cheramboss' house, one high-ranking member of the organisation invited

people to call Mr. Sang during his morning program on Kass FM in order to spread

inciting messages.s Said witness named one person who was designated for this

task.s5 This inlormation is corroborated by the statement of Witness 8, who named

!? See ICC-01/09-01/11-T-l0-Red-ENG, p 55; KEN-DI1{005-0001 at 0001 to 0005; KEN-D11-0005-0008
at 0013 and 0014; KEN-DI1-0005-0016 at 0016 to 0024; KEN-D11-0005-0031 at 0031 to 34; KEN-DI1-
00010&15 at 0045 to 0O46; KEN-DI t -0005-0056 at 0063 to 0064; KEN-DI1-0005-m65 at 0065 to 0070;

KEN-D1l -0005-0074 at 0074 to 0079; KEN-DIl -0005-0080 at 0080 to 0081; KEN-DI1-0005-0088 at 0094

to 0096, KEN.DI1-0005-0108 at 0108 to 0109; KEN-D1l -0005-0115 at 0115 to 0121; KEN-DI1-0005-0125
at 0129 to 0130; KEN-DI1{005-0136 at 00136 to 0137; KEN-D11-0005-0144 at 01114 to 0145; KEN-D11-
0005-0150 at 0156 to 0158; KEN-DI1-0005-0160 at 0160 to 0153.
$ Statement of Witness E, KEN-OTP-0052-U729 at 0757 and ff.
# Statement of Witness 6, KEN-OTP-0051-0349 at 0372{373; KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0443-0147; KEN-
OTP-0051-1019 at 1020-1024.
$( Statement of Witness 6, KEN-a) fP-0051-0349 at 0372.
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the same person as being instructed, alnong others, to call Mr. Sang at Kass FM.s

According to Witness 1, close to the day of the electiory Mr. Sang asserted through

Kass FM that Kikuyrrs would "rig the election".sT

358. In the view of the Chamber, this information should be read in coniunction

with other statements allegedly made by Mr. Sang immediately before the eruption

of violence. As reported by Witnesses 1, 2, 6 and 8, Mr. Sang broadcasted inciting

statements.ffi According to Witnesses 2 and 8, Mr. Sang said that "if Kibaki wins, we

will carry out our work"tre and "we will give the instructions/.s7o Wihless 2

elaborates on the word "work" and explains that this term was used in the three

months precedhg the election instead of explicitty using to the word "kill".rr

Witness 2 further clarified that "to carry out the work" meant to make sure that

Kikuyus "have been evicted [...][and] have been killed".5z

* Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-00524329 at 033$.0337. See also Statement of Witness & KEN-
OTP-0052-1121 at 1134.
$, Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0057-0100, at 0127.
s Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-0057-0100 at 0104 and ff and 0127 and fi Statement of Wihess 6,

KEN-OTP-0044-0003 at 0012-0013; KEN-OTP-0051-0405 at 0405 and ff,0426-0427; KEN-OTP-0051{524
at 0553, 0557.
t6e Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-00534256 at 0269.
5D Statement of Witness 8, KEN-OTP-0052-0880 at 0883.
r7r Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055{035 at 0043.
5n Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0055-0035 at 0043.
:7r Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OT?-0029,0131 at 0l46.
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359. Witness 2 also reports that on 30 December 2007, as soon as the electoral

results were announced, Sang said that "the elections had been stolen and our rights

denied" and that people "should get their weapons from where they were [sic] kept

and, if necessary, to use any arm at their disposal to evict the Kikuyus".sn

This information is corroborated by the statement of Witrress 4, who stated that, after

the announcement of the newly elected President, Mr. Sang told Kass FM listeners

that "they should resist the Kibaki administration because Kibaki had stolen the

votes" and that "Kikuyu in Eldoret and Kapsabet had been attacked and rightly so
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because the votes had been stolen".sTa Witness 1 further provides that he heard Sang

on air telling the Kalenjin to "why aren't you going out to stop the Kikuyus?".s2:

360. Furthermore, Witness 2 recalls a broadcast made by Mr. Sang on 31 December

2007, according to which Mr. Sang said: "[C]ome out, go to Turbo, you know their

whereabouts in Turbo". The witness pointed out that after listening to Mr. Sang's

words, he "had no choice [...] [he] had to go to Turbo. [...1. Those who came to Turbo

came to kill the Kikuyu and destroy their houses. If we had not gone there, they

would have tumed on us".576 The Chamber also notes that according to the same

witness, Mr. Sang's statements through Kass FM had the effect that the physical

perpetrators divided themselves into two groups "some going to Eldoret and others

[. ..] to Turbo".sz

36'1,. With regard to the evidence presented by Mr. Sang's Defence, the Chamber

observes that a large number of thc witness statements presented appear to be

draJted in a systematic manner. The Chamber notices that these statements use

exactly the same wording or employ sophisticated legal terminology, which is not

corrunon for non-lawyers, reflecting the charges against Mr. Sang and/or denying

that any broadcasting made by Mr. Sang "show[s] [...] liabiliry for acts of omission or

commission that would cause or perpetuate murder or deportations or transfer of

population".szs Moreover, these statements were mostly collected during the same

day, and many of these witnesses, when stating that Mr. Sang was broadcasting

peace messages or was not otherwise inciting violence, do not provide a precise

57{ Statement of Witness 4, KEN-OTP-0031-0085 at 0lol.
5D Statement of Witness '1, KEN-OTP-0057-0100 at 0104.
r75 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-O06,}0256 a|0277.
52 Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0053-0256 at 0271.
573 KEN-DI l -0005-0088 at 0@6. See also KEN-DI1-0005-0001 at 0001 to 0005; KEN-D11-0005-0008 at
0013 and 0014; KEN-DI1-0005-0031 at 0031 to 34; KEN-DI1-0005-0016 at 0016 to 0024; KEN-DI1-0005-

0045 at 0045 to 0046; KEN-D11-0005-0065 at 0065 to 0070; KEN-Dl1-0005{080 at 0080 to 0081; KEN-

Dl1-0005-0085 at 0087; KEN-D1l-0005-0088 at 0094 to 0095; KEN-DI1-0005-0108 at 0108 to 0109; KEN-
D11-0005-0115 at 0115 to 0121; KEN-DI1-0005-0125 at 0129 to 0130; KEN-DI1-0005-0150 at 0156 to
0158; KE N-Di 1-0005-0160 at 0'160 to 0153

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 1341739 23 January 2012
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temporal reference. Irutead, these witnesses confined themselves to generic

expressions such as "during the 200712008 [posFelection violence]".t/e

362. On the other hand, the Chamber notes that the witness statements presented

by Mr. Sang's Defence team are corroborated by other pieces of evidence showing

the schedule of programmes and the transcripts of the peace messages aired on Kass

FM during the days when the crimes were committed.s However, the list of

programs which were allegedly on air is merely presented in a hand-written

document listing, inter alia, that peace messages were broadcasted on 29 December

2002 without any sort of authentication.$r The transcripts of these messages calling

for the termination of violence were also provided, but they lack the date of effective

broadcasting.s2

5' KEN-D11-0005-0001 at 0001 to 0005; KEN-D11-0005-0008 at 0013 and 0014; KEN-DI1-000S0031 at

0031 to 34; KEN-DI 1-0005-0e15 at 0045 to 0046; KEN-DI'! -0005{055 at 0063 to 00&; KEN-DI1-0005-

0065 at 0065 to 0070; KEN-D11-0005-0074 at 0074 to 0079; KEN-D11-0005-0080 at 0080 to 0081; KEN-
Dl1-000t0088 at 0094 to 0096; KEN-DI1-0005-0'108 at 010E to 0109; KEN-DI1-0005{115 at 0115 to

0121; KEN-D11-0005-0125 at 0129 to 0130; KEN-D11-0005-0135 at 00135 to 0137, KEN-D11-0005-0144 at

0144 to 0145; KEN-DI1{@5{150 at 0155 to 0158; KEN-DI1-0005{160 at 0160 to 0163.
580 KEN-D11-0006-0001 and KEN-Dl1-00060010, at 0011, 001+0015.
5r' KEN-DI1-000G0001.
58: KEN-DIl -00060010, at 0011, 0014-0015.
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363. In light of the foregoing, the Chamber is not convinced that the evidence

disclosed by the Defence to rebut Mr. Sang's contribution to the commission of the

crimes against humanity charged can undermine the probative value of the evidence

emanating from Witnesses 7,2, 4, 6 and 8. The witness statements collected by the

Defence, denying that Mr. Sang broadcasted any inciting messages and only

disseminated peaceful appeals, do not rule out the possibility that, beside these

peaceful messages, the instructions and speeches reported by Witnesses '1,2,4,6 and

8 could have also been broadcasted, despite of the existence of the ban. This

conclusion finds support in the witnesses' detailed explanations regarding the

content, nature and timing of Mr. Sang's broadcasting during the period immediately

preceding the election and in the course of the commission of the crimes. In this

respect, the Chamber underlines that according to Witness 2, Mr. Sang's programme
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on Kass FM was on air between 30 December 2007 and 1 January 2008.ru

Additionally, according to Witness 1, Mr. Sang was kansmitting inciting messages

through Kass FM at least befween 30 December 2007 and mid January 2008.s

364. Having found that Mr. Sang's contribution was intentional, the Chamber next

tums to the evidence conceming the aim of furthering the criminal activity or

criminal purpose of the group. as required under article 25(3XdXi) of the Statute.

The Chamber considers that, on the basis of the evidence available, Mr. Sang's

contribution was also done with the aim of furthering the criminal activity and

purpose of the group established by Mr. Ruto to commit the crimes against humanify

referred to above. Mr. Sang participated in five preparatory meetings between 15

April 2007 and 14 December 2007. As already discussed in paragraphs 187-196, the

evidence shows that during the course of these meetings, the different facets of the

plan to attack the PNU supporters in Turbo towry the greater Eldoret area, Kapsabet

town and Nandi Hills town were developed. The evidence examined in the previous

paragraphs also supports the finding that Mr. Sang aimed at furthering not only the

criminal purpose of the group but also its criminal activiry.

365. In this regard, the Chamber recalls the challenges put forward by the Defence

of Mr. Sang concerning the suspect's participation in these preparatory meetings. As

the Chamber has already ruled on them, there is no further need to reopen the

discussion.

366. Flaving said the above, the Chamber finds substantial grounds to believe that

Mr. Sang is criminally responsible under article 25(3)(d)(i) of the Statute for the

crimes against humanity committed in the different locations and dates specified

under section VII above.

367. In conclusion, the Chamber is satisfied that there are substantial grounds to

believe that:

s Statement of Witness 2, KEN-OTP-0029-0131 at 0146.
s Statement of Witness 1, KEN-OTP-002&1438 at 1478 and [f,1510; KEN-OTP-0057-0100 at 0104,0110,

0120,0"t27.

t .wo. ICC-01/09-01/11 136/139 23 January 2012
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a. On 31 December 2007 Mr. Sang contributed, within the meaning of

article 25(3)(d)(i) of the Statute, to the commission of the crimes against

humanity of murder, deportation or forcible transfer of population and

persecution in Turbo town, pursuant to articles 7(1)(a), (d) and (h) of the

Sta tu te;

b. Between 1 January 2008 and 4 January 2008 Mr. Sang contributed,

within the meaning of article 25(3XdXi) of the Statute, to the commission

of the crimes against humanity of murder, deportation or forcible transfer

of population and persecution in the greater Eldoret area, pursuant to

articles 7(1)(a), (d) and (h) of the Statute;

c. Between 30 December 2007 ar d 16 January 2008 Mr. Sang contributed,

within the meaning of article 25(3)(dxi) of the Statute, to the commission

of the crimes against humanity of murder, deportation or forcible transfer

of population and persecution in Kapsabet town, pursuant to articles

7(1)(a), (d) and (h) of the Statute;

d. Between 30 December 2007 and 2 January 2008 Mr. Sang contributed,

within the meaning of article 25(3xd)(i) of the Statute, to the commission

of the crimes against humanity of murder, deportation or forcible fransfer

of population and persecution in Nandi Hills town, pursuant to articles

Z(t)(a), (d) and (h) of the Statute.

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 't371139 23 Janrary 2Ol2
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FOR THESE REASONS, THE CHAMBER, BY MAIORITY, HEREBY

a) REJECTS the first part of the Defence challenge to the jurisdiction of the

Court, in accordance with paragraph 34 of the present decision;

b) DISMISSES in limine the second part of the Defence challenge to the

iurisdiction of the Court, in accordance with paragraph 36 of the present

decision;

c) DECIDES that the Chamber has iurisdiction with respect to the Present case;

d DETERMINES that the case is admissibie;

e) CONFIRMS the charges presented against Mr. Ruto under Counts 1. 3 and 5

of the Amended Document Containing the Charges, to the extent specified in

paragraph 349 of the present Decision;

O CONFIRMS the charges presented against Mr. Sang under Counts 2, 4 and 6

of the Amended Document Containing the Charges, to the extent specified in

paragraph 367 of tte present Decision;

g) DECLINES to confirm the charges presented against Mr. Kosgey under

Counts 1, 3 and 5 of the Amended Document Containing the Charges;

D DECIDES to commit Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang to a Trial Chamber for trial on

the charges as conJirmed.

il DECIDES that the conditions imposed on Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang in the

Decision on Summons to Appear remain in effecg

i) DECIDES that the conditions imposed on Mr. Kosgey in the Decision on

Summons to Appear cease to have effect'

No. ICC-01/09-01/ll 1381139 23 January 2012
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Done in both English and French, the English version being authoritative.

Judge Ekaterina ren
Presiding Jud

Judge Hans-Peter Kaul

Judge

Dated this Monday, 23 January 2O12

At The Hague, The Netherlands

Judge Cuno Tarfusser

fudge

No. ICC-01/09-0lill 1391139 23 Janrary 2Ol2

Judge Hans-Peter Kaul appends a dissenting opinion.
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Dissenting Opinion by Tudse Hans-Peter Kaul

I. Introduction

1. Today, on the basis of the hearing held from 1 to 8 September 2011 and the

disclosed evidence. the Maiority of Pre.Trial Chamber II (the "Chamber")

alfirmed the Court's iurisdiction in the case of the Prosecufor o William Samoei

Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and loshua Arap Sang, confirmed the charges against

WiIIiam Samoei Ruto ("Mr Ruto") and Joshua Arap Sang ("Mr Sang") and

committed them for trial. The Chamber declined to confirm the charges against

Henry Kiprono Kosgey ("Mr Kosgey").

2. I am unable to accept this decision of the Maiorify and the analysis that

underpins it. I continue to believe that the Intemational Criminal Court (the

"lCC" ot the "Court") lacks iurisdiction ratione rnateriae in the situation in the

Republic of Kenya, including in the present case. Contrary to the Maiority's

findings, I am not satisfied that the crimes, for which Mr l{uto and Mr Sang are

held accountable pursuant to articles 25(3)(a) and 25(3)(d) of the Rome Statute

(the "Statute") respectively, occurred pursuant to or in furtherance of a policy of

an organization within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute. Thus, I am not

satisfied that the crimes charged constitute crimes against humanity as set out in

article 7 of the Statute.

3. Accordingly, having regard to article 19(1), first sentence, of the Statute, I shall

first set out my own condusion on iurisdiction ratione materiae, focusing on the

notion of 'organization' which is the subject of my difference of opinion with the

th,,.,,
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Maiority (see sections II.lJI.3 below). I shall thereafter address the challenge to

jurisdiction lodged by Mr Ruto and Mr Sang (see section II.4 below).'

4. Having sat in the confirmation of charges hearing (the "Hearing")

notwithstanding my principled position on the lack of iurisdiction ratione mateiae

in the situation in the Republic of Kenya, including the present case, I wish to

make further observations (see section III below) on certain issues which arose

during the Hearing, namely the impact of the Prosecutor's respect for article

5a(1)(a) of the Statute during his investigation on the proceedings conducted by

the chambers of this Court, and the rights of the Defence during the Hearing

pursuant to afticle 61(5) of the Statute.

II. The Issue of furisdiction Ratione Materiae

'1. The Charges Preseated by the Prosecutor

5. I note that the Prosecutor presented the same case hypothesis and line of

argument both in the amended document containing the charges2 and at the

Hearing as he did when requesting the Chamber to summon Mr Ruto, Mr

Kosgey and Mr Sang in this case: he maintains his contention that simes against

humanity were committed from on or about 30 December 2007 through 31

January 2008 in Uasin Gishu and Nandi District, Rift Va ey Province, Pursuant

to or in furtherance of an organizational policy adopted by the "Network"

consisting of five components (formerly referred to by the Prosecutor as

"branches"), namely (1) Political, (2) Media, (3) Financial, (a) Tribal; and (5)

r ICC-OI/09{1/11-305. Since the Majority declined to confirm all charges against Mr Kosgey, I do

not deem it necessary to entertain Mr Kostey's submission in that regard (lCC4l'IO9'0U71-3M)..
2 ICC4I/09-01/11-261-AnxA.
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Military.3 He contends that Mr Ruto was the "head of the multi-faceted

'Network"',{ and that Mr Ruto and Mr Kosgey, together with Mr Sang,

"capitalized on existing structures and roles in Kalenjin society to create the

Network".5 He maintains that the "Network" meets the statutory contextual legal

requirement of an 'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the

Statute. The "Network" perpetrators affiliated with the Orange Democratic

Movement Party (the "ODM") implemented the policy by attacking supporters

of the Party of National Unity (the "PNU") "with the criminal purpose of

expelling PNU supporters from the Rift Valley by inflicting fear, killhg them and

systematically destroying their property, leaving them with no altemative but to

flee".6

6. As regards the five components of the "Network", the Prosecutor further

explains their function and submits that: (i) the political component "provided

the Network with leadership, funding and a forum for [Mr] Ruto and [Mr]

Kosgey to develop their plan and organize the Network's subordinates and

direct perpetrators".T Other ODM-affilated members of parliament participated

in the planning and preparatory meetings;8 (ii) "[t]he media component,

including [Mr] Sang in his role as a broadcaster on Kass FM, furthered the

Network's organizational policy"' by broadcasting propaganda and information

on preparatory meetings and attackt and organizing fundraising events;lo (iii)

the financial component, consisting of alongside Mr Ruto and Mr Kosgey, ODM

3ICC{I/09-01/11-261-A.nxA" paras 25 and ,t3.

. ICC-01/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para.,l3, lCC4lru9-01/1r-T-6RED-ENG WT, p. 10, lines 13-14.
5 ICC-o1/0941/11-261-AnxA, para.,l4.
6 ICC{1/09{1/11-261-AnxA. palas 37 and 44.
, lCC4l/09-0"1/11-261-AnxA, para,,16.
8 tCC{l/0941/11-261-AnxA, para. 48.
, ICC41/09-01/1 1-261-ArxA, para. 49.

'0 ICC4t/09{1/11-261-AnxA, paras 50-53; ICC{1/0941/1i-T-6RED-ENC WT, p. 12, lines t9-23
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suPPorters, supporting organizations and businessmen, supplied the Network

with funding;'r (iv) the tribal component through tribal elders of the Kalenfin

community, ensured respect and obedience from the youth by supporting,

planning coordinating and conducting "blessings" which contributed to the

attacks;r2 and lastly, (v) the military component, headed by Mr Ruto, consisted of

former members of the Kenyan military and police.l3 Three "Commanders" or

"Generals", who reported to Mr Ruto or Mr Kosgey,!' "led hierarchical

organizations ftierarchies) in their respective geographical areas".r5 The military

component "advised Mr Ruto on logistical issues, obtained weapons, identified

financial resources, and mobilized direct perperrators".'6

7. According to the Prosecutoc Mr Ruto, Mr Kosgey and Mr Sang together with

others, "held no less than nine preparatory meetings and events" in which the

plan to attack PNU supporters was formulated.rT

2. The Applicable Lau:

8. My fundamental disagreement with the Majoriry stems from the differing

interpretation of the notion of 'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a)

of the Statute. It is worth recalling that under the Statute crimes alleged to be part

of an attack against any civilian populahon must be committed pursuant to the

policy of a State or 'organization'. In my 31 March 2010 dissenting opinion on the

I' ICC{1/09-01/11-261-AmA, paras 53 and 54; ICC{1/094I/11-T-6-RED-ENG WT, p. 13, Iines +
r0, 12-14, 18-19; p. 14, Iines 9-13.
t2 ICC-01/0941117-251-AnxA, para. 56; ICC{1/09-01/11-T-6-RED-ENG Wf, p. 14, lines 2l-25; p.

16, Iines'19-20.
r3 ICC-01/09-01/11-261-AnxA, para.57: ICC-0U09-01n I -T-6-RED-ENG WT, p, 17,Ii^es 2-7.
r{ ICC41/09{1/1 1-251-AnxA, para. 58.

'5 ICC-o1/@-01/11-251-AnxA, para. 60.

'6 
tCC-o1/0941/11-261-ADd! para. 57.

n 1CC4110947111-261-A-nxA, paras 26 and 65.
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Maiority's "Decision Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Starute on the

Authorization of an lnvestigation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya"

(the "31 March 2010 Dissenting Opinion") I set out in appropriate detail my

understanding of the applicable law goveming this constitutive contextual

requirement.rs The relevant parts of my interpretation of this specific statutory

legal requirement are briefly rehearsed below:

51. I read the provision such that the iuxtaposition oI the notions 'State' and
'organization' in article 7(2Xa) of the Stahrte are an indication that even thouth
the constitutive elements oI statehood need not be established those
'organizations' should partake of some characteristics of a State. Those
characteristics eventually tum the private 'or8anization' into an entity which
may act like a State or has quasi-State abilities. These characteristics could
involve the followinS: (a) a collectivity of persons; (b) which was established and
acts for a common purposej (c) over a prolonged period of time; (d) which is
under responsible command o. adopted a certain degree of hierarchical
structure, includi-ng as a minimum, some kind of policy level; (e) with the
capacity to impose the policy on its members and to sanction them; and (f) which
has the capacity and means available to attack any civilian population on a large
scale.

52. ln contrast, I believe tlat non-state actors which do not leach the level
described above are not able to carry out a policy of this nature, such as groups
of organized crime, a mob, groups of (armed) civiliarLs or criminal gangs. They
would generally fall outside the scope of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute. To give a

concrete example, violence-prone groups of persons formed on an ad hoc basis,

randomly, spontaneously, for a passing occasion, with fluctuating membership
and without a structure and level to set up a policy are not within the ambit of
the Statute, even if they entage in numerous serious and organized crimes.

Further elements are needed for a private entity to reach the level of an
'organization' within the meaning of article 7 of the Statute. For it is not the
cruelty or mass victimization that tums a crime into a delicttm ilris gerailrr'l but
the constitutive contextual elements in which the act is embedded.

53. ln this respect, the Beneral artument that any kind of non-state actors may be
qualified as an'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2Xa) of the Statute
on the grounds that it "has the capability to perfolm acts which inlringe on basic
human values" without any further specification seems unconvincint to me. ln

ro Pre-Trial Chamber ll, "Decision Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute on the

Authorization of an lnvestigation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya", ICC-o1/09-19-Corr,

pp.84 et seq.
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fact tNs approach may expand tlre concept of crimes against humanity to any
inJringement of humar nthb. t am convinced that a disthction must be upheld
between human rights violations on the one side and intemational crimes on the
other side, the latter forrning the nucleus of the most heinous violations of
human riShts representing the most serious crimes of concem to the
intemational community as a whole.re

9. In the 15 March 2011 "Dissenting Opinion by Judge Hans-Peter Kaul to Pre-

Trial Chamber II's 'Decision on the Prosecuto/s Application for Summons to

Appear for William Samoei Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap

Sang"' (the "15 March 2011 Dissenting Opinion")zo I also rehearsed this

interpretation of the law, against which I assessed the facts of the case.

10. Hereinafter I shall assess the Prosecutols presentation of the facts ia light oi

my interpretation of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute as set out above. ln so doin& I

am guided by the standard established by this Chamber when "satisfy[ing] itxlf
that it has iurisdiction in any case brought before it" pursuant to article 19(1) of

the Stafute. I recall the Chamber's interpretation of this provision to posit "that

the Court must 'attain the degree of certainty' that the jurisdictional parameters

set out in the Statute have been met".2r I will develop that standard further when

considering the Defencc challenge to jurisdiction.22

'e The footnotes in this excerpt are omitted.
20 Pre-Trial Chamber II, ICC{U09-01l11-2.
utSee paragraph 25 of the Ma.iority decision. See also Pre-Trial Chamber II, Decision Pursuant to
Article 51(4(a) and ft) of the Rome Statute on the Charges of the Prosecutor Against Jean-Pierre
Bemba Gombo, ICC{I/0541/08-424, para.24: Pre-Trial Chamber II. Decision on the Prosecutor's

Application for Summons to Appear for Willjam Samoei Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and

Joshua Arap Sang, ICC{1/09{U1l-1, para.9.
r See para. 26 below.



lcc-or/09-01/ -l7l 23-0r-2012 146/173 FB pT

j. Findings

11. As summarised above in paragraphs 5 to Z the Prosecutor's presentation of

the case in the amended document containing the charges is premised on the

assumption that the "Network", consisting of 6ve components, qualifies as an

'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute.

12. Mindful of the Prosecutor's allegations and arguments, and having heard the

Defence arguments and presentation of evidence during the Hearing I remain

unconvinced by the Prosecuto/s allegation that the "Network" as a whole,

qualifies as an 'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute.

At the Hearing no sufficiently compelling new argument, fad or piece of

evidence was prcsented for me to reconsider my previous assessment of the facts

in this case. This concems in particular my finding as to the alleged existence of

the various components of the "Network" which, according to my reading of the

evidence, did either not exist in that form or are reflective of the tribal

component of the "Network".B My conclusion therefore was that the violence

during the 200712008 violence was in essence ethnically driven. That said, I

reaffirm my previous finding that the "Network", as portrayed, is "essentially an

amorphous al.liance" of "coordinating members of a tribe with a predisposition

towards violence with fluctuating membership"2{ which existed temporarily for

2r See for an elaborate analysis of the evidence, Pre-Trial Chamber II, Dissenting Opinion by

Judge Hans-Peter Kaul to PreTrial Chamber ll's'Decision on the Prosecutor's Application for
Summons to Appear for William Samoei Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and .foshua Arap Sang',

lCC4l /@41 /11-2, paras 1&44.
2r Pre-Trial Chamber ll, Dissenting Opinion by Judge Hans-Peter Kaul to Pre-Trial Chamber ll's
'Decision on the Proseotor's Application for Summons to Appear for William Samoei Ruto,

Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap Sang', ICC{l/0941/11-2, parc. 46-
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a specific purpose.zs The "Network", characterized by the ethno-political

affiliation of its membert emerged only in connection with the 200712008 post-

election violence and, in my opinion, was "created ad hoc solely to assist,

admittedly in an abhorrent way, the community's aspiring and eisting political

leaders in gaining or maintaining political power in the Rift Valley on the

occasion of the 2007 presidential elections".26 Nevertheless, I maintain my view

that "members of a tribe [...] do not form a statelike 'organisation', unless they

meet additional prerequisites. By the same token, those members of a tribe who

instigated violence cannot alone constitute an 'organisation'" .27 Lastly,l maintain

that the planning and coordination of violence in a series of meetings during the

time period rclevant to this case "does not transform an ethnically-based

gatherhg of perpetrators into a State-like organization".2E

13. In conclusion, I am not satisfied to the 'degree of certainty' that the crimes

were committed pursuant to the policy of a StateJike 'organisation', which is an

indispensable constitutive contextual element and inherent characteristic of

crimes against humanity under article 7 of the Stahrte. Without the crimes

alleged having been embedded in an "organizational policy", I maintain that the

- Pre-Trial Chamber U, "Dissenting Opinion by Judge Hans-Peter Kaul to Pre-Trial Chamber II's
'Decision on the Prosecutor's Application for Summons to Appear for William Samoei Ruto,
Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap Sang"', ICC47/0941111-2, para. 47.

'?6 
Pre-Trial Chamber II, "Dissenting Opinion by rudSe Hans-Peter Kaul to Pre-Trial Chamber ll's

'Decision on the Prosecutor's Application for Summons to Appear for William Samoei Ruto,
Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap Sang"', ICC{U0941117-2, para. 47.
,7 Pre-Trial Chamber Il, "Dissenting Opinion by Judge Hans-Peter Kaul to Pre-Trial Chamber II's
'Decision on the Prosecuto/s Application for Summons to Appear for William Samoei Ruto,

[Ienry Kiprono Kosgey and ]oshua Arap Sang"', ICC41/094U77-2, para. 48.
28 Pre-Trial Chamber lI, 'Dissenting C)pinion by ludge Hans-Peter Kaul to Pre-Trial Chamber II's
'Decision on the Proseotor/s Application for Summoru to Appear for William Samoei Ruto,

Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap Sang"', ICC{1/094717"1-2, para.49.
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Court has no jurisdiction ratione materiae over the situation in the Republic of

Keny4 induding in the present case.

4. The Challenge to lurisdiction oJ the Court by the Defence

14. I note that on 30 August 2011, the Defence for Mr Ruto and Mr Sang brought

together a challenge to jurisdiction of the Court in this case under artide 19(2)(a)

of the Statute., On the first day of the Hearing the Chamber rendered an oral

decision on the conduct of proceedings pursuant to n:Ie 58(2) of the Rules of

Procedure and Evidence and ordered the parties and victims to provide their

written submissions within the prescribed time-limit.r

15. The Defence for Mr Ruto and Mr Sang (hereinafter also collectively "the

Defence") requests the Chamber to decline to exercise iurisdiction in respect of

the case against Mr Ruto and Mr Sang as the Prosecutor

(...) has failed to produce sulficient evidence to establish all contextual elements

of crimes against humanity under Article 7 of the ICC Stahrte. Notably, the
ProsecutIor] failed to establish on a'substantial trounds to believe' standard, the

existence of an'ortanizational policy'behind the crimes charSed. (...)

Accordingly, the Defence requests that the Pre-Trial Chamber declines to exercise
jurisdiction ir respect of the case against Mr. Ruto and Mr. Sang.,l

16. In the text of its submission, the Defence avers that the Ma,ority "draw an

erroneous condusion by adopting a new, liberal and too wide a definition of

"organizational policy".:z ln the following it comments extensively on the

opinions voiced by the Judges of this Chamber and academics as to the

$ ICC-01/09-01/11-305; Mr Henry Kiprono Kosgey, against whom the Chamber ultimately
declined to conJirm all charges, equally lodged a challenge to jurisdiction of the Court, see ICC-

07/0941111-3tJ6.
30 ICC-01/09-01/11-T-5-ENG ET, p. 15, lines ll-17; and p.38, lines 19-24.
3) tCC-o1/09-01/11-305, paras 82 and 83.
I ICC{1/09-01/11-3O5, para. 7.



ICC-o1/09-0r/r t,t7l ?l-0t-20t2 I49/t?3 FB pT

interpretation of 'organisation'.3r Subsequently, the Defence avers that

"irrespective of whether one accepts the minority or ma.iority test, or an

altemative test, the facts on which the Prosecut[or] relies do not amount to

substantial grounds to believe" that Mr Ruto and Mr Sang "acted within an

organization in the context of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute".I

17. The Prosecutor seeks the summary dismissal of the Defence jurisdictional

challenge on the grounds that it is wrongly argued to be a "iurisdictional"

challenge.35 To begin with, he argues that the "[s]uspects are charged with

committing crimes against humanity".36 Thus, he contends, the Court has

jurisdiction "because the crimes against humanity alleged under [a]rticle 7 [of the

Statutel are within the Court's subiect matter iurisdiction"., He further purports

that the Majority's analysis of article 7 of the Statute is an issue of "statutory

construction" and not jurisdiction.$ As to the interpretation of the notion of

'organization' in article 7(2)(a) of. the Stafute, the Prosecutor maintains that the

Majority's established definition is correct.3e Likewise, whether the Prosecutor's

evidence establishes the requisite elements of crimes against humanity, including

that of "organizational policy", is, in his view, a "sufficiency issue", not

jurisdiction.'0 As to the issue of alleged insufficienry of evidence, the Prosecutor

submits that "necessary factual determinations related [to] the charges must be

left for the confirmation decision (...) and, if charges are confirmed, for the

!, ICC{1/09-01/l l-305, paras l0{1.
x ICC-o1/09-01/11-305, pata. 62.
15 ICC-01/09-01/11-334-Corr, paras 9 and 15.
36 ICC{1/0941/1 l-334-Corr, para. 12.
, ICC-o1/0941/1l -334-Corr para. 13.
r3 ICC-01/09-01/l I -334-Corr, paras'13 and 17
l, ICC4I/09-01/11-334-Corr, pa ras 1G32.
.0 ICC-o1/09-01n l-334-Cort para. 13.
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trial".ar Finally, the Prosecutor buttresses his submission by adding a reference to

a decision of the Appeals Chamber of the Intemational Criminal Tribunal (the

"rcrY";.nz

18. The victims participating in this case submit observations on various issues

in the context of the present challenge.a3 [n essence, the victims claim that the

Court has iurisdiction as each of the suspect has been charged with crimes falling

under the subiect-matter, personal, and territorial jurisdiction of the Court.s

They aver that the requirements of article 7 of the Statute, including that of

"organizational policy", are not jurisdictional requirements but substaative law

"applied by the [Court] in exercise of its iurisdiction".rs Similarly, the victims

suggest that any discussion of insufficienry of evidence must be undertaken by

the Chamber in exercise of its jurisdiction in the context of deciding on the merits

of the case pursuant to article 51(7)(b) or (c) of the Statute.6 As a result, the

victims take the view that the Defence challenge is actually not a challenge to

jurisdiction.aT

19. ln the final written submissions after the dose of the Hearing the Defence for

Mr Ruto provides further arguments to its iurisdictional challenge in reply to the

arguments advanced by the Prosecutor and the victims.4 It underlines that the

.r ICC-01/@-01/11-334-Co!r, para. 35.
{ ICC-01/09-01/11-334-Corr, para. 14. The futl name of the tribunal is "Lntemational Tribunal for
the Prosecution of Persoru Responsible for Serious Violations of lnternational Humanitarian law
Committed in the Territory of the Former Yugoslavia since 1991", UN Doc. S/RES|827 (1993r.
{3 lcc-01/0941/11-332.
L lCC41/0941/11-332, para. 21.
., ICC{1/09{1/1 1-332, par a. 22.
{6 ICC{U09-01/11-332, paras 35 and 35.
{7 tCC41/@41/11-332, pa.a. u.
.8 ICC4U0941/11-355, paras 181-197.
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issue of iurisdiction ratione matniae is a jurisdictional question.ae Further it

maintains that "there must be an evidentiary test when considering whether the

policy requirement has been complied witlu which can only be tested if the

factual circumstances are considered",e

20. The Majority decision in the present case addresses two points that have

been raised by the Defence in the iurisdictional challenge. The first issue relates

to the notion of an 'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the

Statute; and the second issue relates to the facts presented by the Prosecutor in

support of the said notion.5l With regard to the first issue, relating to the

interpretation of 'organization' within the meanhg of article 7(2)(a) of the

Statute, the Majority rejects this part of the challenge since it "does not find a

persuasive reason to revisit its previous finding on the question or to reverse its

original approach".s' The Majority further suggests that the challenge on this

issue amounts to an "attempt to obtain a right to appeal on this point of law and

at this stage of the proceedings" and remarks that "the Suspects failed to avail

themselves of the right to appeal the Decision on Summons to Appear, which

reiterated the same legal findings of the 31 March 2010 Decision".s With regard

to the second issue, relating to the alleged insufficiency of evidence presented,

the Maiority di-smisses in limine this part of the challenge.a It takes the view that

this "point cannot be qualified as a jurisdictional challenge" as this part relates in

" ICC-0U09{1/11-355, para. 185.
50 ICC4l/09{1/11-355, para. 186.
tr See para. 29 of the Maiority decision
, See para.34 of the Majority decision
s See para.34 of the Majority decision
t See para. 36 of the Majority decision
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21. Before all else, I wish to comment on the manner in which this Defence

challenge has been formulated. I agree with the Majority's finding on the need to

distinguish trvo issues. However, this distinction is not made clear by the

Defence in their final request to the Chamber. I note that while the Defence

engages in an extensive and almost purely academic discussion conceming the

definition of 'organization' within the meaning of article 7(2)(a) of the Statute, it

actually requests the Chamber to decline jurisdiction over this case on the basis

that the Prosecutor "failed to produce sufficient evidence to establish all

contextual elements of crimes against humani$".* This pertains clearly to the

second issue conceming the presentation of facts presented by the Prosecutor, as

identiJied by the Majority, in the context of this challenge. Admittedly, when

commenting on the legal interpretation of 'organization' given by the Majority

and the dissenting Judge the Defence expresses its agreement with the more

restrictive interpretation adopted by the dissenting Judge. But the Defence does

not actually request in clear terms that the Chamber reconsider its previous

interpretation of the notion of 'organization'. What is not requested or couched

in forthright termg however, cannot be adiudicated. Nonetheless, taking the

Defence submission as a whole, and bearing in mind that any assessment of facts

must be made in light of the law as interpreted first, it appears that the Defence

wishes the Chamber to reconsider its interpretation of the notion of

tt See para. 35 of the Majority decision.
s See para. 15 above.

essence to the merits of the Prosecutor's case on the facts which should be

"resolved pursuant to the standard provided for in artide 61(7) of the Statute".st



22. Tuming now to the substance of the challenge, I express my disagreement

with the position taken by the Majority in the present case for the reasons set out

below. From the outset, I must make it clear that I do not wish to embark anew

upon a disorssion of the correct interpretation of the notion of 'organization'. I

have set out my understanding of the law in sufficient detail in both dissenting

opinions in which I have analysed the facts as presented by the Prosecutor. I

shall therefore only respond to new arguments advanced in relation to the

following two preliminary questions:

(a) Whether the interpretation of the contextual element of "organizational

policy" as a matter of law is part of the jurisdictional challenge; and

(b) Whether and to what extent an assessment of facts, and by extension of

evidence, can be part of a iurisdictional challenge.

ICC-01/09-01/t r-373 23-01-20r2 153/173 FB PT

5, ICC41/09-0U11-305, paras7,8,9,31,13, 4O, 60 and 62; ICC41/09{1/l I -355, paras 182-184

'organization' in the context of this challenge as well.57 I shall therefore examine

both issues presented by the Defence, as identified by the Majority.

a) lssue of law: the correct interpretation of "organizational Policv" is part of the

iurisdictional challenge

23. Although I disagree with the Ma.jority's finding to reiect this part of the

challenge, I note that this first issue has been decided on the merits. The Maiority

therefore acknowledges that this first issue can be part of the ,urisdictional

challenge, a finding with which I associate myself entirely. For the following

reasons, I consider this approach to be correct.
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24. The established jurisprudence of this Court, including that of this Chamber,

clearly shows that jurisdiction is composed of four requirements, namely sub,ect-

matter (ratione materise), temporal (ratione temporis), personal (ratione personae)

and territorial (ratione loci), with the last two requirements being in the

alternative.$ Jurisdiction ratione materiae refers to the crimes which fall within the

iurisdiction of the Court - as enumerated in articles 6, 7 and 8 and article 8Dis of

the Statutq which has yet to enter into force - and encompasses the constitutive

contextual elements in which the specific crimes are embedded. Thus, the

contextual legal requirement of an 'organization' within the meaning of article

7(2)(a) of the Statute falls entirely within the 'jurisdiction test'. Obviously, this

includes any issue of interpretation which may affect the applicability of the

contextual elements.

25. The Prosecutor's and victims' argument that the contextual elements, such as

that of 'organization' under article 7(2)(a) of the Statute, do not in any way fall

within the ambit of the 'jurisdiction test' but concem matters of substance

relating to the merits of the case is as astonishing as it is misconceived. lt

disregards the inseparable, twofold nature of contextual elements which are both

s Appeals Chamber, Judgment on the Appeal of Mr. Thomas Lubanga Dyilo against the Decision
on the Defence Challenge to the Jurisdiction of the Court pursuant to article l9 (2) (a) of the
Statute of 3 October 2006, ICC-01/04-01/06-772, paras 2l a d 2L Prc-Trial Chamber ll, Decision
Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute on lhe Authorization of an lnvestigation into t}le
Situation in the Republic of Kenya, ICC-01/09-19-Corr, paras 38 and 39; Pre-Trial Chamber IIl,
Decision on the Prosecutor's Application for a Warrant of Arrest atainst Jean-Pierre Bemba

Gombo, ICC-01/05-01/08-1+tENC, para. 12; Pre-1'rial Chamber III, Decision on the Prosecutor's
Application Pursuant to Article 58 for a warrant of arrest atainst I-aurent Koudou Cbagbo tCC-
02177-011"11-9-Red, para. 9; Pre-Trial Chamber I, Decision on the evidence and information
provided by the Plosecution for the issuance of a warrant of arrest for Germain Katanga, ICC-
0710441107-4, para. 1l; Pre-Trial Chamber [, Decision on the Prosecution's Application for a

Warrant of Arrest against Omar Hassan Ahmad Al Bashir, ICC-0U05-01/09-3, para.36.
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elements of the crimes as stated in the Elements of Crimes5e relating to the merits

,nd iurisdictional in nature insofar as the Court cannot exercise jurisdiction over

the underlying acts in the absence of such contextual elements. The presence of

contextua[ elements differentiates the crimes within the jurisdiction of the Court

from ordinary crimes. As I explained in the 31 March 2010 Dissenting Opinion:

It is even more crucial to determine that (...) the contextual elements of crimes
against humanity appear to be present as it is this decisive element which
tri8gers the jurisdiction of the Court, elevates the acts concerned, which
otherwis€ would fall exclusively under the responsibility of national

iurisdictions, to intemational crimes and sets aside considerations of State

sovereignty.60

26. Article 19(1), first sentence, of the Statute instructs the Judges of this Court in

unequivocal terms to determine their competence to adjudicate a case: "The

Court sftall satisfy itself that it hcs jurisdiction in any case before it" (emphasis

added). As explained above, this Chamber has interpreted this provision to

imply "that the Court must'attain the degree of certainfy' that the iurisdictional

parameters set out in the Statute have been met".6r I draw two conclusions

therefrom. Firstly, the answer to the question of whether the Court has such

iurisdiction is, in principle, not subiect to the progressively higher evidentiary

thresholds which apply at the different stages of the proceedings. Secondly, an

affirmative answer to that question is a pre-condition to the Court's discussion of

le In this respect it is noteworthy to recall the second irtroductory paragraph to crimes against
humanity in the Elements of Crimes which confirms tlat "[t]he tast two elements for each crime
against humanity describe the context in which the conduct must take place".
o Pre-Trial Chamber II, Decision Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute on the Authorization
of an Investigation into the Situation in the Republic of Kenya, ICC41/09-19-Corr, p.93, para. 18.
6rPre-Trial Chamber II, Decision Pursuant to Article 61(a(a) and (b) of the Rome Statute on the
Charges of the Prosecutor Against Jean-Pierre Bemba Combo, ICC{1/05{1/0&424, para.24 Pre-
Trial Chamber ll, Decision on the Prosecutor's Application for Summons to Appear for William
Samoei Ruto, Henry Kiprono Kosgey and Joshua Arap Sang ICC41/09{1/I l-1, para. 9; Pre-Trial
Chamber Il, Decision on the Plosecutor's Application for Summonses to Appear for Francis
Kirimi Muthaura, Uhuru Muigai Kenyatta and Mohammed Hussein Ali, ICC-0.1/09{2/11-1, para.
9; see also para.25 of the Maiority decision.
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the merits.62 Consequently, the question cannot be deferred to the merits but

must be ruled upon definitively ab inifio. In other words, the Court does not have

limited jurisdiction when issuing a warrant of arrest or summons to app€ar;

slightly more jurisdiction at the confirmation of charges stage; and iurisdiction

'beyond reasonable doubt' at trial, after the merits have been fully adjudged. The

Court either has jurisdiction or does not.

27. That being said, I am fully aware that issues of jurisdiction may be intimately

bound up with the merits of the case. To avoid unnecessarily prolonging the

proceedings on jurisdiction, I take the view that a careful assessment of the

contextual elements - which are decisive in triggering the Court's intervention -
should or must only be carried out where it appears that the'degree of certainty'

may not be attained. Such situations warrant an immediate resolution without

delving into and preiudging the merits of the case and can only be assessed on a

case-by-case basis. In the circumstances of the present case, I deemed it both

appropriate and necessary for the contextual elements of crimes against

humanity, which form part of jurisdictional ratione materiae, to be entertained in

greater detail when examining iurisdiction and at the early stage of the initiation

of the investigation into the situation in the Republic of Kenya. I took that view

becausc the degree of certainty appeared not to have been attained. At the same

time, I found it necessary to save the Court from entertaining further time-

consuming and expensive proceedings without jurisdiction.

28. In support of his claim that the issues raised by the Defence are not proper

challenges to iurisdiction, the Prosccutor refers to a recent ICTY Appeals

d See also paras 25 and 28 of the Majority decision.
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Chamber decision.d arguing that the ICTY, when "faced with an almost identical

defence argument in the Gotouina case, refused to consider the claim as one

addressing jurisdiction".a A careful review of the Appeals Chamber decision

concemed compels me to conclude that the Prosecutor misrepresents the issues

at stake. [n that decision, the srb judice malter raised by the defence for Ante

Gotovina was whether or not the objective elements of the crimes of deportation

and forcible transfer, cruel treatment and inhumane acts had been established.

Indeed, the establishment of the actas reas component of a specific crimg the

underlying act, is an issue of substance relating to the merits of a case which

should not, in principle, be prejudged when examining iurisdiction but instead

considered with the merits. The question in the present case is wholly different:

have the contettual elements of crimes against humanity been established? As

elaborated above, I believe this matter to fall squarely under the ' ju risdiction test'

since these contextual elements confer jurisdiction on the Court when

established-

29. The necessity for a correct determination on jurisdiction finds support in the

jurisprudence of the Court which has frequently affirmed its lurisdiction after

satisfying itself that the jurisdictional parameters, including the contexfual

elements of the alleged crimes, had been met.65 Admittedly, no chamber has yet

6! lCT l, Proseatlor t) Antc Cotorina et al., Case No. IT{6-90-AR72.1, "Decision on Ante Gotovina's
Interlootory Appeal ABainst Decision on Several Motions Challenging Jurisdiction",6lune 2007.
s ICC{'l109-01/l l-334-Corr, para. 14.
65 See for example: Pre-Trial Chamber I, Decision conceming Pre-Trial Chamber I's Decision of l0
February 2006 and the Incorporation of Documents into the Record of the Case atainst Mr
Thomas Lubanga Dyilo, ICC-01/04-0u068-Corr, para.25, considerint the contextual elements of
war crimes; Pre-Trial Chamber I, Decision on the Prosecution's Applicahon for a Warrant of
Arrest against Omar l{assan Ahmad Al Bashir, ICC-02/05{1109-3, pata.39, in which explicit
reference is made to the contextual elements of crimes against humanity; Pre-Trial Chamber III,
Decision on the Proseotor's Application for a Warrant of Arrest a8ainst Jean-Pierre Bemba

Gombo, ICC-O1/0541/08-1+tENG, para. '13, in which explicit reference is made to the contextual
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embarked upon an in-depth analysis of facts in thc context of determining

iurisdiction ratione matoiae. However, this may be explained by the fact that no

chamber until the present day was faced with a similar clear necessity to

determine whether or not the Court has iurisdiction ratione materiae.

30. The Prosecutor himself follows the very same approach. He clearly assess€s

jurisdiction ratione materiae, including the contextual elements of the crimes

allegedly committed, when determining whether there is "a reasonable basis to

believe that a crime within the iurisdiction of the Court has been or is being

committed" pursuant to article 53(1Xa) of the Statute. Most remarkably, the

Prosecutor declined to initiate an investigation into the situation in Venezuela on

the grounds that crimes against humanity did not appear to have taken place. He

cxplained:

(...) In order to constitute a crime against humanity, A.ticle 7(l) of the Rome
Statule provides that particular acts must have been committed as part of a

widespread or svstematic attack directed against any civilian population. This
tcst creates a strintent threshold. [ven on a Benerous eva]uation of the
information provided, the available information did not provide a reasonable

basis to believe lhat the requirement of a rtidespread or systematic atlack ngainst

any cioilian pop otion had been satisfied (emphasis added).6

elements of crimes against humanity and war crimes; Pre-.Trial Chamber lll, Decision on the

Proseotor's Applicahon PuEuant to Article 58 for a warrant of arrest agailst Laurent Koudou

Gbagbo, lCC42/11{1/11-9-Red, para. l.l, in which explicit reference is made to the contexh.ral

elements of crimes atainst humanity,
66 See pages 3-4 of the Prosecutor's response to the communications received conceming the

situation in Venezuela, available at: htlp://www.icc<pi.int/NIUrdonlvres/4E28C725-6A63-4088-
(last

visited on 10 January 2012). I also note that in this response the Prosecutor appears to have gone

even so far as to examine, based on the communications received, the specific eiements of the

crime of persecution pursuant to article 7(l)(h) of the Stahrte, concluding that "lmlany oI the

alleSations of persecution did not appear to satisfy the elements for the crime of persecution", see

p.3.
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31. I find no logical or legal reason why the Prosecutor may decline to initiate

investigations based on an alleged lack of jurisdiction ratione materiae due to the

absence of the required contextual elements of crimes against humanity, whereas

thc Chamber should be barred from entertaining this issue or reviewing the

Prosecutor's preliminary assessment on jurisdiction altogether. Rather, it is my

view that the Chamber has full competence to consider issues of jurisdiction in

order to discharge fully the duty cast on it by articte 19(1) of the Statute.

32. The Prosecutor's and the victims' further argument that the Court /ras

jurisdiction because he has charged the suspects with crimes against humanity

under article 7 of the Statute is legally and procedurally untenable. The charges,

which imply iurisdiction, are merely presented by the Prosecutor. Again, it is

ultimately for the Judges of this Court to decide on jurisdiction, not the

Prosecutor. Were it otherwise, the Prosecutor could label any crime as a crime

within the jurisdiction of the Court thus removing the subiect-matter jurisdiction

(ratione materiae) from the scope of article 19(1), first sentence, of the Statute and

Iimithg any challenges or questions raised respectively under article 19(2) and

19(3) of the Statute to jurisdiction ratiotrc temporis and, ratione locilratione personae.

In my opinion, such an interpretation would rendcr articles 19(1), 1,9(2) and 19(3)

of the Statute largely ineffective.

33. [n this respect, I am mindful of the interpretation of article 19 of the Statute of

Pre-Trial Chamber I in the Mbarushimana case. Pre-Trial Chamber I clearly

underlined the importance of the remedy provided to a suspect by that

provision:
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The Chamber observes that a suspect's right to challenge the jurisdiction of the
Court is a special remedy enshrined in article 19 of the Statute, as such
autonomous and irdependent from any other remedy which the suspect might
have by virtue of other statutory provisions.6,

The above finding highlights the general importance of the iurisdictional

challenges under article 19 of the Statute which should not be diminished.

Hence, the function of article 19 of the Statute must not be significantly reduced

by excluding matters of jurisdiction ratione materiae.

34. Mindful of the "autonomous and independent" nature of the article 19

remedy, I find it difficult to agree with the Malority's suggestion that the Defence

may attempt with this challenge to obtain a right to appeal on this point law. I

also do not support the Maiority's sentiment that Mr Ruto and Mr Sang failed to

appeal pursuant to article 82(1)(a) of the Statute the 8 March 2011 Majority

decision on summons to appear.

35. Rather, I hold the view that the Defence had the right to challenge

jurisdiction pursuant to article 19(2) of the Statute at this stage in which it was

entitled to raise any issue relating to the four iurisdictional requirements.

Naturally, a challenge to jurisdiction in accordance with article 19(2) of the

Statute inevitably may call into question any of the chamber's previous findings

which it sequentially may have to revisit. The argument of reconsideration alone

cannot be advanced, in my opinion, to reject such a challenge. Further, arSuing

that the suspects could have appealed the 8 March 2011 decision on summons to

appear ignores the fact that a suspect, up until thc notification of a warrant of

67 Pre-Trial Chamber I, Decision on the'Defence Challenge to the Jurisdiction o[ the Court", [CC-

0l/04{1/10-451, para. 11.
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arrest or summons to appear, is not a parfy to the proceedings. Pre-Trial

Chambers of this Court have taken the view that the proceedings triggered by

the Prosecutor's application for a warrant of arrest or summons to appear are

conducted on an ar parte basis.c Expecting the Defence to appeal a decision in

relation to which it was effectively not heard by the first-instance court raises

issues of faimess. In fact such an approach means that the suspect makes his first

submissions on jurisdiction before the Appeals Chamber. Moreover, from a

practical point of view, such an approach also compels the Defence to exercise an

important remedy - which according to article 19(4) of the Statute can be made

only once by any person, unless leave is granted by the Chamber to bring a

challenge more than once - at an early stage of the proceedings in the absence of

knowledge of the material relied upon in the decision. It is important to recall

that initially the suspect is served only with a warrant of arrest or a summons to

appear. No supporting documentation is attached thereto.6e In order to

effectively challenge jurisdiction it must be ensured that the suspect has been

granted access to documents that are essential for the preparation of his or her

defence.To

s Pre-Trial Chamber ll, Decision on Application for Leave to Submit 
^micr6 

C /iae Obs€rvations,
ICC-01/09-35, para. l0; Pre-Trial Chamber Il, Decision on a Request for Leave to Appeal, ICC-
01/09-43, para.9; Pre-Trial Chamber II, Decision on the'Application for l,eave to Participate in
the Proceedings before the Pre-Trial Chamber relating to the Prosecutor's Application under
Article 58(a', ICC-0^1109-42, para. 6; Pre-Trial Chamber Il, Decision on Application for Leave to
Participate under Articles 58, a2(5), (7)-(8)(a) of the Rome Statute and Rule 34(1Xd) and (2) of the
Rules of Procedure and Evidence, ICC-0'I/09-47, para.5. This view was also endorsed by Pre-Trial
Chamber I, Decision on the'Pros€otor's Application Pursuant to Article 58 as to Muammar
Mohammed Abu Minyar Caddafi, Saif Al-lslam Caddafi and Abdullah Al-Senussi, ICC-01/11-
0'l/11-1, para. 12.
6e It is recalled that the suspects in thjs case were granted access to the Prosecutor's article 58

application in redacted form only on 26 luly 2011, see 1CC4110941111-??4.
z0 In this contexl it is recailed that pursuant to rule 121(3) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence,
the "Prosecutor shall provide to (...) the person, ro latcr thqn 30 days betore the date of the
confirmation hearin& (...) a list of the evidence which he or she intends to present at the hearing"
(emphasis added).
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37. First, I observe in general that a court of law does not address legal

questions, including that of jurisdiction, for the sake of having a legal discussion

but interprets the law with a view to appraise the facts sxb iudice in light thereof.

As the establishment of the facts afu judice may Prove to be controversial,

evidentiary issues may arise at any stage of the proceedings.z

7' See para. 35 of the Majority decision.
7: See also Appeals Chamber, .ludgment on the appeals of the Defence against the decisions

entitled 'Decision on victims' applcations for ParticiPation a/@10106, ai0064l06 to a1O070106,

a10087106, al@82106, a/m84/06 to a/0089/06, al0091106 to a100971O6, a100991 , a/O1OOlO6, alO1O2tO6

to a/0104/06, alOll'1106, al0173l06 to a10117106, a!0120106, a/0121/06 and alOl23l16 to a10127106' of

Pre-Trial Chamber [I, ICC{2/04{1/05-371, para.36 'The Appeals Chamber observes that it is an

essential tenet of the rule of law that judicial decisions must be based on facts established by

evidence. Providing evidence to substantiate an allegation is a hallmark of judicial proceedings;

courts do not base their decisions on impulse, intuition and coniechrre or on m€re symPathy or

emotion, Such a course would lead to arbitrariness and would be antithetical to the rule of law."

b) Issue of fact: an assessment of facts. and by extension evidence, is part of the

iurisdictional challenge

36. Another related preliminary question to the Defence challenge is the issue

whether and to what extent facts, and by extension evidence, may be assessed

with regard to jurisdiction ratione n0teriae, which, as demonstrated above, is part

and parcel of the 'iurisdiction test'. The Majority declines to undertake such a

discussion as "[ilt is clear from the Defences' submissions that the essence of this

part of their filings is to challenge the merits of the Prosecutor's case on the

facts". The Majority held that an assessment of the facts would be dealt with "in

the relevant part of the [article 61(7)] decision".Tr I disagree with this position

taken for the following two reasons.
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38. Secondly, I note the Chamber's duty to pronounce itself on jurisdiction by

having attained the 'degree of certainty' which it can only logically satisfy by

assessing facts presented by the Prosecutor. As the 'jurisdiction test' consists of

four requirements (see paragraph 24 above), an assessment of facts must

necessarily extend to all those four requirements, including jurisdiction rafione

materiae

39. In light of the foregoing I find it difficult to accept that an assessment of the

facts, and by extension evidence, cannot take place for the purposes of

determining jurisdiction ratione materiae but must be deferred to the stage of the

merits. In my opinion, the issue of fact raised by the Defence falls, in principle,

under the ambit of this challenge.

40. In conclusion, I am of the firm view that the Defence challenge must be fully

entertained. Against the backdrop of my previous findings with regard to

jurisdiction, I hold that the Defence challenge should be granted and jurisdiction

over this case be denied. [ further opine that the issues raised by the Defence are

appealable under article 82(1)(a) of the Statute and, therefore, Ieave to appeal

pursuant to article 82(1)(d) of the Statute need not be sought.

III. Further Observations

41. Notwithstanding my view on the lack of jurisdiction ratiotte ntateriae in the

situation in the Republic of Kenya, and therefore in the present case, I have

followed attentively the entirety of these confirmation of charges proceedings. In

this part of the dissent, I wish to provide some more thoughts on two issues

which merit particular attention. First, I shall set forth my thoughts on the impact



ICC-o1/09-0t/ll-373 23-0t-20t2 164/173 FB pT

'1. Prosecutor's Respect for Article 54(1)(a) of the Statute

42. At the Hearing the Prosecutor is called upon, in conformity with article 61(5)

of the Statute, to support each charge with "sufficient evidence" as gathered

during the investigation.

43. On the basis of my observations and experiences at the Court until the

present day, I use this oppoftunity to darify and summarise my views and

expectations with regard to any investigation undertaken by the Of6ce of the

Prosecutor on behalf of the Court. I do so as a Judge who is fully aware of the

serious responsibility to take such a far-reaching decision as to confirm or to

decline to confirm the charges on which the Prosecutor intends to seek trial for

the person(s) charged. I note that such an important decision and the entirc

process leading to it will have in any given situation, including the present case,

far-reaching consequences not only for the person(s) concemed but also for the

Court itselt and the fuIfillment of its mandate to promote lasting respect for and

the enforcement of intemational justice.

44. Having said that, it is in my view an absolute, indispensable necessity that

any such investigation must be as comprehensive, professional, expeditious and

thereby as effective as possible. With regard to tfus necessity, I recall, firstly,

artide 54(1)(a) of the Statute, which reads:

of the Prosecuto/s respect for article 5a(1)(a) of the Statute during his

investigation on the proceedings conducted by the chambers of this Court.

Secondly, I will set out my views as to the rights of the Defence during the

Hearing pursuant to article 61(6) of the Statute.
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Article 54

D4ties and powers of the Prcsecutor with respect to investigations
l. The Prosecutor shall
(a) In order lo esllhlish the truth, extend lhe inoestigotion to cowr all /acts and

eaidence relwanl lo an ossessfiefit of whether lhere is criminal rcspansibility
under this Statute, and, in doing so, inoestigate incrintinating and eaonerating

circumstances equolly; (emphasis added)

45. It is my understanding that this crucial provision demonstrates in particular

the following for any proceedings before this Court:

(1) Already the investigation undertaken from its initiation into the

situation until the confirmation of the charges has the decisive Purpose

to establish the truth and to provide a solid basis for a future judicial

assessment whether there is indeed individual criminal resPonsibility

which will require, pursuant to article 55(3) of the Statute, that the

Judges "must be convinced of the guilt of the accused beyond

reasonable doubt";

(2) The scope of the investigation must be extended to cover all facts and

evidence to make possible such a judicial assessment as referred above

under (1);

(3) The investigation undertaken shall cover incriminating and

exonerating circumstances equally as the Prosecutor is conceived in

the Statute as an obiective truth seeker and not as a partisan lawyer.

45. These are, in my view, fr:ndamental requirements which set out clear, if not

high standards for proper investigations carried out by the Prosecutor on behalf

of the Court and with regard to which he or she shall take, pursuant to article

54(1)(b) of the Statute, appropriate measures to ensure their effectiveness while

fully respecting the rights of persons concemed, as required by article 5a(1)(c) of

the Statute.
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47. I do not find it difficult to conclude that any investigation which does not

meet these standards is not in conformity with the letter and spirit of article 54(1)

of the Statute. Likewise, I do not find it difficult to assume that any investigation

meeting these standards only partially and unsatisfactorily will probably lead to

problems and difficulties not only for an effective and successful prosecution but

also for the work of the Chamber concerned and for the Court in general. This

may be the case, for example, if the investigation in a concrete case tle facto d.oes

not cover all facts and evidence of that case, or if not all possible measures are

taken to make the investigation effective; then the consequence may be that there

will be only a limited amount of evidence or - in extremis - scarcity of evidence.

Another example of such unsatisfactory investigation would be an approach

which de Jacto is aiming in a first phase, (only) at gathering enough evidence to

reach the "sufficiency standard" within the meaning of article 61(7) of the

Statute, maybe in the expectation or hope that in a further phase after the

confirmation proceedings, additional and more convincing evidence may be

assembled to attain the 'beyond reasonable doubt' threshold, as required by

article 55(3) of the Statute. I believe that such an approach, as tempting as it

might be for the Prosecutor, would be risky, if not irrcsponsible: if after the

confirmation oI the charges it tums out as impossible to gather further evidence

to attain the decisive threshold of 'beyond reasonable doubt', the case in question

may become very difficult or may eventually collapse at trial, then with many

serious consequences, includhg for the entire Court and the victims who have

placed great hopes in this instiiution.

48. I submit that it is therefore the duty of the Prosecutor to conduct any

investigation ab initio as effectively as possible with the unequivocal aim to
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assemble as expeditiously as possible relevant and convincing evidence which

will enable ultimately the Trial Chamber to consider whether criminal

responsibility is proven 'beyond reasonable doubt'. Such determined Prosecution

action without delay is also necessary because of the well-known experience that

the chances of investigations to be effective and successful are gradually

diminishing and fading away the more time is passing since the commission of

the crime(s) in question. Furthermore, having regard to article 21(3) of the Statute

which imposes on the Court to interpret and apply the Statute, among othert

consistent with "internationally recognized human rights", I note the

iurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights which clearly establishes

a requirement of "promptness and reasonable expedition" in the conduct of a

criminal investigation as a conditio sine qua non of its effectiveness.T3

49. In this context, I hold that my view as summarised above is, generally

consistent with the Appeals Chamber iudgement of 13 October 20057a. I note that

this decision was concemed with the speciEc question whether and to what

extent post-confirmation investigations are permitted under the Statute; it was

not concemed with the general and different question of the duties of the

Prosecutor, pursuant to article 54(1) of the Statute, to ensure that the

investigations undertaken are as proper. expeditious and effective as possible.

D European Court of Human Rjg)1ts, Bazotkina u. R!ssi.r, Judgment ol 27 Jluly 2006, AppLication
n"69,181/01, para. 719; Tanikulu o. Turkey,ludgment of 8 July 1999, Application n"23763194, pata.
109.
7r Appeals Chamber, judgment on the Prosecuto/s appeal against the decision of Pre-Trial
Chamber I entitled 'Decision Establishing General Principles Goveming Applicatioru to Restrict
Dirlosure pursuant to Rule 8l(2) and (4) of the Rules of Procedure and Evidence', ICC-01104

01/06-558.
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50. I am aware that the Appeals Chamber permitted (only) "in certain

circumstances" further investigations after confirmatiory in particular "in

situations where the ongoing nature of the conflict results in more compelling

evidence becoming available for the first time after the confirmation hearing

[...]".,t With regard to tfus case I note that there is, according to the information

available, currently no ongoing conflict in the Republic of Kenya.

51. While I have nothing to say with regard to the above reasoning of the

Appeals Chamber, I see the possibility, if not the risk, that this limited

permission of post-confirmation investigations in practice might be too broadly

interpreted by the Prosecutor, possibly as some kind of license to investigate

whenever, even after confirmation, thus enabling the Prosecutor also to follow a

phased approach for the gathering of evidence as exemplified above. This would

in my view amount to a serious misinterpretation of the Appeals Chamber

judgment of 13 October 2006.

52. Given this sihration, I underline once again the absolute necessity for the

Prosecutor to exhaust all ways and means to make the investigation ab initio as

comprehensive, expeditious and thus as effective as possible, as required by

article 54(1) of the Statute. I hold that it is not only desirable, but necessary that

the investigation is complete, if at all possible, at the time of the Hearirg unless

the Prosecutor justifies further investigations after confirmation with compellirg

reasons, such as those mentioned above in paragraph 50. In case a Pre-Trial

Chamber is not convinced that the investigation is complete, it may use its

powers under articles 61(7)(c) and 69(3) of the Statute in order to compel the

- Ibid. , para. 54
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Prosecutor to complete his investigation before considering committing any

suspect to trial. I consider this issue to be of utmost importance for the success of

this Court.

2. Rights of the Defence

53. I will, at first, deal with the Prosecutols persistent demand that the Pre-Trial

Chamber should not embark on an in-depth examination of the evidence, in

particular the reliability and credibility of the Prosecutor's evidence. Rather. the

Chamber "should accept as disposifive the [Prosecutor's] evidence, so long as it

is relevant", leaving any analysis of the evidence to the Trial Chamber.T6

54. While I concur with the Majority's view that this argument is not acceptable

in light of the fundamental authority of the Chamber to freely assess all evidence

available,z I find it necessary to provide some clarifying observafions on the

rights of the Defence with respect to the confirmation of charges procedure. I am

firmly convinced that a proper understanding of these rights, especially in light

of the purpose of pre-trial proceedings, is of fundamental importance not only in

the present case but also in future pre-trial proceedings. Such a proper

understanding is, in my view, indispensable for sound and fair decisions on the

confirmation of charges pursuant to artide 61 of the Statute.

55. I hold that article 61(5) of the Statute is the decisive provision to delineate the

rights of the Defence at the confirmation of charges stage. I note in particular the

quite clear wording of artide 61(6)(b) and (c), namely that the person may "(b)

'|6 lCC41 109-07171 -U5, para. 5; ICC41/09-021 11-361, para. 5
z See para. 60 of the Majority decision.



55. I submit further that these rights of the Defence and the related necessity of a

proper assessment of all evidence presented are in full conformity with the

purpose of the confirmation proceedings. It is undisputed that one of the main

purpos€s of the confirmation phase is to filter the cases that should go to trial

from those which should not. Bearing in mind the enormous consequences of a

trial for the person charged, this filtering function not only ensures faimess but

also avoidt when the "sufficiency standard" cannot be met, unnecessary public

stigmatisation and other negative consequences for the person over the

foreseeable long time span of a trial. In such a case, unwarranted lengthy

proceedings would also lead to huge expenses and amount to a violation of the

necessity to ensure, as much as possible, judicial economy in the interest of

justice. Needless to sayi it remains the responsibility of the Chamber to ensure

that the nature arld purpose of the confirmation are not overstretched or

distorted in particular through possible Defence attemPts to tum the

confirmation in a "trial before the trial".

?s This thought was also expressed by Judge Georghios M. Pikis in his Separate Opinion, Appeals

Chamber, Judgmenl on the appeal of [he Prosecutor a8ainst the decision of Trial Chamber I

entitled 'Decision on the consequences of non-disclosure of exculpatory materials covered by

Article 54(3Xe) agreements and the aPPlication to stay the Prosecution of the accused, together

with certain other issues raised at the Status Conference on 10 June 2008', tCC41/0441/06-1486,

pp. 56-57 at para. 43.
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Challenge the anitletce presenled by the Prosecutor; antl G) Prae euidence." Consequently,

I have no doubt that according to this provision, the Defence may not only

provide rebuttal evidence but may a.lso challenge and contest the relevance,

reliability and credibility of all evidence presented by the Prosecutor.u

Otherwisg the rights as set out in article 61(6) of the Statute would be deprived

of any real meaning,
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57. In sum, the Chamber cannot satisfy itself solely with the evidence, which the

Prosecutor claims to be relevant and reliable, in order to effectively and

genuinely exercise its filtering function. Such a general approach would have, in

my view, the untenable consequence that Prosecution evidence would be

considered as credible almost by default through the formal act of its
presentation. Likewise, it would have the equally untenable consequence that the

role and rights of the Defence would be dramatically and unfairly curtailed.
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IV. Concluding Remarks

58. My dissent to the Maiority's decision must not be misconstrued as any

determination on my part as to the commission of crimes in the Republic of

Kenya during the 200712008 post-election violence or the individual criminal

responsibilify of Mr Ruto and Mr Sang. In fact, the Defence arguments and

evidence as presented during the Hearing have not uPset my views previously

made in the 15 March 2011 Dissenting Opinion. To all Kenyan citizens who have

been following those proce.edings to the present day, I wish to emphasise anew

t}rat:

[tlhere arc, in law and in the existing systems of criminal justice in this world,
essentially two diflerent categories of crimes which are cmcial h the present

case. There are, on the one side, intemational crimes of concem to the

intemational community as a whole, in particular tenocide, crimcs against

humanity, and war crimes pursuant to articles 6 7 and 8 of the Statute. There are,

on the other side, common crim€t albeit of a serious natule, Prosecuted by
national criminal justice systemt such as that of the Republic of Kenya.

(...)

[Aj demarcation line must be drawn between intemational crimes and human
rights infractionsi between intemational crimes and ordinary crimesi between

those crimes subiect to intemational jurisdiction and those punishable under
domestic penal le6slation.u

59. That said, and while I do not question that abhorrent crimes, as described in

the amended document containing the charges, havc been committed, my doubts

pertain to their correct qualification. Consequently, my principled disagreement

with the Majority centres on the question of whether the ICC is lhe ight forum

before which to investigate and prosecute those crimes.

/8 Pre-Trial Chamber lL "Decision Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute on the

Authorization of an Investitation into the Situalion in the Republic of Kenya", tCC-01/09-19-Corr,

pp. 87, paras. 8 and 65.
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60. I remain conwinced and reiterate that the crimes and atrocities described by

the Prosecutor in the amended document containing the charges conceming Mr

Ruto and Mr Sang fall within t}re competence of the Kenyan criminal justice

authorities as a matter to be investigated and prosecuted under Kenyan criminal

law forthwith. I join the victims participating in this case in their desire to see

justice delivered.n

Done in both English and French, the English version being authoritative.

Judge Hans-Peter Kaul

Dated this Mond ay,23 lantary 2O12

The Hague, the Netherlands

" ICC{1/09-01/ll-T-tsENG ET, p. 79, Iines 17-19.


